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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

   
June 30,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 5,772   $ 5,080  
Receivables from clients, net    86,066    107,820  
Unbilled services, net    48,568    49,056  
Income tax receivable    7,419    19,501  
Deferred income taxes, net    10,697    12,531  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    15,610    14,191  
Current assets of discontinued operations    435    3,345  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    174,567    211,524  
Property and equipment, net    33,545    31,176  
Other non-current assets    13,191    14,892  
Intangible assets, net    14,173    16,867  
Goodwill    512,830    512,185  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $748,306   $ 786,644  
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 11,591   $ 8,084  
Accrued expenses    17,065    22,505  
Accrued payroll and related benefits    37,837    66,464  
Accrued consideration for business acquisitions, current portion    3,500    35,062  
Income tax payable    186    101  
Deferred revenues    25,213    36,721  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    103    765  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    95,495    169,702  
Non-current liabilities:    

Deferred compensation and other liabilities    7,732    7,856  
Bank borrowings    213,500    193,500  
Deferred lease incentives    6,905    6,670  
Deferred income taxes    14,179    12,078  
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations    —      49  

    
 

   
 

Total non-current liabilities    242,316    220,153  

Commitments and Contingencies    

Stockholders’ equity    
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 24,738,777 and 24,208,549 shares issued at June 30, 2012 and

December 31, 2011, respectively    237    234  
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,788,117 and 1,642,018 shares at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively    (80,820)   (75,735) 
Additional paid-in capital    412,352    400,597  
Retained earnings    80,265    72,902  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (1,539)   (1,209) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    410,495    396,789  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $748,306   $ 786,644  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended 

June 30,   
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Revenues and reimbursable expenses:      
Revenues   $144,671   $153,070   $283,308   $289,691  
Reimbursable expenses    14,554    13,216    28,350    25,140  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues and reimbursable expenses    159,225    166,286    311,658    314,831  
Direct costs and reimbursable expenses (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown in

operating expenses):      
Direct costs    91,878    91,132    188,659    179,207  
Intangible assets amortization    1,142    1,369    2,284    2,802  
Reimbursable expenses    14,585    13,326    28,403    25,381  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total direct costs and reimbursable expenses    107,605    105,827    219,346    207,390  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:      
Selling, general and administrative    31,275    31,070    61,342    60,639  
Restructuring charges    229    461    1,059    985  
Restatement related expenses    212    1,785    1,717    3,025  
Litigation settlements, net    1,150    508    1,150    1,096  
Depreciation and amortization    4,053    4,336    8,706    8,582  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    36,919    38,160    73,974    74,327  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income    14,701    22,299    18,338    33,114  
Other income (expense):      
Interest (expense), net of interest income    (2,015)   (3,535)   (3,881)   (7,107) 
Other (expense) income    (163)   (65)   170    39  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total other expense    (2,178)   (3,600)   (3,711)   (7,068) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income from continuing operations before income tax expense    12,523    18,699    14,627    26,046  
Income tax expense    6,218    9,535    7,735    13,408  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income from continuing operations    6,305    9,164    6,892    12,638  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    202    305    471    887  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 6,507   $ 9,469   $ 7,363   $ 13,525  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net earnings per basic share:      
Net income from continuing operations   $ 0.29   $ 0.43   $ 0.32   $ 0.60  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   $ 0.01   $ 0.02   $ 0.02   $ 0.04  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 0.30   $ 0.45   $ 0.34   $ 0.64  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net earnings per diluted share:      
Net income from continuing operations   $ 0.28   $ 0.43   $ 0.31   $ 0.59  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   $ 0.01   $ 0.01   $ 0.02   $ 0.04  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 0.29   $ 0.44   $ 0.33   $ 0.63  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Weighted average shares used in calculating earnings per share:      
Basic    21,918    21,190    21,847    21,058  
Diluted    22,248    21,476    22,206    21,316  

Comprehensive Income:      
Net income   $ 6,507   $ 9,469   $ 7,363   $ 13,525  
Foreign currency translation (loss) gain, net of tax    (377)   291    (138)   603  
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedging instruments, net of tax    (241)   175    (192)   307  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Other comprehensive (loss) income    (618)   466    (330)   910  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive income   $ 5,889   $ 9,935   $ 7,033   $ 14,435  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
   Common Stock    Treasury Stock                

   Shares    Amount   Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital    

Retained
Earnings    

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Loss   
Stockholders’

Equity  
Balance at December 31, 2011    23,362,828    $ 234     (1,679,033)  $(75,735)  $400,597    $72,902    $ (1,209)  $ 396,789  
Comprehensive income    —       —       —      —      —       7,363     (330)   7,033  
Issuance of common stock in connection

with:              
Restricted stock awards, net of

cancellations    334,808     3     (14,142)   (1,260)   1,257     —       —      —    
Exercise of stock options    18,805     —       —      —      29     —       —      29  

Share-based compensation    —       —       —      —      9,754     —       —      9,754  
Shares withheld for employee tax

withholdings    —       —       (100,313)   (3,825)   —       —       —      (3,825) 
Income tax benefit on share-based

compensation    —       —       —      —      715     —       —      715  
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Balance at June 30, 2012    23,716,441    $ 237     (1,793,488)  $(80,820)  $412,352    $80,265    $ (1,539)  $ 410,495  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
 

3



HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
   2012   2011  
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income   $ 7,363   $ 13,525  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    
Depreciation and amortization    12,644    11,501  
Share-based compensation    8,591    9,694  
Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services    (2,488)   1,685  
Deferred income taxes    3,184    13,023  
Gain on disposal of property and equipment    —      (46) 
Non-cash portion of litigation settlement    —      1,096  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired:    

Decrease in receivables from clients    27,881    7,941  
Decrease (increase) in unbilled services    226    (18,933) 
Decrease (increase) in current income tax receivable, net    12,167    (4,247) 
Decrease in other assets    921    717  
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities    (2,638)   516  
Decrease in accrued payroll and related benefits    (28,058)   (9,122) 
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues    (11,271)   4,700  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    28,522    32,050  
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Purchases of property and equipment, net    (11,760)   (6,193) 
Net investment in life insurance policies    (264)   (618) 
Purchases of businesses    (33,136)   (23,881) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (45,160)   (30,692) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    29    219  
Shares redeemed for employee tax withholdings    (3,825)   (2,531) 
Tax benefit from share-based compensation    1,253    200  
Proceeds from borrowings under credit facility    138,500    168,500  
Repayments on credit facility    (118,500)   (171,500) 
Payments of capital lease obligations    (6)   (45) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    17,451    (5,157) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (121)   710  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    692    (3,089) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period    5,080    6,347  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period   $ 5,772   $ 3,258  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:    
Non-cash financing activities:    

Issuance of common stock in connection with settlement of class action lawsuit   $ —     $ 13,648  
 
(1) Cash and cash equivalents presented herein includes $0.1 million of cash and cash equivalents classified as discontinued operations as of December 31,

2010.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
1. Description of Business

We are a leading provider of operational and financial consulting services. We help clients in diverse industries improve performance, comply with complex
regulations, reduce costs, recover from distress, leverage technology, process and review large amounts of complex data, and stimulate growth. We team with our
clients to deliver sustainable and measurable results. Our professionals employ their expertise in healthcare administration, finance and operations to provide our
clients with specialized analyses and customized advice and solutions that are tailored to address each client’s particular challenges and opportunities. We provide
consulting services to a wide variety of both financially sound and distressed organizations, including healthcare organizations, leading academic institutions,
governmental entities, Fortune 500 companies, medium-sized businesses, and the law firms that represent these various organizations.
 
2. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Accordingly, these financial statements do not include all of the information and note
disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for annual financial statements. In the opinion of
management, these financial statements reflect all adjustments of a normal, recurring nature necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented in conformity with GAAP. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2011 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2012.

Certain amounts reported in the previous year have been reclassified to conform to the 2012 presentation. Our results for any interim period are not necessarily
indicative of results for a full year or any other interim period.
 
3. New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” which amends current
comprehensive income guidance. This accounting update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement
of shareholders’ equity. Instead, the Company must report comprehensive income in either a single continuous statement of comprehensive income which
contains two sections, net income and other comprehensive income, or in two separate but consecutive statements. The Company adopted this pronouncement in
the first quarter of 2012. However, ASU 2011-12, “Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05,” has deferred the specific requirement within ASU 2011-05 to present
on the face of the financial statements items that are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income separately with their respective
components of net income and other comprehensive income. ASU 2011-12 would still require companies to report reclassifications out of accumulated other
comprehensive income consistent with the presentation requirements in effect before ASU 2011-05. The Company does not expect the guidance in ASU 2011-12
to impact its Consolidated Financial Statements, as it only requires a change in the format of presentation.
 
4. Discontinued Operations

In recent years, we have undertaken several separate initiatives to divest certain practices within the Financial Consulting segment in order to enable us to devote
more of our energy and financial resources to the remaining businesses of the Company where we have a more substantial market presence. On December 30,
2011, we sold the Accounting Advisory (“AA”) practice to a group of investors including the managing director of the practice at the time. On September 30,
2010, we completed a sale of a portion of the Disputes and Investigations (“D&I”) practice and wound down the remaining practice operations as of that same
date. Additionally, during the third quarter of 2010 we exited the Utilities Consulting (“Utilities”) practice. In December 2009, our Board of Directors approved a
plan to divest the businesses that included the international operations of our Japan office (“Japan”). On June 30, 2010, we exited Japan via a wind down of the
business. The Company recognized a loss of $1.9 million in connection with the sale of AA and a gain of $1.2 million in connection with the sale of D&I.
 

5



HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
As a result of these actions, the operating results of AA, D&I, Utilities and Japan are reported as “discontinued operations.” All other operations of the business
are considered “continuing operations.” Amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to this presentation in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
205, “Presentation of Financial Statements,” to allow for meaningful comparison of continuing operations. The Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011 aggregate amounts associated with the discontinued operations as described above. Summarized operating results of discontinued
operations are presented in the following table (amounts in thousands):
 

   
Three months ended

June 30,    
Six months ended

June 30,  
   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Revenues   $ 293    $ 6,307    $683    $12,716  

Income from discontinued operations before income tax expense   $ 334    $ 532    $758    $ 1,413  

Net income from discontinued operations   $ 202    $ 305    $471    $ 887  

The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities aggregated in discontinued operations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2012
and December 31, 2011 are presented in the following table.
 

   
June 30,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Assets     
Receivables from clients, net   $ 435    $ 3,301  
Other current assets    —       44  

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    435     3,345  
    

 
    

 

Total assets   $ 435    $ 3,345  
    

 

    

 

Liabilities     
Accrued payroll and related benefits   $ —      $ 585  
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities    103     180  

    
 

    
 

Total current liabilities    103     765  
Other non-current liabilities    —       49  

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities   $ 103    $ 814  
    

 

    

 

 
5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The table below sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the six months ended June 30, 2012.
 

   

Health and
Education
Consulting    

Legal
Consulting   

Financial
Consulting   Total  

Balance as of December 31, 2011:        
Goodwill   $450,828    $ 33,180    $ 158,077   $ 642,085  
Accumulated impairment    —       —       (129,900)   (129,900) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Goodwill, net as of December 31, 2011    450,828     33,180     28,177    512,185  
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

   

Health and
Education
Consulting   

Legal
Consulting   

Financial
Consulting   Total  

Goodwill recorded in connection with business combinations    (364)   903     —       539  
Foreign currency translation    —      106     —       106  
Goodwill reallocation    (1,000)   —       1,000     —    

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

Goodwill, net as of June 30, 2012   $449,464   $ 34,189    $ 29,177    $512,830  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

From time to time, we reorganize our internal organizational structure to better align our service offerings. During the first quarter of 2012, we moved our
healthcare valuation consulting practice from our Health and Education Consulting segment to our Financial Consulting segment. As a result, $1.0 million of
related goodwill was also reallocated between these segments using a relative fair value approach.

Intangible assets as of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011 consisted of the following:
 

   June 30, 2012    December 31, 2011  

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization 

Customer relationships   $17,818    $ 8,089    $17,367    $ 6,950  
Non-competition agreements    6,766     5,069     6,693     4,442  
Trade names    —       —       247     192  
Technology and software    11,949     9,202     11,949     7,805  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $36,533    $ 22,360    $36,256    $ 19,389  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Customer contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis over
relatively short lives due to the short-term nature of the services provided under these contracts. The majority of customer relationships are amortized on an
accelerated basis to correspond to the cash flows expected to be derived from the relationships. All other customer relationships, non-competition agreements,
trade names, and technology and software are amortized on a straight-line basis.

Intangible assets amortization expense was $1.6 million and $3.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively. Intangible assets
amortization expense was $2.1 million and $4.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, respectively. Estimated annual intangible assets
amortization expense is $5.5 million for 2012, $3.4 million for 2013, $2.7 million for 2014, $1.8 million for 2015, $0.9 million for 2016 and $0.8 million for
2017. Actual future amortization expense could differ from these estimated amounts as a result of future acquisitions and other factors.
 
6. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period,
excluding unvested restricted common stock. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential reduction in earnings per share that could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock under the treasury stock method. Earnings per share under the basic and diluted
computations are as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Net income from continuing operations   $ 6,305    $ 9,164    $6,892    $12,638  
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax    202     305     471     887  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income   $ 6,507    $ 9,469    $7,363    $13,525  
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic    21,918     21,190     21,847     21,058  
Weighted average common stock equivalents    330     286     359     258  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted    22,248     21,476     22,206     21,316  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net earnings per basic share:         
Income from continuing operations   $ 0.29    $ 0.43    $ 0.32    $ 0.60  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    0.01     0.02     0.02     0.04  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income   $ 0.30    $ 0.45    $ 0.34    $ 0.64  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net earnings per diluted share:         
Income from continuing operations   $ 0.28    $ 0.43    $ 0.31    $ 0.59  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax    0.01     0.01     0.02     0.04  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income   $ 0.29    $ 0.44    $ 0.33    $ 0.63  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes outstanding options and other common stock equivalents in periods where inclusion of such potential
common stock instruments would be anti-dilutive. The weighted average common stock equivalents presented above do not include the effect of approximately
85,300 and 298,500 common stock equivalents for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and approximately 85,300 and 322,900 common
stock equivalents for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
 
7. Borrowings

During 2011, the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as guarantors entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “2011 Credit
Agreement”) with various financial institutions including Bank of America, N.A., as lender, administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders; JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as lender and syndication agent; PNC Bank, National Association; Harris N.A. and KeyBank National Association as lenders and Co-
Documentation Agents; Fifth Third Bank, The Northern Trust Company, RBS Citizens, N.A., The PrivateBank and Trust Company, FirstMerit Bank, N.A., and
Northbrook Bank & Trust Company as lenders (collectively the “Lenders”); and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities
LLC, as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers. The 2011 Credit Agreement replaces the previous Credit Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2006, and all
subsequent amendments thereto, by and among the Company and the lenders therein.

The 2011 Credit Agreement consists of a senior secured credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million comprised of a five-year revolving
credit facility (“Revolver”) under which the Company may borrow from time to time up to $150.0 million and a $200.0 million five-year term loan facility
(“Term Loan”) that was funded in a single advance on the closing date. The 2011 Credit Agreement provides for the option to increase the revolving credit
facility in an aggregate amount of up to $50 million subject to certain requirements as defined in the 2011 Credit Agreement. The proceeds of the senior secured
credit facility were used to refinance existing indebtedness and will continue to be used for working capital, capital expenditures, and other corporate purposes.

The obligations under the 2011 Credit Agreement are secured pursuant to a Security Agreement with Bank of America as Administrative Agent. The Security
Agreement grants Bank of America, N.A. for the ratable benefit of the lenders under the 2011 Credit Agreement, a first-priority lien, subject to permitted liens, on
substantially all of the personal property assets of the Company and the subsidiary grantors. The Revolver and Term Loan are also secured by a pledge of 100%
of the voting stock or other equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the voting stock or other equity interests in our foreign subsidiaries.

Fees and interest on borrowings vary based on our total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio as set forth in the
2011 Credit Agreement. Interest is based on a spread over the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or a spread over the base rate, as selected by the
Company. The base rate is the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, (b) the Prime Rate and (c) except during a Eurodollar Unavailability Period, the
Eurodollar Rate plus 1.0%.
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The Term Loan is subject to scheduled quarterly amortization payments equal to 7.5% of the original principal balance in year one, 10.0% in year two, 12.5% in
years three and four, and 57.5% in year five, as set forth in the 2011 Credit Agreement. The maturity date for the Term Loan is April 14, 2016, at which time the
outstanding principal balance and all accrued interest will be due and payable in full. All outstanding borrowings under the Revolver will be due upon expiration
of the 2011 Credit Agreement on April 14, 2016.

Under the 2011 Credit Agreement, dividends are restricted to an amount up to $10 million plus 50% of cumulative consolidated net income from the closing date
of the 2011 Credit Agreement plus 50% of the net cash proceeds from equity issuances. In addition, certain acquisitions and similar transactions need to be
approved by the lenders.

The 2011 Credit Agreement contains quarterly financial covenants that require us to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.00 and a
maximum leverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 with step-downs in subsequent periods, as those ratios are defined therein, as well as a minimum net worth greater than
$150 million. At June 30, 2012, we were in compliance with these financial covenants with a fixed charge coverage ratio of 3.27 to 1.00, a leverage ratio of 2.32
to 1.00, and net worth greater than $150 million. Furthermore, based upon projected operating results, management believes it is probable that we will meet the
financial debt covenants at future covenant measurement dates. At December 31, 2011, we were also in compliance with our financial debt covenants.

The borrowing capacity under the 2011 Credit Agreement is reduced by any outstanding letters of credit and payments under the Term Loan. At June 30, 2012,
outstanding letters of credit totaled $3.9 million and are primarily used as security deposits for our office facilities. As of June 30, 2012, the borrowing capacity
under the 2011 Credit Agreement was $112.6 million. Borrowings outstanding under this credit facility at June 30, 2012 totaled $213.5 million. These borrowings
carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.3%, including the effect of the interest rate swaps described below in Note 9 “Derivative Instrument and Hedging
Activity.” All of the borrowings outstanding under the 2011 Credit Agreement are classified as long-term on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as the principal
under the Revolver is not due until 2016 and we intend to fund scheduled quarterly payments under the Term Loan with availability under the Revolver.
Borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2011 were $193.5 million and carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.3%.
 
8. Restructuring Charges

During the second quarter of 2012, we incurred a $0.2 million pre-tax restructuring charge primarily consisting of accelerated depreciation on leasehold
improvements at our New York office location, which we plan to relocate during the fourth quarter of 2012, partially offset by the net favorable impact of updated
assumptions for lease accruals related to previously vacated office spaces. During the first quarter of 2012, we incurred an $0.8 million pre-tax restructuring
charge primarily related to the accelerated depreciation on leasehold improvements at our New York office. We expect the remaining accelerated depreciation
charge in 2012 related to our New York office to be $0.8 million. We also expect to incur additional charges in 2012 upon exiting our New York office space, for
which we have a lease agreement that expires in 2016, and upon Consolidating office space in Washington, D.C. related to our acquisition of AdamsGrayson. We
estimate the expense associated with these offices to be approximately $3 million in 2012; however, the actual expense could vary significantly depending on
factors such as the office rental markets in New York City and Washington, D.C. at the time we exit.

During the second quarter of 2011, we incurred a $0.5 million pre-tax restructuring charge, primarily consisting of severance expense, as the result of actions
taken to better align our resources with market demand.

During the first quarter of 2011, we incurred a $0.5 million pre-tax restructuring charge related to the consolidation of office space within our Chicago office. The
$0.5 million charge was primarily comprised of the discounted future cash flows of rent expenses we are obligated to pay under the lease agreement, partially
offset by future sublease income which we calculated based on certain sublease assumptions.

As of June 30, 2012, our restructuring charge liability is $1.3 million, and primarily consists of the present value of remaining lease payments, net of estimated
sublease income, for our vacated office space in San Francisco, Boston and Chicago. The restructuring charge liability is included as a component of Accrued
expenses and Deferred compensation and other liabilities.
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9. Derivative Instrument and Hedging Activity

On March 20, 2009, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $100.0 million effective on March 31, 2009 and ending on
February 23, 2012. We entered into this derivative instrument to hedge against the risk of changes in future cash flows related to changes in interest rates on
$100.0 million of the total variable-rate borrowings outstanding described above in Note 7 “Borrowings.” Under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we
received from the counterparty interest on the $100.0 million notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we paid to the counterparty a fixed rate of
1.715%. This swap effectively converted $100.0 million of our variable-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings beginning on March 31, 2009 and through
February 23, 2012.

On December 8, 2011, we entered into a forward amortizing interest rate swap agreement effective on February 29, 2012 and ending on April 14, 2016. We
entered into this derivative instrument to continue hedging against the interest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings described above. The swap had an initial
notional amount of $56.6 million and amortizes throughout the term, which effectively fixes the interest rate on 30% of our Term Loan. Under the terms of the
interest rate swap agreement, we receive from the counterparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the counterparty a
fixed rate of 0.9875%.

On May 30, 2012, we entered into an additional forward amortizing interest rate swap agreement effective on May 31, 2012 and ending on April 14, 2016. We
entered into this derivative instrument to further hedge against the interest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings described above. The swap has an initial
notional amount of $37.0 million and amortizes throughout the term, which effectively fixes the interest rate on an incremental 20% of our Term Loan. Under the
terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we receive from the counterparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the
counterparty a fixed rate of 0.70%.

FASB ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging,” requires companies to recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value on the
balance sheet. In accordance with ASC Topic 815, we have designated these derivative instruments as cash flow hedges. As such, changes in the fair value of the
derivative instruments are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) to the extent of effectiveness and reclassified into interest expense
upon settlement. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative instruments is recognized in interest expense. As of June 30, 2012, it was
anticipated that all $0.5 million of the net losses, net of tax, currently recorded in OCI will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. Our interest
rate swap agreements were effective during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012.

The tables below set forth additional information relating to these interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedging instruments as of June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011.
 

   
Fair Value (Derivative

Liability)  

Balance Sheet Location   
June 30,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
Accrued expenses   $ 467    $ 216  
Deferred compensation and other liabilities   $ 318    $ 250  

 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges, net of tax, beginning of period   $ (226)  $ (740)  $ (275)  $ (872) 
Change in fair value, net of tax   $ (360)  $ (204)  $ (565)  $ (436) 
Reclassification adjustments into earnings, net of tax   $ 119   $ 379   $ 373   $ 743  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges, net of tax, end of period   $ (467)  $ (565)  $ (467)  $ (565) 
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We do not use derivative instruments for trading or other speculative purposes, and we did not have any other derivative instruments or hedging activities as of
June 30, 2012.
 
10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Certain of our assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. FASB ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures,” defines fair value as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or the price that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. ASC Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value and requires companies to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy consists of three levels based on the objectivity of the inputs as follows:
 
Level 1 Inputs   Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs

  

Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are
not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; or inputs that are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inputs   Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, and include situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability.

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value. The carrying values for receivables from clients, unbilled services, accounts
payable, deferred revenues and other accrued liabilities reasonably approximate fair market value due to the nature of the financial instrument and the short-term
maturity of these items. The carrying values of our bank borrowings reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate fair value, using level 2 inputs,
since they bear interest at variable rates based on market rates as set forth in the 2011 Credit Agreement. Refer to Note 7 “Borrowings.”
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The table below sets forth our fair value hierarchy for our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2012 and
December 31, 2011.
 

   

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)    

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)    Total  

June 30, 2012         
Asset:         
Promissory note   $ —      $ —      $ 2,774    $2,774  

Liability:         
Interest rate swaps   $ —      $ 785    $ —      $ 785  

December 31, 2011         
Asset:         
Promissory note   $ —      $ —      $ 2,680    $2,680  

Liability:         
Interest rate swaps   $ —      $ 466    $ —      $ 466  

As part of the consideration received for the sale of our AA practice on December 30, 2011, the Company received a $3.5 million promissory note payable over
four years. The note will be paid to the Company in quarterly installments of approximately $0.2 million beginning in April 2013 with a final payment of
approximately $1.1 million on the maturity date in December 2015. The fair value of the note was derived by multiplying the projected cash flows by a discount
rate of 14%, which accounts for the risks associated with the note.

The fair value of the interest rate swaps were derived using estimates to settle the interest rate swap agreements, which are based on the net present value of
expected future cash flows on each leg of the swaps utilizing market-based inputs and discount rates reflecting the risks involved.
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11. Comprehensive Income

The table below sets forth the components of comprehensive income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011.
 

   
Three Months Ended

June  30, 2012   
Three Months Ended

June  30, 2011  

   
Before
Taxes   

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit    
Net of
Taxes   

Before
Taxes    

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit   
Net of
Taxes  

Net income      $6,507      $ 9,469  
Other comprehensive (loss) income:          

Foreign currency translation adjustment   $(446)  $ 69     (377)  $   289    $ 2    291  
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedging instrument    (401)   160     (241)   292     (117)   175  

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Other comprehensive (loss) income   $(847)  $ 229     (618)  $ 581    $ (115)   466  
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive income      $5,889      $  9,935  
       

 

      

 

 

   
Six Months Ended

June  30, 2012   
Six Months Ended

June  30, 2011  

   
Before
Taxes   

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit   
Net of
Taxes   

Before
Taxes    

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit   
Net of
Taxes  

Net income     $7,363      $13,525  
Other comprehensive (loss) income:         

Foreign currency translation adjustment   $ (93)  $ (45)   (138)  $ 660    $ (57)   603  
Unrealized (loss) gain on cash flow hedging instrument    (320)   128    (192)   511     (204)   307  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Other comprehensive (loss) income   $(413)  $ 83    (330)  $1,171    $ (261)   910  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive income     $7,033      $14,435  
      

 

      

 

 
12. Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rates for the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 were 49.7% and 51.0%, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rates for
the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 were 52.9% and 51.5%, respectively. The effective rates for both periods in 2012 and 2011 were higher than the
statutory rate, inclusive of state income taxes, due primarily to the impact of foreign losses with no tax benefit and certain non-deductible expenses.
 

13



HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
13. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

Litigation

Restatement Matters

As previously disclosed, on August 17, 2009, we restated our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, as well as the three
months ended March 31, 2009. The restatement related to the accounting for certain acquisition-related payments received by the selling shareholders of four
acquired businesses.

A class action suit and state and federal derivative suits were filed in connection with the restatement. The class action suit has been settled. In connection with
the class action settlement, plaintiffs received total consideration of approximately $39.6 million, comprised of $27.0 million in cash which was funded in its
entirety by our insurers and the issuance by the Company of 474,547 shares of our common stock with a fair value of $13.7 million on June 6, 2011, the date of
issuance. The total amount of insurance coverage under the related policy was $35.0 million and the insurers had previously paid out approximately $8.0 million
in claims prior to the final $27.0 million cash payment. The settlement contained no admission of wrongdoing. All the derivative suits have now been dismissed
with prejudice, and the plaintiffs’ times to appeal have expired.

On July 19, 2012, the Company announced that it had reached a final settlement with the SEC (the “Company SEC Settlement”) resolving the previously
disclosed investigation by the SEC of matters related to the restatement. In an administrative proceeding, the SEC found that the Company had violated the
reporting, books and records, and internal controls provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, during the restatement period and ordered the
Company to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any future violations of such SEC rules. The Company agreed to the settlement
without admitting or denying any of the SEC’s factual findings. The SEC also imposed a monetary penalty of $1 million on the Company. In the fourth quarter of
2011, we had established a reserve in that amount with respect to this matter.

In connection with the Company SEC Settlement, the SEC considered remedial acts promptly undertaken by the Company and the Company’s cooperation with
the SEC staff during the course of the investigation. Among other things, the Company self-investigated and self-reported the accounting errors, selected new
management, and implemented various additional controls designed to prevent similar errors going forward.

As previously disclosed, certain of our former employees received “Wells notices” from the SEC staff in connection with the matters underlying the restatement.
Wells notices typically indicate that the staff is considering recommending that the SEC bring a civil enforcement action. We are obligated to indemnify these
former employees for their defense costs in connection with responding to the Wells notices, any settlement discussions and the defense of civil enforcement
actions, if any, brought by the SEC against them, subject to certain limitations. In the same administrative proceeding as the Company SEC Settlement, the SEC
also reached settlements with two of these former employees. While the Company is obligated to indemnify these employees for their defense costs, the Company
is not obligated to reimburse them for the monetary penalties imposed on them by the SEC in connection with the settlements. Following the settlements reached
with these two employees, we do not expect to incur additional material indemnity costs for former employees. As previously disclosed, shortly after the filing of
our restated financial statements in 2009 the United States Attorney’s office (“USAO”) contacted our counsel and made a telephonic request for copies of certain
documents that we previously had provided to the SEC, which we then voluntarily provided to the USAO. We have received no further communications from the
USAO since then.

As a result of the final payment by the insurance carriers in connection with the class action settlement, we will not receive any further contributions from our
insurance carriers for the reimbursement of any amounts with respect to the Company SEC Settlement (including legal fees or monetary penalties) or the
Company’s indemnification obligations to its former employees. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, expenses incurred in connection with the
restatement totaled $0.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, expenses incurred in connection with the
restatement totaled $1.8 million and $3.0 million, respectively. In both the 2012 and 2011 periods, restatement related expenses were primarily comprised of legal
fees and indemnification obligations for legal fees. All legal fees are expensed as incurred.
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Qui Tam Action

On December 9, 2009, plaintiff, Associates Against Outlier Fraud, filed a first amended qui tam complaint against Huron Consulting Group Inc., and others under
the federal and New York state False Claims Act (“FCA”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The federal and state FCA
authorize private individuals (known as “relators”) to sue on behalf of the government (known as “qui tam” actions) alleging that false or fraudulent claims were
knowingly submitted to the government. Once a qui tam action is filed, the government may elect to intervene in the action. If the government declines to
intervene, the relator may proceed with the action. Under the federal and state FCA, the government may recover treble damages and civil penalties (civil
penalties of up to $11,000 per violation under the federal FCA and $12,000 per violation under the state FCA). On January 6, 2010, the United States declined to
intervene in the lawsuit. After the Court granted Huron’s motion to dismiss without prejudice, on September 29, 2010, relator filed a second amended complaint
alleging that Huron and others caused St. Vincent Catholic Medical Center to receive more than $30 million in inflated outlier payments under the Medicare and
Medicaid programs in violation of the federal and state FCA and is also seeking to recover an unspecified amount of civil penalties. On June 18, 2012, Huron
filed a Summary Judgment motion for dismissal of the action in its entirety which is currently pending. We have conducted preliminary settlement discussions
with the relator, and as a result we recorded a charge of $1.2 million in the second quarter of 2012, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450 “Contingencies.” No
trial date has been set. We believe that the claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this matter.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, we are not a party to or threatened with any other litigation or legal proceeding that, in the current opinion of management, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results of operations. However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could differ from
current expected results.

Guarantees

Guarantees in the form of letters of credit totaling $3.9 million and $4.0 million were outstanding at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively, to
support certain office lease obligations as well as Middle East performance and bid bonds.

In connection with certain business acquisitions, we were required to pay additional purchase consideration to the sellers if specific performance targets and
conditions were met over a number of years as specified in the related purchase agreements. These amounts were calculated and payable at the end of each year
based on full year financial results. Additional purchase consideration earned by certain sellers totaled $32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of
June 30, 2012, we have no further obligations under these arrangements.

To the extent permitted by law, our bylaws and articles of incorporation require that we indemnify our officers and directors against judgments, fines and amounts
paid in settlement, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with civil or criminal action or proceedings, as it relates to their services to us if such person
acted in good faith. Although there is no limit on the amount of indemnification, we may have recourse against our insurance carrier for certain payments made.
However, we will not receive any further contributions from our insurance carriers with respect to the remaining restatement matters.
 
14. Segment Information

Segments are defined by FASB ASC Topic 280, “Segment Reporting,” as components of a company in which separate financial information is available and is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our
chief operating decision maker manages the business under three operating segments: Health and Education Consulting, Legal Consulting, and Financial
Consulting.
 

 
•  Health and Education Consulting. Our Health and Education Consulting segment provides consulting services to hospitals, health systems, physicians,

managed care organizations, academic medical centers, colleges,
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universities, and pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers. This segment’s professionals develop and implement solutions and software to help
clients address challenges relating to financial management, strategy, operational and organizational effectiveness, research administration, and regulatory
compliance. This segment also provides consulting services related to hospital or healthcare organization performance improvement, revenue cycle
improvement, turnarounds, merger or affiliation strategies, labor productivity, non-labor cost management, information technology, patient flow
improvement, physician practice management, interim management, clinical quality and care variation, and governance and board development.

 

 

•  Legal Consulting. Our Legal Consulting segment provides advisory and business services to assist law departments of major corporations and law firms
with their strategy, organizational design and development, operational efficiency, and cost effectiveness. These results-driven services add value to
organizations by helping reduce the amounts they spend on legal services and enhance client service. Our expertise focuses on strategic and management
consulting, cost management, and technology and information management including matter management, records management, document review and
discovery services. Included in this segment’s offerings is our V3locity® solution, which delivers a streamlined e-discovery process resulting in more
affordable and predictable discovery costs.

 

 

•  Financial Consulting. Our Financial Consulting segment provides financial advisory, interim management and operational consulting services to
companies including companies in transition, creditor constituencies, and other stakeholders in connection with out-of-court restructurings and bankruptcy
proceedings. For companies in financial distress, we work with management to assess the viability of their business, to develop and implement a turnaround
plan to improve cash flow, and to implement a debt-restructuring plan to improve the balance sheet. In some instances, we serve in interim management
roles. When out-of-court solutions are not achievable, we assist clients in preparing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings and with all aspects of the bankruptcy
process by gathering, analyzing, and presenting financial and business information needed to achieve successful reorganizations. We also provide claims
management services to help companies process and analyze complex and voluminous claims filed in bankruptcies and related litigation matters. We have
an array of services that are flexible and responsive to event- and transaction-based needs across industries. Our professionals consist of certified public
accountants, certified insolvency and restructuring advisors, certified turnaround professionals, MBAs, JDs and chartered financial analysts as well as
former chief restructuring officers, chief executive officers, chief financial officers and board of directors members.

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenue and selling, general and administrative costs that are
incurred directly by the segment. Unallocated corporate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner that are
not attributable to a particular segment. These administrative function costs include costs for corporate office support, certain office facility costs, costs relating to
accounting and finance, human resources, legal, marketing, information technology and Company-wide business development functions, as well as costs related
to overall corporate management.

From time to time, we will reorganize our internal organizational structure to better align our service offerings. During the first quarter of 2012, we moved our
healthcare valuation consulting practice from our Health and Education Consulting segment to our Financial Consulting segment. Previously reported segment
information has been restated to reflect this move.

The table below sets forth information about our operating segments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, along with the items necessary
to reconcile the segment information to the totals reported in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Health and Education Consulting:      
Revenues   $94,481   $104,100   $185,886   $193,758  
Operating income   $28,515   $ 36,863   $ 50,012   $ 62,754  
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues    30.2%   35.4%   26.9%   32.4% 
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Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Legal Consulting:      
Revenues   $ 45,907   $ 39,972   $ 87,290   $ 77,289  
Operating income   $ 12,499   $ 9,629   $ 22,010   $ 19,224  
Segment operating income as a percent of segment revenues    27.2%   24.1%   25.2%   24.9% 
Financial Consulting:      
Revenues   $ 4,283   $ 8,998   $ 10,132   $ 18,644  
Operating (loss) income   $ (337)  $ 2,768   $ (104)  $ 5,738  
Segment operating (loss) income as a percent of segment revenues    (7.9%)   30.8%   (1.0%)   30.8% 
Total Company:      
Revenues   $144,671   $153,070   $283,308   $289,691  
Reimbursable expenses    14,554    13,216    28,350    25,140  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues and reimbursable expenses   $159,225   $166,286   $ 311,658   $314,831  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Statements of Earnings reconciliation:      
Segment operating income   $ 40,677   $ 49,260   $ 71,918   $ 87,716  
Charges not allocated at the segment level:      

Other selling, general and administrative expenses    21,923    22,625    44,874    46,020  
Depreciation and amortization expense    4,053    4,336    8,706    8,582  
Other expense, net    2,178    3,600    3,711    7,068  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income from continuing operations before income tax expense   $ 12,523   $ 18,699   $ 14,627   $ 26,046  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) Financial Consulting segment revenues above include amounts related to our healthcare valuation consulting practice of $0.6 million and $1.8 million for

the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and $1.9 million and $3.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Financial Consulting segment leadership is currently executing several initiatives to improve the segment’s financial performance and broaden the segment’s
service offerings. We believe that the services provided by the Financial Consulting segment remain relevant in the marketplace and expect performance to
improve significantly during the second half of 2012 and into 2013. In the event that the segment’s performance does not improve in line with our expectations
during this timeframe, we may be required to perform an interim impairment analysis with respect to the carrying value of goodwill for this reporting unit prior to
our annual test during the fourth quarter, and could be required to take an impairment charge as a result of any such test.

At June 30, 2012, one client in our Legal Consulting segment accounted for 14.3% of the Company’s combined receivables and unbilled services balances. At
December 31, 2011, no single client accounted for greater than 10% of our combined receivables and unbilled services balances. Furthermore, the same client in
our Legal Consulting segment generated 11.8% and 10.6% of our consolidated revenues during the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively.
 
15. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events and transactions subsequent to the balance sheet date and up to the time of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Effective July 2, 2012, the Company completed its acquisition of the assets of AdamsGrayson Corporation (“AdamsGrayson”), a managed review and legal
staffing firm based in Washington, D.C. Under the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”), the Company acquired substantially all of the
assets and assumed certain liabilities of AdamsGrayson in exchange for an initial cash payment of $21.5 million and deferred payments of $10.0 million to be
paid in equal installments of $5.0 million on the first and second anniversaries of the closing date.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Huron,” “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Huron Consulting
Group Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the information incorporated by reference herein, that are not historical in nature, including those
concerning the Company’s current expectations about its future requirements and needs, are “forward-looking” statements as defined in Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are
identified by words such as “may,” “should,” “expects,” “provides,” “anticipates,” “assumes,” “can,” “meets,” “could,” “intends,” “might,” “predicts,” “seeks,”
“would,” “believes,” “estimates” or “continues”. These forward-looking statements reflect our current expectation about our future requirements and needs,
results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements, including, without limitation, that our business continues to grow at the current expectations with respect
to, among other factors, utilization rates, billing rates, and the number of revenue-generating professionals; that we are able to expand our service offerings; that
we successfully integrate the businesses we acquire; and that existing market conditions continue to trend upward. These statements involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors, including, among others, those described under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2011 that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any anticipated results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Our Business

We are a leading provider of operational and financial consulting services. We help clients in diverse industries improve performance, comply with complex
regulations, reduce costs, recover from distress, leverage technology, process and review large amounts of complex data, and stimulate growth. We team with our
clients to deliver sustainable and measurable results. Our professionals employ their expertise in healthcare administration, finance and operations to provide our
clients with specialized analyses and customized advice and solutions that are tailored to address each client’s particular challenges and opportunities. We provide
consulting services to a wide variety of both financially sound and distressed organizations, including healthcare organizations, leading academic institutions,
governmental entities, Fortune 500 companies, medium-sized businesses, and the law firms that represent these various organizations.

We provide our services through three operating segments: Health and Education Consulting, Legal Consulting and Financial Consulting.
 

 •  Health and Education Consulting

Our Health and Education Consulting segment provides consulting services to hospitals, health systems, physicians, managed care organizations, academic
medical centers, colleges, universities, and pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers. This segment’s professionals develop and implement
solutions and software to help clients address challenges relating to financial management, strategy, operational and organizational effectiveness, research
administration, and regulatory compliance. This segment also provides consulting services related to hospital or healthcare organization performance
improvement, revenue cycle improvement, turnarounds, merger or affiliation strategies, labor productivity, non-labor cost management, information
technology, patient flow improvement, physician practice management, interim management, clinical quality and care variation, and governance and board
development.

 

 •  Legal Consulting

Our Legal Consulting segment provides advisory and business services to assist law departments of major corporations and law firms with their strategy,
organizational design and development, operational efficiency, and cost effectiveness. These results-driven services add value to organizations by helping
reduce the amounts they spend on legal services and enhance client service. Our expertise focuses on strategic and management consulting, cost
management, and technology and information management including matter management, records management, document review and discovery services.
Included in this segment’s offerings is our V3locity® solution, which delivers a streamlined e-discovery process resulting in more affordable and
predictable discovery costs.
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 •  Financial Consulting

Our Financial Consulting segment provides financial advisory, interim management and operational consulting services to companies including companies
in transition, creditor constituencies, and other stakeholders in connection with out-of-court restructurings and bankruptcy proceedings. For companies in
financial distress, we work with management to assess the viability of their business, to develop and implement a turnaround plan to improve cash flow,
and to implement a debt-restructuring plan to improve the balance sheet. In some instances, we serve in interim management roles. When out-of-court
solutions are not achievable, we assist clients in preparing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings and with all aspects of the bankruptcy process by gathering,
analyzing, and presenting financial and business information needed to achieve successful reorganizations. We also provide claims management services to
help companies process and analyze complex and voluminous claims filed in bankruptcies and related litigation matters. We have an array of services that
are flexible and responsive to event-and transaction-based needs across industries. Our professionals consist of certified public accountants, certified
insolvency and restructuring advisors, certified turnaround professionals, MBAs, JDs and chartered financial analysts as well as former chief restructuring
officers, chief executive officers, chief financial officers and board of directors members.

How We Generate Revenues

A large portion of our revenues is generated by our full-time consultants who provide consulting services to our clients and are billable to our clients based on the
number of hours worked. A smaller portion of our revenues is generated by our other professionals, also referred to as full-time equivalents, consisting of
specialized finance and operational consultants and contract reviewers, all of whom work variable schedules as needed by our clients. Other professionals also
include our document review and electronic data discovery groups, as well as full-time employees who provide software support and maintenance services to our
clients. Our document review and electronic data discovery groups generate revenues primarily based on number of hours worked and units produced, such as
pages reviewed or amount of data processed. We translate the hours that these other professionals work on client engagements into a full-time equivalent measure
that we use to manage our business. From time to time, our full-time consultants may provide software support and maintenance or document review and
electronic data discovery services based on demand for such services and the availability of our full-time consultants. We refer to our full-time consultants and
other professionals collectively as revenue-generating professionals.

Revenues generated by our full-time consultants are primarily driven by the number of consultants we employ and their utilization rates, as well as the billing
rates we charge our clients. Revenues generated by our other professionals, or full-time equivalents, are largely dependent on the number of consultants we
employ, their hours worked and billing rates charged, as well as the number of pages reviewed and amount of data processed in the case of our document review
and electronic data discovery groups, respectively.

We generate the majority of our revenues from providing professional services under three types of billing arrangements: time-and-expense, fixed-fee, and
performance-based.

Time-and-expense billing arrangements require the client to pay based on either the number of hours worked, the number of pages reviewed, or the amount of
data processed by our revenue-generating professionals at agreed upon rates. We recognize revenues under time-and-expense billing arrangements as the related
services are rendered. Time-and-expense engagements represented 49.6% and 42.1% of our revenues in the second quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively. Time-
and-expense engagements represented 48.2% and 43.5% of our revenues in the first half of 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In fixed-fee billing arrangements, we agree to a pre-established fee in exchange for a pre-determined set of professional services. We set the fees based on our
estimates of the costs and timing for completing the engagements. It is the client’s expectation in these engagements that the pre-established fee will not be
exceeded except in mutually agreed upon circumstances. We recognize revenues under fixed-fee billing arrangements using a proportionate performance
approach, which is based on our estimates of work completed to-date versus the total services to be provided under the engagement. For the quarters ended
June 30, 2012 and 2011, fixed-fee engagements represented approximately 37.0% and 33.0%, respectively, of our revenues. For the six months ended June 30,
2012 and 2011, fixed-fee engagements represented approximately 37.7% and 37.3%, respectively, of our revenues.
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In performance-based fee billing arrangements, fees are tied to the attainment of contractually defined objectives. We enter into performance-based engagements
in essentially two forms. First, we generally earn fees that are directly related to the savings formally acknowledged by the client as a result of adopting our
recommendations for improving operational and cost effectiveness in the areas we review. Second, we have performance-based engagements in which we earn a
success fee when and if certain pre-defined outcomes occur. Often, performance-based fees supplement our time-and-expense or fixed-fee engagements. We do
not recognize revenues under performance-based billing arrangements until all related performance criteria are met. Performance-based fee revenues represented
9.6% and 22.3% of our revenues in the second quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively. Performance-based fee revenues represented 10.4% and 16.6% of our
revenues in the first half of 2012 and 2011, respectively. Performance-based fee engagements may cause significant variations in quarterly revenues and operating
results depending on the timing of achievement of the performance-based criteria.

We also generate revenues from licensing two types of proprietary software to clients. License revenue from our research administration and compliance software
is recognized in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 985-605, generally in the month in which the software is delivered. License revenue from our revenue cycle
management software is sold only as a component of our consulting projects and the services we provide are essential to the functionality of the software.
Therefore, revenues from these software licenses are recognized over the term of the related consulting services contract in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
605-35. Clients that have purchased one of our software licenses can pay an annual fee for software support and maintenance. Annual support and maintenance
fee revenue is recognized ratably over the support period, which is generally one year. These fees are billed in advance and included in deferred revenues until
recognized. Support and maintenance revenues represented 3.8% and 2.6% of our revenues in the second quarters of 2012 and 2011, respectively. Support and
maintenance revenues represented 3.7% and 2.6% of our revenues in the first half of 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Our quarterly results are impacted principally by our full-time consultants’ utilization rate, the number of business days in each quarter and the number of our
revenue-generating professionals who are available to work. Our utilization rate can be negatively affected by increased hiring because there is generally a
transition period for new professionals that results in a temporary drop in our utilization rate. The number of business work days is also affected by the number of
vacation days taken by our consultants and holidays in each quarter. Our utilization rate can also be affected by seasonal variations in the demand for our services
from our clients.

Time-and-expense engagements do not provide us with a high degree of predictability as to performance in future periods. Unexpected changes in the demand for
our services can result in significant variations in utilization and revenues and present a challenge to optimal hiring and staffing. Moreover, our clients typically
retain us on an engagement-by-engagement basis, rather than under long-term recurring contracts. The volume of work performed for any particular client can
vary widely from period to period.

Business Strategy, Opportunities and Challenges

Our primary strategy is to meet the needs of our clients by providing a balanced portfolio of service offerings and capabilities, so that we can adapt quickly and
effectively to emerging opportunities in the marketplace. To achieve this, we have entered into select acquisitions of complementary businesses and continue to
hire highly qualified professionals.

To expand our business, we will remain focused on growing our existing relationships and developing new relationships, execute our managing director
compensation plan to attract and retain senior practitioners, continue to promote and provide an integrated approach to service delivery, broaden the scope of our
existing services, and acquire complementary businesses. We will regularly evaluate the performance of our practices to ensure our investments meet these
objectives. Furthermore, we intend to enhance our visibility in the marketplace by refining our overarching messaging and value propositions for the organization
as well as each practice. The launch of our Huron Legal, Huron Healthcare, Huron Education and Huron Life Sciences brand identities during 2011 was a major
step in clearly articulating the benefits we offer our clients. We will continue to focus on reaching our client base through clear, concise, endorsed messages.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. We review our financial reporting and disclosure practices and accounting policies to ensure that our financial reporting and
disclosures provide accurate information relative to the current economic and business environment. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make assessments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements,
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as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Critical accounting policies are those policies that we believe present the
most complex or subjective measurements and have the most potential to impact our financial position and operating results. While all decisions regarding
accounting policies are important, we believe that there are four accounting policies that could be considered critical. These critical accounting policies relate to
revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services, carrying values of goodwill and other intangible assets, and valuation of net deferred
tax assets. For a detailed discussion of these critical accounting policies, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. There have been no material changes to
our critical accounting policies during the first half of 2012.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, selected segment and consolidated operating results and other operating data. Segment operating income
consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of revenue and selling, general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the
segment. Unallocated costs include corporate costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner that are not attributable to a
particular segment. See Note 4 “Discontinued Operations” of this Quarterly Report for information related to our discontinued operations.
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Segment and Consolidated Operating Results
(in thousands):      
Revenues and reimbursable expenses:      
Health and Education Consulting   $ 94,481   $104,100   $185,886   $193,758  
Legal Consulting    45,907    39,972    87,290    77,289  
Financial Consulting    4,283    8,998    10,132    18,644  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues    144,671    153,070    283,308    289,691  
Total reimbursable expenses    14,554    13,216    28,350    25,140  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total revenues and reimbursable expenses   $159,225   $166,286   $ 311,658   $314,831  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Operating income (loss):      
Health and Education Consulting   $ 28,515   $ 36,863   $ 50,012   $ 62,754  
Legal Consulting    12,499    9,629    22,010    19,224  
Financial Consulting    (337)   2,768    (104)   5,738  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total segment operating income    40,677    49,260    71,918    87,716  
Operating expenses not allocated to segments    25,976    26,961    53,580    54,602  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating income   $ 14,701   $ 22,299   $ 18,338   $ 33,114  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Other Operating Data:      
Number of full-time billable consultants
(at period end) :      
Health and Education Consulting    1,139    962    1,139    962  
Legal Consulting    129    115    129    115  
Financial Consulting    69    75    69    75  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total    1,337    1,152    1,337    1,152  
Average number of full-time billable consultants
(for the period) :      
Health and Education Consulting    1,110    951    1,090    934  
Legal Consulting    123    123    120    120  
Financial Consulting    69    75    69    75  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total    1,302    1,149    1,279    1,129  
Full-time billable consultant utilization rate :      
Health and Education Consulting    76.6%   73.6%   78.0%   77.3% 
Legal Consulting    68.7%   54.9%   69.7%   55.4% 
Financial Consulting    49.3%   76.3%   54.5%   75.6% 

Total    74.5%   71.9%   76.0%   75.0% 
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Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Other Operating Data (Continued):         
Full-time billable consultant average billing rate per hour :         
Health and Education Consulting   $ 205    $ 269    $ 202    $ 241  
Legal Consulting   $ 239    $ 231    $ 237    $ 233  
Financial Consulting   $ 275    $ 315    $ 275    $ 328  

Total   $ 210    $ 270    $ 208    $ 246  
Revenue per full-time billable consultant (in thousands):         
Health and Education Consulting   $ 74    $ 97    $ 148    $ 181  
Legal Consulting   $ 78    $ 55    $ 157    $ 110  
Financial Consulting   $ 61    $ 115    $ 140    $ 242  

Total   $ 73    $ 94    $ 149    $ 177  
Average number of full-time equivalents (for the period) :         
Health and Education Consulting    142     144     142     147  
Legal Consulting    954     973     926     919  
Financial Consulting    1     3     2     2  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    1,097     1,120     1,070     1,068  
Revenue per full-time equivalents (in thousands):         
Health and Education Consulting   $ 91    $ 82    $ 173    $ 168  
Legal Consulting   $ 38    $ 34    $ 74    $ 70  
Financial Consulting   $ 41    $ 134    $ 208    $ 257  

Total   $ 45    $ 41    $ 87    $ 84  
 
(1) Reflects the reclassification of our healthcare valuation consulting practice from our Health and Education Consulting segment to our Financial Consulting

segment in conjunction with an internal reorganization during the first quarter of 2012. Financial Consulting segment revenues for the three months ended
June 30, 2012 and 2011 include $0.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, related to our healthcare valuation consulting practice. Financial Consulting
segment revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 include $1.9 million and $3.1 million, respectively, related to our healthcare valuation
consulting practice.

(2) Consists of our full-time professionals who provide consulting services and generate revenues based on the number of hours worked.
(3) Utilization rate for our full-time billable consultants is calculated by dividing the number of hours all our full-time billable consultants worked on client

assignments during a period by the total available working hours for all of these consultants during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work week, less
paid holidays and vacation days.

(4) Average billing rate per hour for our full-time billable consultants is calculated by dividing revenues for a period by the number of hours worked on client
assignments during the same period.

(5) Consists of consultants who work variable schedules as needed by our clients, as well as contract reviewers and other professionals who generate revenues
primarily based on number of hours worked and units produced, such as pages reviewed and data processed. Also includes full-time employees who
provide software support and maintenance services to our clients.

Non-GAAP Measures

We also assess our results of operations using certain non-GAAP financial measures. These non-GAAP financial measures differ from GAAP because the non-
GAAP financial measures we calculate to measure adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income from continuing operations and adjusted diluted earnings per share
exclude a number of items required by GAAP, each discussed below. These non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in addition to, and not as a
substitute for or superior to, any measure of performance, cash flows or liquidity prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our non-GAAP financial measures may be
defined differently from time to time and may be defined differently than similar terms used by other companies, and accordingly, care should be exercised in
understanding how we define our non-GAAP financial measures.
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Our management uses the non-GAAP financial measures to gain an understanding of our comparative operating performance, for example when comparing such
results with previous periods or forecasts. These non-GAAP financial measures are used by management in their financial and operating decision making because
management believes they reflect our ongoing business in a manner that allows for meaningful period-to-period comparisons. Management also uses these non-
GAAP financial measures when publicly providing our business outlook, for internal management purposes, and as a basis for evaluating potential acquisitions
and dispositions. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to investors and others (a) in understanding and evaluating
Huron’s current operating performance and future prospects in the same manner as management does, (b) in comparing in a consistent manner Huron’s current
financial results with Huron’s past financial results and (c) in understanding the Company’s ability to generate cash flows from operations that are available for
taxes, capital expenditures, and debt repayment.

The reconciliations of these non-GAAP financial measures from GAAP to non-GAAP are as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three months ended

June  30,   
Six months ended

June  30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Revenues   $144,671   $153,070   $283,308   $289,691  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net income from continuing operations   $ 6,305   $ 9,164   $ 6,892   $ 12,638  
Add back:      

Income tax expense    6,218    9,535    7,735    13,408  
Interest and other expenses    2,178    3,600    3,711    7,068  
Depreciation and amortization    5,195    5,705    10,990    11,384  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)    19,896    28,004    29,328    44,498  
Add back:      

Restatement related expenses    212    1,785    1,717    3,025  
Restructuring charges    229    461    1,059    985  
Litigation settlements, net    1,150    508    1,150    1,096  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 21,487   $ 30,758   $ 33,254   $ 49,604  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenues    14.9%   20.1%   11.7%   17.1% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

   
Three months ended

June 30,   
Six months ended

June 30,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Net income from continuing operations   $    6,305   $ 9,164   $ 6,892   $  12,638  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average shares-diluted    22,248    21,476    22,206    21,316  
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 0.28   $ 0.43   $ 0.31   $ 0.59  

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Add back:      
Amortization of intangible assets    1,607    2,067    3,226    4,284  
Restatement related expenses    212    1,785    1,717    3,025  
Restructuring charges    229    461    1,059    985  
Litigation settlements, net    1,150    508    1,150    1,096  
Tax effect    (1,279)     (1,928)     (2,861)     (3,756)   

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total adjustments, net of tax    1,919    2,893    4,291    5,634  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Adjusted net income from continuing operations   $ 8,224   $  12,057   $  11,183   $ 18,272  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Adjusted diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 0.37   $ 0.56   $ 0.50   $ 0.86  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

These non-GAAP financial measures include adjustments for the following items:

Restatement related expenses: We have incurred significant expenses related to our 2009 financial statement restatement. We have excluded the effect of
these restatement related expenses from our non-GAAP measures due to the nonrecurring nature of the underlying event as a means to provide comparability with
periods that were not impacted by the restatement related expenses.
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Restructuring charges: We have incurred charges due to the restructuring of various parts of our business. These restructuring charges have primarily
consisted of severance charges and office space reductions, including the accelerated depreciation of certain leasehold improvements. We have excluded the effect
of the restructuring charges from our non-GAAP measures as a means to provide comparability with periods that were not impacted by a restructuring charge.
Additionally, the amount of each restructuring charge is significantly affected by the timing and size of the restructured business or component of a business.

Litigation settlement expense: We have excluded the one-time effects of litigation settlement expenses because they are infrequent events and their
exclusion permits comparability with periods that were not impacted by these charges.

Amortization of intangible assets: We have excluded the effect of amortization of intangible assets from the non-GAAP measures presented above.
Amortization of intangibles is inconsistent in its amount and frequency and is significantly affected by the timing and size of our acquisitions.

Tax effect: The non-GAAP income tax adjustment reflects the incremental tax rate applicable to the non-GAAP adjustments.

Income tax expense, Interest and other expenses, Depreciation and amortization: We have excluded the effects of income tax expense, interest and other
expenses, and depreciation and amortization in the calculation of EBITDA as these are customary exclusions as defined by the calculation of EBITDA to arrive at
meaningful earnings from core operations excluding the effect of such items.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2011

Revenues

Revenues decreased $8.4 million, or 5.5%, to $144.7 million for the second quarter of 2012 from $153.1 million for the second quarter of 2011.

The overall decrease was attributable to a $12.3 million decrease in revenue from our full-time billable consultants, partially offset by a $3.9 million increase in
revenue attributable to our full-time equivalents. The decrease in full-time billable consultant revenues was driven by a decrease in our average billing rate,
partially offset by increases in the number of full-time billable consultants and our consultant utilization rate. The overall decrease in average billing rate was
primarily attributable to our Health and Education Consulting segment. The average billing rate for this segment was negatively impacted by the timing of
achievement of performance-based criteria in performance-based fee arrangements. We expect the average billing rate for this segment to increase during the
second half of 2012. The increase in full-time equivalent revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in the average revenue per full-time equivalent,
partially offset by a slight decrease in the average number of full-time equivalents. Revenue attributable to full-time equivalents primarily reflected an increase in
demand for our document review and electronic data discovery services in the Legal Consulting segment.

Total Direct Costs

Our total direct costs increased $0.5 million, or 0.5%, to $93.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2012 from $92.5 million in the three months ended
June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily related to a $3.4 million increase in salaries, bonuses and related expense for our revenue-generating professionals and
a $0.3 million increase in rent expense at our document review locations, partially offset by a $3.1 million decrease in contractor expense.

Total direct costs for the three months ended June 30, 2012 included $2.7 million of share-based compensation expense and $1.1 million of intangible asset
amortization expense, primarily representing customer-related assets and software. Total direct costs for the three months ended June 30, 2011 included $3.4
million of share-based compensation expense and $1.4 million of intangible asset amortization expense.

Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $0.2 million, or 0.6%, to $31.3 million in the second quarter of 2012 from $31.1 million in the second
quarter of 2011. This increase was primarily related to a $0.9 million increase in legal expense, a $0.5 million increase in professional services expense and a $0.5
million increase in salaries, bonuses and related expense for our non-revenue-generating professionals. These increases were partially offset by a $1.0 million
decrease in practice administration and meeting expense, a $0.4 million decrease in promotion and sponsorship expense and a general decrease in other business
expenses.
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In the second quarter of 2012, we recorded $0.2 million of restructuring expense, primarily consisting of accelerated depreciation on leasehold improvements at
our New York office location, which we plan to relocate during the fourth quarter of 2012, partially offset by the net favorable impact of updated assumptions for
lease accruals related to previously vacated office spaces. We expect the remaining accelerated depreciation charge in 2012 related to our New York office to be
$0.8 million. We also expect to incur additional charges in 2012 upon exiting our New York office space, for which we have a lease agreement that expires in
2016, and upon consolidating office space in Washington, D.C. related to our acquisition of AdamsGrayson. We estimate the expense associated with these
offices to be approximately $3 million in 2012; however, the actual expense could vary significantly depending on factors such as the office rental markets in
New York City and Washington, D.C. at the time we exit. See Note 8 “Restructuring Charges” for further discussion of restructuring expense. Restructuring
expense was $0.5 million in the second quarter of 2011.

Expenses incurred in connection with our 2009 restatement decreased by $1.6 million to $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2012 from $1.8 million in the
second quarter of 2011. These expenses primarily consisted of legal fees in both periods. For additional information about the restatement, see “Legal
Proceedings” and Note 13 “Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees.”

Litigation settlement expense was $1.2 million for the second quarter of 2012. Related to the qui tam action discussed in “Legal Proceedings” and in Note 13
“Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” we conducted preliminary settlement discussions with the relator, and as a result we recorded a charge of $1.2
million in the second quarter of 2012, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450 “Contingencies.”

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by $0.2 million to $4.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 2012 from $4.3 million in the three months
ended June 30, 2011. Non-direct intangible asset amortization relates to customer relationships, non-competition agreements and trade names acquired in
connection with our acquisitions.

Operating Income

Operating income decreased $7.6 million, or 34%, to $14.7 million in the second quarter of 2012 from $22.3 million in the second quarter of 2011. Operating
margin, which is defined as operating income expressed as a percentage of revenues, decreased to 10.2% in the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to
14.6% in the three months ended June 30, 2011. This decrease is primarily attributable to an increase in salaries, bonuses and related expense for both our
revenue-generating professionals and our support personnel as a percentage of revenues, partially offset by a decrease in contractor expense as a percentage of
revenues.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense decreased by $1.4 million to $2.2 million in the second quarter of 2012 from $3.6 million in the second quarter of 2011. This decrease in expense
was primarily attributable to a $1.5 million, or 43%, decrease in interest expense. The decrease in interest expense was driven by lower borrowing levels and a
decrease in our effective interest rate. The second quarter of 2011 also included a $0.5 million write-off of debt issue costs related to the refinancing of our credit
facility during that quarter.

Income Tax Expense

For the second quarter of 2012, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $6.2 million on income from continuing operations of $12.5
million. For the second quarter of 2011, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $9.5 million on income from continuing operations of
$18.7 million. Our effective income tax rate decreased to 49.7% in the second quarter of 2012 from 51.0% in the second quarter of 2011. The effective rates for
both periods were higher than the statutory rate, inclusive of state income taxes, due primarily to the impact of foreign losses with no tax benefit and certain non-
deductible expenses.

Net Income from Continuing Operations

Net income from continuing operations was $6.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to net income from continuing operations of
$9.2 million for the same period last year. The decrease in net income from continuing operations was primarily due to the decrease in operating income, as
discussed above, partially offset by decreases in other expense, net and income tax expense. As a result of the decrease in net income from continuing operations,
diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the second quarter of 2012 was $0.28 compared to diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
of $0.43 for the second quarter of 2011.
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Discontinued Operations

Net income from discontinued operations was $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2012, compared to net income from discontinued operations of $0.3 million in
the second quarter of 2011. See Note 4 “Discontinued Operations” of this Quarterly Report for further information about our discontinued operations.

Segment Results

Health and Education Consulting

Revenues

Health and Education Consulting segment revenues decreased $9.6 million, or 9.2%, to $94.5 million for the second quarter of 2012 from $104.1 million for the
second quarter of 2011. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements, performance-based arrangements and software support and
maintenance arrangements represented 25.6%, 53.9%, 14.6% and 5.9% of this segment’s revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2012, respectively,
compared to 19.5%, 44.5%, 32.2% and 3.8%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $9.6 million decrease in revenues, $10.8 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants, partially offset by an increase of $1.2 million
related to our full-time equivalents. The overall decrease in revenues reflected a decrease in average billing rate, partially offset by an increase in the number of
full-time billable consultants and consultant utilization rate. The average billing rate for this segment was negatively impacted by the timing of achievement of
performance-based criteria in performance-based fee arrangements. We expect the average billing rate for this segment to increase during the second half of 2012.
Performance-based revenues decreased $19.7 million to $13.8 million during the second quarter of 2012 from $33.5 million during the second quarter of 2011.
Performance-based fee engagements may cause significant variations in quarterly revenues, operating results and average billing rates due to the timing of
achievement of the performance-based criteria.

Operating Income

Health and Education Consulting segment operating income decreased $8.4 million, or 22.8%, to $28.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2012 from
$36.9 million in the three months ended June 30, 2011. The Health and Education Consulting segment operating margin, defined as segment operating income
expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, decreased to 30.2% for the second quarter of 2012 from 35.4% in the same period last year. The decrease in this
segment’s operating margin was primarily attributable to an increase in salaries, bonus and related expense for both our revenue-generating professionals and our
support personnel as a percentage of revenues, partially offset by decreases in contractor and technology expenses as a percentage of revenues.

Legal Consulting

Revenues

Legal Consulting segment revenues increased $5.9 million, or 14.8%, to $45.9 million for the second quarter of 2012 from $40.0 million for the second quarter of
2011. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements and fixed-fee engagements represented 96.0% and 4.0%, respectively, of this segment’s revenues during the
three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to 94.7% and 5.3%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $5.9 million increase in revenues, $2.8 million was generated by our full-time billable consultants and $3.1 million was generated by our full-time
equivalents. The increase in revenues reflected both an increase in demand for our advisory services as well as an increase in demand for our document review
and electronic data discovery services. The increase in full-time billable consultant revenue reflected both higher consultant utilization and an increased average
billing rate. The increase in revenue attributable to our full-time equivalents was driven by an increase in the average revenue per full-time equivalent, partially
offset by a decrease in the average number of full-time equivalents.

Operating Income

Legal Consulting segment operating income increased by $2.9 million, or 30.2%, to $12.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2012 from $9.6 million in
the three months ended June 30, 2011. Segment operating margin increased to 27.2% for the second quarter of 2012 from 24.1% in the same period last year. The
increase in this segment’s operating margin was primarily attributable to a decrease in contractor expense, partially offset by higher salaries, bonuses and related
expense for both our revenue-generating professionals and our support personnel and technology expense as a percentage of segment revenues.
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Financial Consulting

Revenues

Financial Consulting segment revenues decreased $4.7 million, or 52.2%, to $4.3 million for the second quarter of 2012 from $9.0 million for the second quarter
of 2011. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements and fixed-fee engagements represented 81.8% and 18.2%, respectively, of this segment’s revenues during
the second quarter of 2012. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements and performance-based arrangements represented 70.2%,
23.5% and 6.3%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $4.7 million decrease in revenues, $4.3 million was attributable to a decrease in revenues from our full-time billable consultants and $0.4 million
was attributable to our full-time equivalents. The overall decrease in revenues reflects lower consultant utilization and average billing rates during the quarter,
primarily as the result of lower demand for our restructuring and turnaround services.

Operating Income

Financial Consulting segment operating income decreased by $3.1 million to a loss of $0.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2012 compared to income
of $2.8 million in the three months ended June 30, 2011. Segment operating margin decreased to a negative 7.9% for the second quarter of 2012 from a positive
30.8% in the same period last year. This segment’s operating margin decreased primarily due to increased salaries and related expenses for our revenue-
generating professionals as a percentage of revenues.

Financial Consulting segment leadership is currently executing several initiatives to improve the segment’s financial performance and broaden the segment’s
service offerings. We believe that the services provided by the Financial Consulting segment remain relevant in the marketplace and expect performance to
improve significantly during the second half of 2012 and into 2013. In the event that the segment’s performance does not improve in line with our expectations
during this timeframe, we may be required to perform an interim impairment analysis with respect to the carrying value of goodwill for this reporting unit prior to
our annual test during the fourth quarter, and could be required to take an impairment charge as a result of any such test.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2011

Revenues

Revenues decreased $6.4 million, or 2.2%, to $283.3 million for the first half of 2012 from $289.7 million for the first half of 2011.

The overall decrease was attributable to a $10.5 million decrease in revenue from our full-time billable consultants, partially offset by a $4.1 million increase in
revenue from our full-time equivalents. The decrease in full-time billable consultant revenues was driven by a decrease in our average billing rate, partially offset
by increases in the number of full-time billable consultants and our consultant utilization rate. The overall decrease in average billing rate was primarily
attributable to our Health and Education Consulting segment. The average billing rate for this segment was negatively impacted by the timing of achievement of
performance-based criteria in performance-based fee arrangements. We expect the average billing rate for this segment to increase during the second half of 2012.
The increase in full-time equivalent revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in average revenue per full-time equivalent. Revenue attributable to full-
time equivalents reflected an increase in demand for our document review and electronic data discovery services in the Legal Consulting segment, partially offset
by decreased use of contractors in our Health and Education Consulting and Financial Consulting segments.

Total Direct Costs

Our total direct costs increased $8.9 million, or 4.9%, to $190.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2012 from $182.0 million for the comparable period in
2011. The increase was primarily related to a $13.1 million increase in salaries, bonuses and related expense for our revenue-generating professionals, mostly due
to a 13.3% increase in average full-time billable consultants during the period, a $1.4 million increase in technology expense and an $0.8 million increase in rent
expense for our document review locations. These increases were partially offset by a $5.8 million decrease in contractor expense and a $0.5 million decrease in
direct intangible asset amortization.

Total direct costs for the six months ended June 30, 2012 included $6.5 million of share-based compensation expense and $2.3 million of intangible asset
amortization expense, primarily representing customer-related assets and software. Total direct costs for the six months ended June 30, 2011 included $7.0 million
of share-based compensation expense and $2.8 million of intangible asset amortization expense.
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Operating Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $0.7 million, or 1.2%, to $61.3 million in the first half of 2012 from $60.6 million in the first half of 2011.
This increase was primarily related to a $1.3 million increase in legal expense, an $0.8 million increase in training expense and a $0.7 million increase in salaries,
bonus and related expense for our non-revenue-generating professionals. These increases were partially offset by a $0.9 million decrease in promotion and
sponsorship expenses, a $0.6 million decrease in practice administration and meeting expenses and a $0.5 million decrease in facilities expense.

In the first half of 2012, we recorded $1.1 million in restructuring expense, primarily consisting of accelerated depreciation on leasehold improvements at our
New York office location, which we plan to relocate during the fourth quarter of 2012, partially offset by the net favorable impact of updated assumptions for
lease accruals related to previously vacated office spaces. We expect the remaining accelerated depreciation charge in 2012 related to our New York office to be
$0.8 million. We also expect to incur additional charges in 2012 upon exiting our New York office space, for which we have a lease agreement that expires in
2016, and upon consolidating office space in Washington, D.C. related to our acquisition of AdamsGrayson. We estimate the expense associated with these
offices to be approximately $3 million in 2012; however, the actual expense could vary significantly depending on factors such as the office rental markets in
New York City and Washington, D.C. at the time we exit. See Note 8 “Restructuring Charges” for further discussion of restructuring expense. Restructuring
expense was $1.0 million in the first half of 2011.

Expenses incurred in connection with our 2009 restatement decreased by $1.3 million to $1.7 million in the first half of 2012 from $3.0 million in the first half of
2011. These expenses primarily consist of legal fees in both periods. For additional information about the restatement, see “Legal Proceedings” and Note 13
“Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees.”

Litigation settlement expense was $1.2 million for the first half of 2012. Related to the qui tam action discussed in “Legal Proceedings” and in Note 13
“Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” we conducted preliminary settlement discussions with the relator, and as a result we recorded a charge of $1.2
million in the second quarter of 2012, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450 “Contingencies.”

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $0.1 million to $8.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2012 from $8.6 million in the six months ended
June 30, 2011. Non-direct intangible asset amortization relates to customer relationships, non-competition agreements and trade names acquired in connection
with our acquisitions.

Operating Income

Operating income decreased $14.8 million, or 44.7%, to $18.3 million in the first half of 2012 from $33.1 million in the first half of 2011. Operating margin,
which is defined as operating income expressed as a percentage of revenues, decreased to 6.5% in the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to 11.4% for the
comparable period in 2011. This decrease is primarily attributable to the increases of salaries, bonuses and related expense for both our revenue-generating and
support personnel, legal expense and technology expense as a percentage of revenues, partially offset by decreases of contractor expense and restatement expense
as a percentage of revenues.

Other Expense, Net

Other expense decreased by $3.4 million to $3.7 million in the first half of 2012 from $7.1 million in the first half of 2011. The decrease in expense was primarily
attributable to a $3.2 million, or 45%, decrease in interest expense. The decrease in interest expense was the result of lower borrowing levels during the first half
of 2012 when compared to the first half of 2011 and a decrease in our effective interest rate. The first half of 2011 also included a $0.5 million write-off of debt
issue costs related to the refinancing of our credit facility during that period.

Income Tax Expense

For the first half of 2012, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $7.7 million on income from continuing operations of $14.6
million. For the first half of 2011, we recognized income tax expense from continuing operations of $13.4 million on income from continuing operations of $26.0
million. Our effective income tax rate increased to 52.9% in the first half of 2012 from 51.5% in the first half of 2011. The effective rates for both periods were
higher than the statutory rate, inclusive of state income taxes, due primarily to the impact of foreign losses with no tax benefit and certain non-deductible
expenses.
 

29



Net Income from Continuing Operations

Net income from continuing operations was $6.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to net income from continuing operations of
$12.6 million for the same period last year. The decrease in net income from continuing operations was primarily due to the decrease in operating income, as
discussed above, partially offset by decreases in other expense, net and income tax expense. As a result of the decrease in net income from continuing operations,
diluted earnings per share from continuing operations for the first half of 2012 was $0.31 compared to diluted earnings per share from continuing operations of
$0.59 for the first half of 2011.

Discontinued Operations

Net income from discontinued operations was $0.5 million in the first half of 2012, compared to net income from discontinued operations of $0.9 million in the
first half of 2011. See Note 4 “Discontinued Operations” of this Quarterly Report for further information about our discontinued operations.

Segment Results

Health and Education Consulting

Revenues

Health and Education Consulting segment revenues decreased $7.9 million, or 4.1%, to $185.9 million for the first half of 2012 from $193.8 million for the first
half of 2011. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements, performance-based arrangements and software support and maintenance
arrangements represented 24.3%, 54.2%, 15.8% and 5.7% of this segment’s revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2012, respectively, compared to
21.0%, 50.6%, 24.5% and 3.9%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $7.9 million decrease in revenues, $7.7 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants and $0.2 million related to our full-time
equivalents. The overall decrease in revenues reflected a decrease in average billing rate, partially offset by an increase in the number of full-time billable
consultants and consultant utilization rate. The average billing rate for this segment was negatively impacted by the timing of achievement of performance-based
criteria in performance-based fee arrangements. We expect the average billing rate for this segment to increase during the second half of 2012. Performance-based
revenues decreased $18.0 million to $29.4 million during the first half of 2012 from $47.4 million during the first half of 2011. Performance-based fee
engagements may cause significant variations in quarterly revenues, operating results and average billing rates due to the timing of achieving the performance-
based criteria.

Operating Income

Health and Education Consulting segment operating income decreased $12.8 million, or 20.4%, to $50.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2012 from
$62.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2011. The Health and Education Consulting segment operating margin, defined as segment operating income
expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, decreased to 26.9% for the first half of 2012 from 32.4% in the same period last year. The decrease in this
segment’s operating margin was primarily attributable to an increase in salaries, bonus and related expense for both our revenue-generating and support personnel
as a percentage of revenues, partially offset by a decrease in contractor expense as a percentage of revenues. Average revenue-generating headcount increased
14% in the first half of 2012 compared to the first half of 2011.

Legal Consulting

Revenues

Legal Consulting segment revenues increased $10.0 million, or 12.9%, to $87.3 million for the first half of 2012 from $77.3 million for the first half of 2011.
Revenues from time-and-expense engagements and fixed-fee engagements represented 95.8% and 4.2%, respectively, of this segment’s revenues during the six
months ended June 30, 2012 compared to 92.5% and 7.5%, respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $10.0 million increase in revenues, $5.6 million was attributable to our full-time billable consultants and $4.4 million was attributable to our full-
time equivalents. The increase in revenues reflected both an increase in demand for our advisory services as well as an increase in demand for our document
review and electronic data discovery services. The increase in full-time billable consultant revenue reflected higher consultant utilization and average billing
rates, while the number of full-time billable consultants was consistent between periods. The increase in revenue attributable to our full-time equivalents was
driven by an increase in the average number of full-time equivalents as well as an increase in average revenue per full-time equivalent.
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Operating Income

Legal Consulting segment operating income increased by $2.8 million, or 14.5%, to $22.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2012 from $19.2 million in
the six months ended June 30, 2011. Segment operating margin increased to 25.2% for the first half of 2012 from 24.9% in the same period last year. The increase
in this segment’s operating margin was attributable to lower contractor expense, offset by higher salaries, bonuses and related expense for both our revenue-
generating and support personnel and technology expense as a percentage of segment revenues.

Financial Consulting

Revenues

Financial Consulting segment revenues decreased $8.5 million, or 45.7%, to $10.1 million for the first half of 2012 from $18.6 million for the first half of 2011.
Revenues from time-and-expense engagements and fixed-fee engagements represented 76.4% and 23.6%, respectively, of this segment’s revenues during the first
half of 2012. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements, fixed-fee engagements and performance-based arrangements represented 74.8%, 21.9% and 3.3%,
respectively, for the comparable period in 2011.

Of the overall $8.5 million decrease in revenues, $8.4 million was attributable to a decrease in revenues from our full-time billable consultants and $0.1 million
related to our full-time equivalents. The overall decrease in revenues reflects lower consultant utilization and average billing rates during the first half of 2012 due
primarily to lower demand for our restructuring and turnaround consulting services.

Operating Income

Financial Consulting segment operating income decreased by $5.8 million to a loss of $0.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to income of
$5.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2011. Segment operating margin decreased to a negative 1.0% for the first half of 2012 from a positive 30.8% in the
same period last year. This segment’s operating margin decreased primarily due to increased salaries and related expense for our revenue-generating professionals
as a percentage of revenues.

Financial Consulting segment leadership is currently executing several initiatives to improve the segment’s financial performance and broaden the segment’s
service offerings. We believe that the services provided by the Financial Consulting segment remain relevant in the marketplace and expect performance to
improve significantly during the second half of 2012 and into 2013. In the event that the segment’s performance does not improve in line with our expectations
during this timeframe, we may be required to perform an interim impairment analysis with respect to the carrying value of goodwill for this reporting unit prior to
our annual test during the fourth quarter, and could be required to take an impairment charge as a result of any such test.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents increased $0.7 million, from $5.1 million at December 31, 2011 to $5.8 million at June 30, 2012. Our primary sources of liquidity are
cash flows from operations and debt capacity available under our credit facility.

Cash flows provided by operating activities totaled $28.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and $32.1 million for the same period last year. Our
operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of receivables from billed and unbilled services, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and accrued payroll and
related benefits. The volume of services rendered and the related billings and timing of collections on those billings, as well as payments of our accounts payable
and salaries, bonuses and benefits to employees affect these account balances. The decrease in cash provided by operations in the first half of 2012 compared to
the first half of 2011 was primarily attributable to lower net income and an increase in the amount paid for the annual performance bonuses during the first quarter
of 2012, partially offset by increased cash collections from customers.

Cash used in investing activities was $45.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012 and $30.7 million for the same period in the prior year. The use of cash
in both periods primarily consisted of payments for businesses acquired in prior periods totaling $32.2 million and $23.9 million in the first half of 2012 and
2011, respectively. These payments for acquired businesses were primarily comprised of additional purchase consideration earned by the selling shareholders of
businesses that we acquired based on the achievement of financial performance targets as specified in the related purchase agreements. The use of cash in the first
half of 2012 and 2011 also included purchases of property and equipment required to meet the ongoing needs relating to the hiring of additional employees and
supporting our operations. We estimate that
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the cash utilized for capital expenditures in 2012 will be approximately $20 million, primarily for information technology related equipment and software and
leasehold improvements. We also expect to continue to invest in capital expenditures related to our document review and processing business for information
technology related equipment and software.

During 2011, the Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries as guarantors entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “2011 Credit
Agreement”) with various financial institutions including Bank of America, N.A., as lender, administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders; JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as lender and syndication agent; PNC Bank, National Association; Harris N.A. and KeyBank National Association as lenders and Co-
Documentation Agents; Fifth Third Bank, The Northern Trust Company, RBS Citizens, N.A., The PrivateBank and Trust Company, FirstMerit Bank, N.A., and
Northbrook Bank & Trust Company as lenders (collectively the “Lenders”); and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities
LLC, as joint lead arrangers and joint book managers. The 2011 Credit Agreement replaces the previous Credit Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2006, and all
subsequent amendments thereto, by and among the Company and the lenders therein.

The 2011 Credit Agreement consisted of a senior secured credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million comprised of a five-year revolving
credit facility (“Revolver”) under which the Company may borrow from time to time up to $150.0 million and a $200.0 million five-year term loan facility
(“Term Loan”). The 2011 Credit Agreement provides for the option to increase the revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to $50 million subject to
certain requirements as defined in the 2011 Credit Agreement. The proceeds of the senior secured credit facility were used to refinance existing indebtedness, and
will continue to be used for working capital, capital expenditures, and other corporate purposes.

The borrowing capacity under the 2011 Credit Agreement is reduced by any outstanding letters of credit and payments under the Term Loan. At June 30, 2012,
outstanding letters of credit totaled $3.9 million and are primarily used as security deposits for our office facilities.

As of June 30, 2012, the borrowing capacity under the 2011 Credit Agreement was $112.6 million. During the first half of 2012, we made borrowings to pay
bonuses and additional purchase consideration earned by selling shareholders of businesses that we acquired. During the first half of 2012, the average daily
outstanding balance under our credit facility was $212.0 million. Borrowings outstanding under this credit facility at June 30, 2012 totaled $213.5 million, all of
which are classified as long-term on our consolidated balance sheet as the principal under the Revolver is not due until 2016 and we intend to fund scheduled
quarterly payments under the Term Loan with availability under the Revolver. These borrowings carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.3% including the
effect of the interest rate swaps described below in “Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.” Borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2011 totaled $193.5 million and carried a weighted average interest rate of 3.3% including the effect of the interest rate swap.

As discussed in Note 7 “Borrowings,” the obligations under the 2011 Credit Agreement are secured pursuant to the Security Agreement and a pledge of 100% of
the voting stock or other equity interests in our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the voting stock or other equity interests in our foreign subsidiaries.

Fees and interest on borrowings vary based on our total debt to EBITDA ratio as set forth in the 2011 Credit Agreement. Interest is based on a spread over
LIBOR or a spread over the base rate, as selected by the Company. The base rate is the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, (b) the Prime Rate and
(c) except during a Eurodollar Unavailability Period, the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.0%.

The Term Loan is subject to scheduled quarterly amortization payments equal to 7.5% of the original principal balance in year one, 10.0% in year two, 12.5% in
years three and four, and 57.5% in year five, as set forth in the 2011 Credit Agreement. The maturity date for the Term Loan is April 14, 2016, at which time the
outstanding principal balance and all accrued interest will be due and payable in full. All outstanding borrowings under the Revolver will be due upon expiration
of the 2011 Credit Agreement on April 14, 2016.

Under the 2011 Credit Agreement, dividends are restricted to an amount up to $10 million plus 50% of cumulative consolidated net income from the closing date
of the 2011 Credit Agreement plus 50% of the net cash proceeds from equity issuances. In addition, certain acquisitions and similar transactions need to be
approved by the lenders.

The 2011 Credit Agreement contains quarterly financial covenants that require us to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.00 and a
maximum leverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 with step-downs in subsequent periods, as those ratios are defined therein, as well as a minimum net worth greater than
$150 million. At June 30, 2012, we were in compliance with these financial covenants with a fixed charge coverage ratio of 3.27 to 1.00, a leverage ratio of 2.32
to 1.00, and net worth greater than $150 million. Furthermore, based upon projected operating results, management believes it is probable that we will meet the
financial debt covenants of the 2011 Credit Agreement discussed above at future covenant measurement dates.
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See “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for a discussion of certain risks and uncertainties related to the
2011 Credit Agreement.

Future Needs

Our primary financing need has been to fund our growth. Our growth strategy is to expand our service offerings, which may require investments in new hires,
acquisitions of complementary businesses, possible expansion into other geographic areas, and related capital expenditures. We also have cash needs to service
our credit facility and repay our Term Loan. Because we expect that our future annual growth rate in revenues and related percentage increases in working capital
balances will moderate, we believe our internally generated liquidity, together with the borrowing capacity available under our revolving credit facility and access
to external capital resources, will be adequate to fund our long-term growth, cash commitments and debt service obligations. Our ability to secure short-term and
long-term financing in the future will depend on several factors, including our future profitability, the quality of our accounts receivable and unbilled services, our
relative levels of debt and equity, and the overall condition of the credit markets.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

For a summary of our commitments to make future payments under contractual obligations, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations – Contractual Obligations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011. There have been no
significant changes in our contractual obligations since December 31, 2011 except as described below:
 

 

•  In connection with certain past business acquisitions, we were required to pay additional purchase consideration to the sellers if specific performance
targets were met over a number of years as specified in the related purchase agreements. During the first half of 2012, we paid additional purchase
consideration of $32.2 million to selling shareholders of businesses that we acquired as financial performance targets were met in 2011. As of June 30,
2012, we have no further obligations under these arrangements.

 

 •  During the first half of 2012, our long-term borrowings increased from $193.5 million as of December 31, 2011 to $213.5 million as of June 30, 2012.
 

 
•  On June 25, 2012, we entered into the Agreement to acquire the assets of AdamsGrayson, a managed review and legal staffing firm based in Washington,

D.C. The Agreement closed, effective July 2, 2012. Under the terms of the Agreement, we acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain
liabilities of AdamsGrayson in exchange for a payment of $21.5 million in cash and deferred payments of $10 million.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income,” which amends current
comprehensive income guidance. This accounting update eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement
of shareholders’ equity. Instead, the Company must report comprehensive income in either a single continuous statement of comprehensive income which
contains two sections, net income and other comprehensive income, or in two separate but consecutive statements. The Company adopted this pronouncement in
the first quarter of 2012. However, ASU 2011-12, “Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05,” has deferred the specific requirement within ASU 2011-05 to present
on the face of the financial statements items that are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income separately with their respective
components of net income and other comprehensive income. ASU 2011-12 would still require companies to report reclassifications out of accumulated other
comprehensive income consistent with the presentation requirements in effect before ASU 2011-05. The Company does not expect the guidance in ASU 2011-12
to impact its Consolidated Financial Statements, as it only requires a change in the format of presentation.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Effective July 2, 2012, the Company completed its acquisition of the assets of AdamsGrayson, a managed review and legal staffing firm based in Washington,
D.C. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and assumed certain liabilities of AdamsGrayson in exchange for an
initial cash payment of $21.5 million and deferred payments of $10.0 million to be paid in equal installments of $5.0 million on the first and second anniversaries
of the closing date.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in interest rates and changes in the market value of our investments.

Our exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to borrowings under our bank credit facility, which has variable interest rates tied to the LIBOR, Federal Funds
Rate, Prime Rate, or Eurodollar Rate. At June 30, 2012, we had borrowings outstanding totaling $213.5 million that carried a weighted average interest rate of
3.3%. A hypothetical one percent change in this interest rate would have a $2.1 million effect on our pre-tax income.

On December 8, 2011, we entered into a forward amortizing interest rate swap agreement effective on February 29, 2012 and ending on April 14, 2016. We
entered into this derivative instrument to continue hedging against the interest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings described above. The swap has an initial
notional amount of $56.6 million and amortizes throughout the term, which effectively fixes the interest rate on 30% of our Term Loan. Under the terms of the
interest rate swap agreement, we receive from the counterparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the counterparty a
fixed rate of 0.9875%.

On May 30, 2012, we entered into an additional forward amortizing interest rate swap agreement effective on May 31, 2012 and ending on April 14, 2016. We
entered into this derivative instrument to further hedge against the interest rate risks of our variable-rate borrowings described above. The swap has an initial
notional amount of $37.0 million and amortizes throughout the term, which effectively fixes the interest rate on an incremental 20% of our Term Loan. Under the
terms of the interest rate swap agreement, we receive from the counterparty interest on the notional amount based on one-month LIBOR and we pay to the
counterparty a fixed rate of 0.70%.

Including the impact of the above swap agreements, the effective interest rate on $90.0 million of our debt was 3.4% as of June 30, 2012.

We have not entered into any other interest rate swaps, caps or collars or other hedging instruments as of June 30, 2012.

From time to time, we invest excess cash in marketable securities. These investments principally consist of overnight sweep accounts. Due to the short maturity
of our investments, we have concluded that we do not have material market risk exposure.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”))
as of June 30, 2012. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2012, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act and such information is accumulated and communicated to management as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the “Exchange Act”)
that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2012 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Restatement Matters

As previously disclosed, on August 17, 2009, we restated our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, as well as the three
months ended March 31, 2009. The restatement related to the accounting for certain acquisition-related payments received by the selling shareholders of four
acquired businesses.
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A class action suit and state and federal derivative suits were filed in connection with the restatement. The class action suit has been settled. In connection with
the class action settlement, plaintiffs received total consideration of approximately $39.6 million, comprised of $27.0 million in cash which was funded in its
entirety by our insurers and the issuance by the Company of 474,547 shares of our common stock with a fair value of $13.7 million on June 6, 2011, the date of
issuance. The total amount of insurance coverage under the related policy was $35.0 million and the insurers had previously paid out approximately $8.0 million
in claims prior to the final $27.0 million cash payment. The settlement contained no admission of wrongdoing. All the derivative suits have now been dismissed
with prejudice, and the plaintiffs’ times to appeal have expired.

On July 19, 2012, the Company announced that it had reached a final settlement with the SEC (the “Company SEC Settlement”) resolving the previously
disclosed investigation by the SEC of matters related to the restatement. In an administrative proceeding, the SEC found that the Company had violated the
reporting, books and records, and internal controls provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, during the restatement period and ordered the
Company to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any future violations of such SEC rules. The Company agreed to the settlement
without admitting or denying any of the SEC’s factual findings. The SEC also imposed a monetary penalty of $1 million on the Company. In the fourth quarter of
2011, we had established a reserve in that amount with respect to this matter.

In connection with the Company SEC Settlement, the SEC considered remedial acts promptly undertaken by the Company and the Company’s cooperation with
the SEC staff during the course of the investigation. Among other things, the Company self-investigated and self-reported the accounting errors, selected new
management, and implemented various additional controls designed to prevent similar errors going forward.

As previously disclosed, certain of our former employees received “Wells notices” from the SEC staff in connection with the matters underlying the restatement.
Wells notices typically indicate that the staff is considering recommending that the SEC bring a civil enforcement action. We are obligated to indemnify these
former employees for their defense costs in connection with responding to the Wells notices, any settlement discussions and the defense of civil enforcement
actions, if any, brought by the SEC against them, subject to certain limitations. In the same administrative proceeding as the Company SEC Settlement, the SEC
also reached settlements with two of these former employees. While the Company is obligated to indemnify these employees for their defense costs, the Company
is not obligated to reimburse them for the monetary penalties imposed on them by the SEC in connection with the settlements. Following the settlements reached
with these two employees, we do not expect to incur additional material indemnity costs for former employees. As previously disclosed, shortly after the filing of
our restated financial statements in 2009 the United States Attorney’s office (“USAO”) contacted our counsel and made a telephonic request for copies of certain
documents that we previously had provided to the SEC, which we then voluntarily provided to the USAO. We have received no further communications from the
USAO since then.

As a result of the final payment by the insurance carriers in connection with the class action settlement, we will not receive any further contributions from our
insurance carriers for the reimbursement of any amounts with respect to the Company SEC Settlement (including legal fees or monetary penalties) or the
Company’s indemnification obligations to its former employees. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, expenses incurred in connection with the
restatement totaled $0.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2011, expenses incurred in connection with the
restatement totaled $1.8 million and $3.0 million, respectively. In both the 2012 and 2011 periods, restatement related expenses were primarily comprised of legal
fees and indemnification obligations for legal fees. All legal fees are expensed as incurred.

Qui Tam Action

On December 9, 2009, plaintiff, Associates Against Outlier Fraud, filed a first amended qui tam complaint against Huron Consulting Group Inc., and others under
the federal and New York state False Claims Act (“FCA”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The federal and state FCA
authorize private individuals (known as “relators”) to sue on behalf of the government (known as “qui tam” actions) alleging that false or fraudulent claims were
knowingly submitted to the government. Once a qui tam action is filed, the government may elect to intervene in the action. If the government declines to
intervene, the relator may proceed with the action. Under the federal and state FCA, the government may recover treble damages and civil penalties (civil
penalties of up to $11,000 per violation under the federal FCA and $12,000 per violation under the state FCA). On January 6, 2010, the United States declined to
intervene in the lawsuit. After the Court granted Huron’s motion to dismiss without prejudice, on September 29, 2010, relator filed a second amended complaint
alleging that Huron and others caused St. Vincent Catholic Medical Center to receive more than $30 million in inflated outlier payments under the Medicare and
Medicaid programs in violation of the federal and state FCA and is also seeking to recover an unspecified amount of civil penalties. On June 18, 2012, Huron
filed a Summary
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Judgment motion for dismissal of the action in its entirety which is currently pending. We have conducted preliminary settlement discussions with the relator, and
as a result we recorded a charge of $1.2 million in the second quarter of 2012, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450 “Contingencies”. No trial date has been
set. We believe that the claims are without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this matter.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, we are not a party to or threatened with any other litigation or legal proceeding that, in the current opinion of management, could have a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results of operations. However, due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in legal proceedings, actual results could differ from
current expected results.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

See “Risk Factors” in our 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete description of the material risks we face.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Our 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan permits the netting of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock awards to satisfy individual tax withholding requirements.
During the quarter ended June 30, 2012, we re-acquired 2,544 shares of common stock with a weighted average fair market value of $36.29 as a result of such tax
withholdings as presented in the table below.
 

Period   

Total Number of
Shares Withheld to
Satisfy Employee
Tax Withholding

Requirements    

Weighted
Average Fair
Market Value

Per Share
Withheld    

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs   

Maximum
Number of Shares
that May Yet Be

Purchased Under
the Plans or
Programs

April 2012    1,152    $ 37.56    N/A   N/A
May 2012    1,392    $ 35.24    N/A   N/A
June 2012    —      $ —      N/A   N/A

    
 

    
 

      

Total    2,544    $ 36.29    N/A   N/A
    

 

    

 

       
N/A – Not applicable.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.
 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 

(a) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
      Filed

here-
with  

  Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number   Exhibit Description     Form   

Period
Ending    Exhibit   

Filing
Date

    3.1
  

Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Huron
Consulting Group Inc.     10-K    12/31/04    3.1   2/16/05

    3.2   Amended and Restated Bylaws of Huron Consulting Group Inc.     8-K     3.1   04/14/11

    4.1   Specimen Stock Certificate.     S-1 (File No. 333-115434)    4.1   10/5/04

  10.1

  

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 25, 2012, by and among Huron
Consulting Group Inc. and the shareholders of Adams Grayson listed on the
signature pages thereto.   

 X  

        

  31.1

  

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.   

 X  

        

  31.2

  

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.   

 X  

        

  32.1

  

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.   

 X  

        

  32.2

  

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.   

 X  

        

101.INS*   XBRL Instance Document    X          

101.SCH*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document    X          

101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document    X          

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document    X          

101.PRE*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document    X          

101.DEF*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document    X          
 
* XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of

sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and otherwise is not
subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

   Huron Consulting Group Inc.
   (Registrant)

Date:  July 30, 2012   /s/ C. Mark Hussey
   C. Mark Hussey
   Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.1

EXECUTION VERSION

Asset Purchase Agreement

by and among

Adams Grayson Corporation,

LegalSource, LLC,

Paul Jeon,

Caleb King,

Peter Gronvall and

Huron Consulting Group Inc.

Dated as of June 25, 2012
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this 25th day of June, 2012 by and among Huron Consulting Group Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“Buyer”), Adams Grayson Corporation, a District of Columbia corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiary LegalSource, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Seller”), and Paul Jeon, Caleb King and Peter Gronvall (each a “Stockholder” and, together, the “Stockholders”).

WHEREAS, Seller is engaged in the business of providing support and managed solutions for law firms and other businesses in the areas of e-
discovery and litigation and antitrust project management (the “Business”); and

WHEREAS, Seller desires to sell and assign to Buyer, and Buyer desires to purchase and assume from Seller, certain assets, rights and obligations
related to the Business on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each party, the parties, intending legally to be bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I: CERTAIN MATTERS OF CONSTRUCTION AND DEFINITIONS

1.1 Construction and Definitions. Certain matters of construction of this Agreement and the definition of capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise
defined in Article I through Article XII are set forth on Schedule I.

ARTICLE II: PURCHASE AND SALE OF ACQUIRED ASSETS

2.1 Purchase and Sale of Acquired Assets. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the Closing Date, Seller agrees to
sell, transfer, convey, assign and deliver to Buyer (or an Affiliate of Buyer designated by Buyer), and Buyer agrees to purchase and accept (directly or through an
Affiliate of Buyer designated by Buyer) from Seller, all of Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under all of the assets, properties, rights and claims of every
kind and description of Seller (other than the Excluded Assets), whether real or personal, tangible or intangible, vested or unvested, contingent or otherwise,
wherever located, and all goodwill associated therewith (collectively, the “Acquired Assets”), in each case, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens,
including (without limitation):

(a) Purchased Contracts. All of Seller’s right, title and interest in, to, and under Contracts, including the Contracts set forth on Schedule 2.1(a) (the
“Purchased Contracts”);

(b) Prepaid Expenses. All prepaid expenses of the Business as of the Closing Date;



(c) Intellectual Property. (i) All Intellectual Property, including the names “ADAMSGRAYSON” and “LEGALSOURCE”, the logos associated
therewith, and the other Intellectual Property set forth on Schedule 2.1(c), (ii) all documentation and media constituting, describing or relating to such Intellectual
Property, including memoranda, models, diagrams, manuals, technical specifications and other records wherever and whenever created, and (iii) the right to sue
for past, present, or future infringement and to collect and retain all damages and profits related to the foregoing;

(d) Accounts Receivable and WIP. All Accounts Receivable and WIP as of the Closing Date.

(e) Goodwill. All goodwill and general intangibles (the “Goodwill”) associated with the name, assets, properties and rights of Seller or the Business
and all of Seller’s rights (both legal and equitable) to protect its rights and interests;

(f) Certain Equipment and Personal Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.2(e), all equipment and personal property, including, without
limitation, all servers, data storage devices, systems, networks and other computer assets, hardware, equipment, furniture, supplies, fixtures and other tangible
personal property used in the Business, including laptop computers and all technology underlying or enabling Internet sites, systems or networks;

(g) Permits. All Permits and applications therefor held by Seller that may legally be transferred to Buyer;

(h) E-mail Addresses, Websites and Telephone Systems. All e-mail addresses, websites, telephone systems and telephone numbers used in
connection with the Business;

(i) Causes of Action, etc. All claims, causes of action and choses in action, other than those described in Section 2.2(i);

(j) Business Proprietary Information. All Business Proprietary Information, including, without limitation, one or more lists and / or databases of
temporary employees and / or contractors identified as potential providers of services of the Business (the “Reviewer Database”);

(k) Records and Documentation. All books, records (including financial and accounting records), lists of Customers and prospective customers of the
Business, files, working papers, analytical models, work product, correspondence, memoranda and other documentation related to the Business or otherwise
related to the assets referred to in this Section 2.1 or the Assumed Liabilities, including any Confidential Records and any item stored in electronic format, in
computer or any other means or media; and

(l) Restrictive Covenant Agreements. To the extent assignable, all of Seller’s right, title and interest in, to and under any confidentiality,
nondisclosure, noncompetition, nonsolicitation, ownership of work product and other restrictive covenants made by any
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employee or service provider of Seller for the benefit of Seller. Schedule 2.1(l) sets forth a list of all confidentiality, nondisclosure, noncompetition,
nonsolicitation, ownership of work product and other restrictive covenants made by any employee or service provider of Seller for the benefit of Seller which are
not assignable.

2.2 Excluded Assets. The purchase of the Acquired Assets by Buyer and sale of the Acquired Assets by Seller contemplated by this Agreement shall not
include any of the following assets (which assets shall be referred to as the “Excluded Assets” and shall not constitute part of the Acquired Assets for any
purpose):

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents. Any cash or cash equivalents of Seller;

(b) Marketable Securities. Any marketable securities of Seller;

(c) Certain Contracts. All Contracts set forth on Schedule 2.2(c) (the “Excluded Contracts”);

(d) Employee Benefit Plans. Any rights, books or records in connection with, or assets of, any Employee Benefit Plans;

(e) Certain Equipment and Personal Property. Any equipment, furniture, supplies, fixtures, or other tangible personal property used in the Business
and set forth on Schedule 2.2(e);

(f) Certain Claims. Any claims, causes of action and choses in action to the extent (i) solely related to any asset described in Sections 2.2(a) through
2.2(e) above and necessary for Seller to get the benefit of such asset; (ii) available as a defense, counterclaim, cross-claim, offset or third-party claim in
connection with any Excluded Liability relating to events occurring prior to the Closing Date; (iii) related to work performed by Seller prior to the Closing Date
under Excluded Contracts and not related to any Accounts Receivable or WIP; or (iv) related to any rights of Seller under this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents;

(g) Affiliates. Seller’s ownership interest in (i) Adams Grayson FRS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and (ii) Adams Grayson Enterprises,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; and

(h) Certain Receivables. Seller’s rights with respect to all amounts due and owing to Seller from Dewey & LeBouef LLP.

2.3 Liabilities.

(a) Assumed Liabilities. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, Buyer agrees, effective as of the Closing, to assume (i) all
accounts payable of Seller as of the Closing Date which are related to the Acquired Assets and were incurred in the ordinary course of the Business, and (ii) all
liabilities and obligations of Seller under any Purchased Contract required to be performed after the Closing Date, to the extent that any such liabilities
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and obligations accrue and first arise after the close of business on the Closing Date for reasons other than any breach, violation, failure to perform or default by
Seller (excluding Excluded Liabilities and any liability relating to work performed prior to the close of business on the Closing Date or any other liability which
arose or accrued on or prior to the close of business on the Closing Date) (the “Assumed Liabilities”).

(b) Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement or any other writing to the contrary, Buyer is assuming only the Assumed
Liabilities and is not assuming any other liability or obligation of whatever nature, whether presently in existence or arising hereafter, including any other
liabilities of Seller (or any predecessor of Seller or any current or prior owner of all or part of its businesses and assets) (all such liabilities and obligations not
being assumed being herein referred to as the “Excluded Liabilities”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Agreement, the term “Excluded Liabilities” includes:

(i) all liabilities or obligations of Seller owing to any Affiliates, Stockholders, directors, officers, employees, former employees, independent
contractors, agents, representatives or other personnel of Seller or its agents or representatives;

(ii) all liabilities or obligations relating to any compensation or benefits of, to or with respect to any current or former director, officer,
partner, principal, manager, employee, independent contractor, consultant, agent, representative or other personnel (hereinafter “personnel”) of Seller or any
Employee Benefit Plans, including in respect of worker’s compensation, wage and hour, independent contractor misclassification, civil rights, discrimination or
other claims, charges or complaints brought by any Person (including any Governmental Entity) in connection with labor and employment Laws or otherwise
relating to employment by, or provision of services to, Seller, and including all retirement, severance, deferred compensation, incentive, stock option, vacation,
bonus, commission, unemployment, partnership or other payments, distributions or benefits payable to or accrued in favor of such Persons, whether or not
pursuant to any Employee Benefit Plans and whether or not such Persons become Transferred Personnel or otherwise obtain employment with Buyer or an
Affiliate of Buyer;

(iii) all liabilities or obligations relating to any Excluded Asset;

(iv) all liabilities or obligations relating to Seller’s issuance or endorsement of any check, note, draft or instrument;

(v) all liabilities or obligations relating to any claim of any third party arising out of the ownership or operation of the Business or the
Acquired Assets prior to the Closing;

(vi) all liabilities or obligations of Seller or the Stockholders for Taxes, including all liabilities or obligations of Seller or the Stockholders for
Taxes of any Person (other than Seller or the Stockholders) under Treas. Reg. Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of Law), as a transferee or successor by
contract, or otherwise;
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(vii) all liabilities or obligations related to the Bank Debt; and

(viii) all liabilities or obligations arising from or relating to the rights of the holders of any shares of capital stock or any other equity interest
of Seller or any phantom equity or any options, warrants, subscriptions or other rights, calls or commitments to issue, or any obligations or commitments to
purchase, any capital stock or other equity interest of Seller or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any of the capital stock or other equity interest
of Seller.

ARTICLE III: CLOSING; THE PURCHASE PRICE; ALLOCATION

3.1 Closing. The closing of the sale and purchase of the Acquired Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities (the “Closing”) shall take place at
the offices of McDermott Will & Emery LLP, in Chicago, Illinois, or such other location as agreed to by Buyer and Seller, at a time and date to be specified by
Buyer and Seller, which shall be no later than the second Business Day after the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article VIII (other than
conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions at Closing), or at such other time, date
and location as Buyer and Seller agree in writing (the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall be effective as of 12:01 am on the Closing Date. Seller and Buyer shall
conduct the Closing in a way that shall not require personal attendance at the offices of McDermott Will & Emery LLP.

3.2 Purchase Price.

(a) Purchase Price. As consideration for the purchase of the Acquired Assets, and in addition to assuming the Assumed Liabilities, subject to the
terms and conditions hereof, Buyer shall pay to Seller, by wire transfer in immediately available funds to the account set forth in Exhibit A or any other account
communicated by Seller to Buyer in writing no later than two (2) Business Days prior to the applicable payment date, the amounts listed in (b) through (d) below
(as adjusted in accordance with and subject to Section 3.3, the “Purchase Price”).

(b) Closing Date Payment. On the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay to Seller an initial amount (the “Closing Date Payment”) equal to:

(i) Twenty One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($21,500,000) plus the Closing Adjustment Amount, if the Estimated Net Working
Capital Amount is greater than the Net Working Capital Threshold; or

(ii) Twenty One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($21,500,000) minus the Closing Adjustment Amount, if the Estimated Net
Working Capital Amount is less than the Net Working Capital Threshold; or

(iii) Twenty One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($21,500,000), if the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount is equal to the Net
Working Capital Threshold.
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For such purposes, the “Closing Adjustment Amount” shall equal the difference (expressed as a positive number), if any, between the Net Working Capital
Threshold and the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount.

(c) Closing First Anniversary Payment. On the first anniversary of the Closing Date, and subject to Buyer’s right of setoff pursuant to Section 12.9
hereof, Buyer shall pay to Seller the amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) together with interest from the Closing Date until the date on which payment is
due, which shall accrue from the Closing Date until the date of payment at an annual rate equal to the Prime Rate. If the payment is not paid when due, then
interest shall accrue on such unpaid amount at a rate per annum equal to twelve percent (12%).

(d) Closing Second Anniversary Payment. On the second anniversary of the Closing Date, and subject to Buyer’s right of setoff pursuant to
Section 12.9 hereof, Buyer shall pay to Seller the amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) together with interest from the Closing Date until the date on
which payment is due, which shall accrue from the Closing Date until the date of payment at an annual rate equal to the Prime Rate. If the payment is not paid
when due, then interest shall accrue on such unpaid amount at a rate per annum equal to twelve percent (12%).

3.3 Adjustments to Purchase Price.

(a) Delivery of Closing Statement. Seller shall prepare and deliver to Buyer not less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date a
reasonable good faith estimate of the Net Working Capital Amount as of the Closing Date setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for such determination (the
“Closing Statement”). Such estimate shall be subject to reasonable approval by Buyer (such estimate, when so approved, the “Estimated Net Working Capital
Amount”). Seller shall provide to Buyer such additional back-up or supporting data relating to the preparation of the Closing Statement and the calculation of the
Estimated Net Working Capital Amount as Buyer may reasonably request.

(b) Delivery of Post-Closing Statement. In no event later than forty-five (45) days after the Closing Date, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller a
statement of Buyer’s determination of the Net Working Capital Amount as of the Closing Date (the “Actual Net Working Capital Amount”), setting forth in
reasonable detail the basis for such determination (the “Post-Closing Statement”). Buyer shall provide to Seller such additional back-up or supporting data
relating to the preparation of the Post-Closing Statement and the calculation of the Actual Net Working Capital Amount reflected thereon as Seller may
reasonably request.

(c) Acceptance Period; Delivery of Dispute Notice. Seller may, within fifteen (15) days following receipt of the Post-Closing Statement, provide
Buyer with written notice (a “Dispute Notice”) of its disagreement with the calculation of the Actual Net Working Capital Amount reflected on the Post-Closing
Statement. If no such notice is delivered to Buyer by Seller within such period, the Post-Closing Statement and the calculation of the Actual Net Working Capital
Amount reflected thereon shall be binding upon the parties hereto. A Dispute
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Notice shall set forth Seller’s determination of the Actual Net Working Capital Amount and, in reasonable detail, the basis for such determination, and shall
specify the specific areas of Seller’s disagreement with the Post-Closing Statement and the reasons therefor. Any items set forth on the Post-Closing Statement
that Seller does not specify in the Dispute Notice that it disagrees with shall be deemed final and shall be binding upon the parties hereto. Buyer and Seller shall
endeavor in good faith to resolve any such disagreement within fifteen (15) days (the “Negotiating Period”) following the delivery by Seller of such Dispute
Notice. Any resolution (including any partial resolution) of such a disagreement shall be set forth in a writing executed by Buyer and Seller, and any such
resolution shall be binding on the parties hereto.

(d) Determination of Disputes by Neutral Firm. If Buyer and Seller are unable to completely resolve any such disagreement within the Negotiating
Period, the unresolved issues (the “Working Capital Dispute”) shall be promptly submitted for resolution to Grant Thornton LLP or, if Grant Thornton LLP is
unable or unwilling to serve in such capacity, a recognizable, reputable and impartial certified public accounting firm that is mutually acceptable to Buyer and
Seller (the “Neutral Firm”). If Buyer and Seller cannot agree upon a Neutral Firm within ten (10) days, the Washington, DC office of the American Arbitration
Association shall choose a recognized, reputable and impartial certified public accounting firm (other than a firm that has provided services within the past five
(5) years to Buyer, Seller or any of their respective Affiliates) to act as the Neutral Firm. The parties shall instruct the Neutral Firm to (A) promptly (and, to the
extent practicable, no later than sixty (60) days after the Neutral Firm’s receipt of such instructions) determine (it being understood that in making such
determination, the Neutral Firm shall be functioning as an expert and not as an arbitrator), based solely on written submissions by Seller and Buyer, and not by
independent review, only those issues in dispute and (B) render a written report as to the resolution of the Working Capital Dispute which, absent manifest error,
shall be conclusive and binding on the parties. In resolving any Working Capital Dispute, the Neutral Firm (x) shall be instructed to comply with the provisions of
this Section 3.3(d) and (y) may not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such items claimed by either party or less than the smallest value
for such items claimed by either party. Neither Buyer nor Seller (or any of their respective Affiliates or representatives) shall have any ex parte communications
or meetings with the Neutral Firm without reasonable prior notice (which notice shall provide the other party a reasonable opportunity to participate in such
communications or meetings), to Buyer (in the case of Seller) or Seller (in the case of Buyer). The fees and expenses of the Neutral Firm shall be borne one-half
(1/2) by Buyer, on the one hand, and one-half (1/2) by Seller, on the other hand.

(e) Post-Closing Reconciliation.

(i) If the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount is greater than the Actual Net Working Capital Amount as finally determined pursuant to
Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(d), as the case may be, the Reconciliation Payment minus any Reimbursable Amounts shall be paid by Seller to Buyer. If the
Estimated Net Working Capital Amount is less than the Actual Net Working Capital Amount as finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(d), as
the case may be, the Reconciliation Payment plus any Reimbursable Amounts shall be paid by Buyer to Seller. If the Actual Net Working Capital Amount as
finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(d), as the case may be, is equal to the Estimated Net Working
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Capital Amount, unless there are Reimbursable Amounts owed by Buyer to Seller, no payment shall be required under this Section 3.3(e). In either event,
payment of the Reconciliation Payment shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds within five (5) days of the date in which the Actual Net
Working Capital Amount is finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(d), as the case may be. The “Reconciliation Payment” shall be equal to
the difference (expressed as a positive number), if any, between the Estimated Net Working Capital Amount and the Actual Net Working Capital Amount as
finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(d), as the case may be.

(ii) If the Reconciliation Payment is not paid when such amount is due, then interest shall accrue on such unpaid amount at a rate per
annum equal to twelve percent (12%). The Reconciliation Payment shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account(s) as the
recipient designates by written notice at least two (2) days prior to the date such payment is due.

3.4 Purchase Price Payment. All payments of the Purchase Price to Seller (net of Seller’s costs, expenses and Taxes related to the sale of the Business)
required to be made pursuant to Section 3.2 or 3.3 hereof are to be allocated among and between each Stockholder based on such Stockholder’s relative
percentage of ownership of Adams Grayson Corporation common stock as of the Closing Date, as set forth on Schedule 3.4,

3.5 Allocation. Seller and Buyer hereby agree that the Purchase Price shall be allocated to the Acquired Assets in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code
and substantially in the manner set forth on Exhibit G (the “Allocation”). Buyer shall submit a proposed Allocation to Seller which may reflect post-Closing third
party valuation advice not more than thirty (30) days after the Closing, and such proposed Allocation shall be subject to consent from Seller, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld. Seller shall have thirty (30) days from notice of such proposed Allocation to object thereto. Any such objection shall be made by
written notice and shall specify, in reasonable detail, the specific areas of Seller’s disagreement with Buyer’s proposed Allocation and the reasons therefor. Any
items of Buyer’s proposed Allocation that Seller does not timely object to in accordance with the preceding sentence shall be deemed final and shall be binding
upon the parties hereto. Buyer and Seller shall report, act and file Tax Returns (including, but not limited to Internal Revenue Service Form 8594) in all respects
and for all purposes consistent with the Allocation. Upon payment of any amounts pursuant to Article IX (which shall be treated for Tax purposes as an
adjustment to the Purchase Price), Buyer and Seller shall allocate such amounts pursuant to Article IX in accordance with the Allocation, and the parties shall
mutually prepare, file and deliver on a timely basis IRS Form 8594 consistent with such Allocation. If any Tax authority challenges such allocation, the party
receiving notice of such challenge shall give the other prompt written notice thereof and the parties shall use their commercially-reasonable efforts to preserve the
effectiveness of such Allocation. No party hereto shall take any position (whether in audits, Tax Returns or otherwise) that is inconsistent with the Allocation
unless required to do so by applicable Law. Any dispute related to the Allocation shall be decided in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 3.3(d).
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ARTICLE IV: REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as of the date hereof and as of the Closing that:

4.1 Organization and Qualification. Seller is duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization.
Seller has delivered to Buyer true, complete and correct copies of its articles of incorporation and bylaws as in effect. Seller has all requisite corporate power and
authority to conduct the Business as presently conducted and to own and lease its properties and assets. Schedule 4.1 sets forth each jurisdiction in which the
ownership or lease of property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification, and Seller is qualified to do business as a foreign entity and is in good
standing in each such jurisdiction.

4.2 Authorization. Seller has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which Seller is a
party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to
which Seller is a party have been duly authorized and approved by the Stockholders and the board of directors or similar governing body of Seller, which
constitute all necessary actions. This Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party have been or will have been, as the case may be, duly
executed and delivered by Seller, and (assuming that this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a party have been duly authorized,
executed and delivered by Buyer) constitute or will constitute, as the case may be, legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable against Seller in
accordance with their terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws of general
applicability affecting the rights of creditors and by general equitable principles (the “Enforceability Exception”).

4.3 No Violations or Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of, or performance under, this Agreement or the Transaction Documents by Seller nor
the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents does or will (i) violate any provision of its articles
of incorporation or bylaws, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute a failure to perform, default or an event of default under, or give rise to a right to
terminate, accelerate or modify (any such violation, breach, failure to perform, default or event of default or other event or circumstance giving rise to a right to
terminate, accelerate or modify shall hereinafter be referred to as a “default”) any indenture, mortgage, bond, contract, license, lease, agreement, Permit,
instrument or other obligation to which it is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its properties or any of the Acquired Assets is subject, (iii) violate
any Law, writ, judgment, injunction or court decree to which it or its properties is subject, (iv) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any Acquired
Asset or (v) result in any party having the right to obtain an injunction barring the performance of any or all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
or the Transaction Documents.

4.4 Consents and Approvals. Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.4, no consent, approval or authorization of, or declaration, filing or registration
with, any Governmental Entity or any other Person is required to be made or obtained by Seller in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this
Agreement or the applicable Transaction Documents by Seller or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
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4.5 Ownership. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.5(a), Seller does not own, of record or beneficially, directly or indirectly, any shares of capital stock or
other comparable equity interest of any Person. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.5(b), Seller does not have, and has never had, any subsidiaries. Seller is not a
party to any agreement relating to the formation of any other Person, and Seller does not have any contractual right or obligation to acquire any direct or indirect
equity or ownership interest in or provide financial support to any other Person. LegalSource, LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Adams Grayson Corporation.

4.6 Capitalization. Schedule 4.6 sets forth a true, correct and complete list, as of the date hereof, of (a) all of the stockholders of Seller including, if
applicable, any holder of any beneficial interest in any stockholder of Seller, the number of shares of Seller’s capital stock, by class, held by each stockholder, and
the related ownership percentage of each such stockholder in Seller, and (b) all outstanding options, warrants, subscriptions or other rights, calls or commitments
to issue, or any obligation or commitments to purchase, any capital stock or other equity interest or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any of the
capital stock or other equity interest of Seller, including the names of holders of such rights and the exercise prices and vesting thereof.

4.7 Financial Statements.

(a) Seller has previously delivered to Buyer the Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements, which Financial Statements are attached
hereto as Schedule 4.7(a)(i) and which Interim Financial Statements are attached hereto as Schedule 4.7(a)(ii). The Financial Statements and the Interim Financial
Statements have been prepared on a consistent basis (except, in the case of Interim Financial Statements, for the absence of footnotes) and fairly present in all
material respects the financial position, results of operations, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity of Seller as of the dates and for the periods presented
therein.

(b) Any projections provided by Seller to Buyer were prepared by Seller in good faith. Such projections were prepared on the basis of the
assumptions set forth therein, which Seller believes are fair and reasonable in light of the historical financial performance of Seller and of current and reasonably
foreseeable business conditions.

(c) All books, records and accounts of Seller are accurate and complete and are maintained in all material respects in accordance with good business
practice and all Laws. Seller maintains systems of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that: (i) transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements
on a consistent basis and to maintain accountability for the Acquired Assets.
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4.8 Assets.

(a) Seller has good and marketable title to all of the Acquired Assets, free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens, excepting leased or
licensed assets, as to which Seller has good and marketable title to the leasehold interest or license. The balance sheet included in the Interim Financial
Statements (as of its date) accurately and completely reflects the Acquired Assets and the Assumed Liabilities. Upon consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, Buyer will have acquired good and marketable title in and to, or, in the case of assets which are leased or licensed pursuant to Purchased
Contracts, a valid leasehold interest or license in, each of the Acquired Assets, free and clear of all Liens other than the Assumed Liabilities. All tangible property
included in the Acquired Assets is in good condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and is in adequate operating condition for the purposes for which it is used
by Seller in the Business.

(b) The Acquired Assets include all right, title and interest in, under and to all of the assets that are used in or that are otherwise necessary to the
operation of the Business, and are sufficient for the continued conduct of the Business after the Closing Date in the same manner as the Business is currently
being conducted by Seller, and as currently contemplated to be conducted by Seller. No part of the Business is operated by any Person other than Seller. Schedule
4.8 sets forth a list of substantially all equipment and personal property used in the conduct of the Business.

4.9 Accounts Receivable and WIP. Set forth on Schedule 4.9 is a true, complete and correct list of (i) all Accounts Receivable with respect to services
rendered by the Business and billed for by Seller as of May 31, 2012 and the aging thereof and (ii) all WIP as of May 31, 2012. All Accounts Receivable and WIP
have arisen in connection with bona fide transactions and in respect of services performed in a professional manner in accordance with the terms of the relevant
engagement. All Accounts Receivable and WIP have been recorded in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. Seller has sent invoices to
each Customer listed on Schedule 4.9 for the full amount of all Accounts Receivable listed thereon with respect to such Customer. There is no claim (or any basis
for any claim) for nonpayment or offset of any Accounts Receivable or portion thereof, and the Accounts Receivable are collectible in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice. When any WIP is billed in the ordinary course of business there will be no claim (or any basis for any claim) for
nonpayment or offset of such WIP or any portion thereof, and all such WIP will be collectible in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.
Except as expressly provided for in the applicable Purchased Contract or as set forth on Schedule 4.9, Seller has not granted, or agreed to grant, any rebates,
concessions, discounts, write-offs or allowances with respect to any Accounts Receivable, WIP or with respect to any current Customer engagements or proposed
engagements.

4.10 Undisclosed Liabilities; Solvency. Seller has no liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, contingent, known or unknown or otherwise), claims,
obligations or other Liens, except as disclosed on the balance sheet included in the Interim Financial Statements or on Schedule 4.10 and except for immaterial
liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), claims, obligations or other Liens incurred in Seller’s ordinary course of business consistent with
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past practice. Schedule 4.10 sets forth, separately, (a) a true, correct and complete list of all outstanding loans, lines of credit and other indebtedness incurred by
Seller, the repayment obligations for which are secured by any of Seller’s assets, (b) a true, correct and complete list of all other outstanding loans, lines of credit
and other indebtedness incurred by Seller, and (c) with respect to each loan described in the foregoing clauses (a) and (b), the amounts due thereunder. Seller is
not a party to any bankruptcy proceedings, whether voluntary or involuntary or actual or threatened, and has not made an assignment of its assets for the benefit
of any creditor or otherwise. Seller is solvent, and immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, Seller will be solvent.

4.11 Absence of Certain Changes. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.11, since January 1, 2011, Seller has conducted its operations and affairs only in the
ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice, including with respect to billing and collection of fees, and has not (a) suffered any material adverse
change in its business, operations, prospects or financial condition, (b) incurred any indebtedness (whether material, immaterial, contingent or otherwise) for
borrowed money or guaranteed, assumed or endorsed the obligations of any other Person, (c) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practice, sold, assigned, leased, transferred or otherwise disposed of any assets, (d) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, sold,
assigned, licensed or abandoned any Intellectual Property, (e) settled or compromised any action, suit or proceeding, whether administrative, civil or criminal, in
law or in equity, or before any Governmental Entity, (f) made any capital expenditures or commitments therefor outside the ordinary course of business consistent
with past practice in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) individually, or Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) in the aggregate, (g) made any change in any
method of accounting or accounting principle, method, estimate or practice, (h) amended or modified its articles of incorporation or bylaws or any other charter
documents, (i) increased the compensation payable or to become payable to any personnel of Seller, except in accordance with pre-existing contractual
obligations, (j) mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any Lien, other than Permitted Liens, any of the Acquired Assets, or any part thereof, (k) taken any other
action that would have required the advance written consent of Buyer pursuant to Section 7.1 had such action been taken after the date of this Agreement, or
(l) agreed or committed to do any of the foregoing.

4.12 Customer Relations.

(a) To Seller’s knowledge, all relationships between Seller and its Customers are, and will continue to be, good. All services and other work
performed by Seller for its Customers has been done in accordance with the terms agreed to by Seller and the Customer, whether a Contract or commitment, and
whether oral or written. Seller has not received any notice (formal or informal, oral or written) from any Customer who is a Customer of Seller pursuant to any
Purchased Contract of an intention to materially reduce or terminate its relationship with Seller, and Seller has not engaged in any material renegotiation of the
terms of any contract between Seller and any such Customer which terms are not yet reflected in the Purchased Contracts. To Seller’s knowledge, no investigation
or examination of any Account Receivable or performance of Seller is currently being conducted by any Person who at any time has been a Customer of Seller,
and no such investigation or examination has been threatened.
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(b) Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.12(b), Seller does not provide any services to (i) any corporation, partnership, or limited liability
company that has any class of equity securities that is traded on any stock exchange in the United States, or (ii) any Governmental Entity.

4.13 Contracts and Commitments. Schedule 4.13(a) sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all Customer and vendor contracts and subcontracts,
contracts with independent contractors, co-marketing, alliance, joint venture or partnership agreements, real property and personal property leases and other
contracts, whether written or oral, of the Business as of the date hereof (as they may be amended or reformed, collectively, the “Contracts”), provided, that none
of the following Contracts (other than Customer contracts, teaming, co-marketing, alliance, joint venture or partnership agreements, agreements with
subcontractors or personnel of Seller, real property leases and subleases) are required to be identified on Schedule 4.13(a): (1) any Contract that does not involve
the payment or receipt of at least Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) annually or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) in the aggregate; or (2) any Contract relating solely
to an Excluded Asset. In the case of oral Contracts, Schedule 4.13(a) sets forth a true, complete and correct summary in reasonable detail of the terms and
conditions of all such Contracts. All Contracts (i) between Seller and any Affiliate of Seller, (ii) which contain exclusivity or referral fee provisions and/or
(iii) which place restrictions on Seller or any other Person (including restrictions on the ability to engage in any business in any place or to solicit customers or
solicit Persons for employment or as independent contractors) are listed on Schedule 4.13(b) and are identified as such, and in the case of the restrictions
described in the foregoing clause (iii), such restrictions are summarized in reasonable detail on Schedule 4.13(b). Except as set forth on Schedule 4.13(c), Seller is
not in default or breach of any of the Contracts, and, to Seller’s knowledge, no other party to any of the Contracts is in default or breach of any Contract. Each
Contract is in full force and effect. Seller has delivered to Buyer a true, complete and correct copy of each written Contract and a written summary of each oral
Contract. Seller has not assigned, delegated or otherwise transferred, or entered into any agreement to so assign, delegate or otherwise transfer, any of its rights or
obligations with respect to any Acquired Asset. Schedule 4.13(d) sets forth a true, complete and correct list and summary of each outstanding proposal by Seller
to provide services to any third party. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.13(d), there have been no oral or written changes to any such proposal.

4.14 Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.14, there has been, and there currently is, no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, claim, hearing,
investigation or proceeding pending or, to Seller’s knowledge, threatened, against Seller (or any Affiliate, or any current or former personnel of Seller, relating to
the business of Seller or its Affiliates), in any court, by any Governmental Entity or any other Person or before any arbitrator or other tribunal and, to Seller’s
knowledge, there is no reasonable basis for any such civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, claim, hearing, investigation or proceeding. Seller has not been
and is not currently subject to any action, order, writ, judgment, injunction or decree of any Governmental Entity and, to Seller’s knowledge, there is no
reasonable basis for Seller to become subject to any such action, order, writ, judgment, injunction or decree by any Governmental Entity.
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4.15 Intellectual Property. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.15, Seller does not own any (i) Patents, (ii) Marks, (iii) Copyrights, (iv) Domain Names,
(v) unregistered Marks or (vi) Software. Where applicable, the following is provided for each item listed on Schedule 4.15: the registration number, the serial
number or other identification, the applicable jurisdiction, and the registration or application date.

(a) Schedule 4.15(a) contains a true, complete and correct list of all licenses, sublicenses or agreements or instruments involving the Intellectual
Property of Seller, including (i) licenses by Seller to any Person of any Intellectual Property, and (ii) all licenses by any other Person to Seller of any Intellectual
Property (except with respect to generally available “off-the-shelf” software) (each a “License”). Each such License is a valid and binding agreement enforceable
in accordance with its terms. With respect to each License, there is no default (or event that with the giving of notice or passage of time could constitute a default)
by Seller or, to Seller’s knowledge, the other party thereto. There are no pending claims with respect to any License and, to Seller’s knowledge, no such claims
have been threatened.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.15(b), no Person other than Seller has any right or interest of any kind or nature in or with respect to the
Intellectual Property, or any portion thereof, or any rights to sell, license, lease, transfer or use or otherwise exploit the Intellectual Property or any portion thereof.

(c) Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.15(c), none of Seller, the conduct of the Business by Seller, or the Intellectual Property of Seller has been
alleged to have, and none of Seller, the conduct of the Business by Seller, or the Intellectual Property of Seller has, infringed upon, misappropriated or otherwise
violated any Intellectual Property or other proprietary information or rights of another Person. There are no pending claims, actions or proceedings contesting or
challenging the Intellectual Property or Seller’s use of any Intellectual Property that is owned by another Person and, to Seller’s knowledge, no such claims,
actions or proceedings have been threatened. To Seller’s knowledge, no Person, including any current or former personnel of Seller, is infringing upon,
misappropriating, or otherwise violating Seller’s rights to the Intellectual Property.

4.16 Compliance with Laws. Seller has been and continues to be in compliance with, and the Business has been operated in compliance with, Seller’s
articles of incorporation and bylaws, and in compliance with all Laws. Seller has not received notice from any Governmental Entity or other Person alleging that
it is not in compliance with, or that it is in violation of, any Law. Seller has not received notice from any Governmental Entity or other Person of the investigation
by such Governmental Entity or other Person and, to Seller’s knowledge, no such investigation has been commenced or is ongoing.

4.17 Properties. Seller does not own and has never owned any real property. The Leased Premises constitute all of the real property necessary for the
operation of the Business. Seller enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession of such property, and such property is free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted
Liens. To Seller’s knowledge, the Leased Premises have no defects which could materially impair the day to day use thereof for the conduct of the Business as
currently conducted by Seller. Neither Seller nor the landlords under the Leases are in default thereunder, and no facts or circumstances exist which would
constitute a default thereunder with the giving of any applicable notice and expiration of any applicable cure period.
 

14



4.18 Employee Benefit Plans; ERISA.

(a) Schedule 4.18(a) sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all plans, programs, policies, arrangements, agreements and commitments,
including any employee benefit plans (within the meaning of section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended “ERISA”) that
Seller maintains or has entered into or is obligated under with respect to personnel of Seller that provides or promises compensation, bonuses or other forms of
incentive pay, retirement benefits, deferred compensation, severance benefits, welfare benefits, fringe benefits, equity or equity-based compensation or any other
benefit or perquisite (collectively, the “Employee Benefit Plans”).

(b) With respect to each Employee Benefit Plan, Seller has provided Buyer with a true and complete copy of the Employee Benefit Plan document
and the summary plan description, if applicable, or, if no such document or summary exists, a written description of the Employee Benefit Plan.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.18(c): (i) no Employee Benefit Plan is subject to Title IV of ERISA; and (ii) Seller has no Employee Benefit
Plans that are multiemployer plans within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA. Each Employee Benefit Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of
the Code (a “qualified plan”) has received or applied for a favorable determination letter and nothing has occurred (or has failed to occur) since the date of the
most recent such letter that could reasonably be expected to cause a loss of the qualified status of any such Employee Benefit Plan. There has been no non-exempt
prohibited transaction within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA, or Section 4975 of the Code, with respect to any of the Employee Benefit Plans; each of the
Employee Benefit Plans has been operated in all material respects in accordance with both its terms and all applicable Laws; no personnel of Seller is liable for, or
is reasonably expected to be liable for, Tax penalties (in the form of a twenty percent (20%) excise Tax, early income recognition or both) for failure of any
Employee Benefit Plan to satisfy in form or operation the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Code; and there are no actions, claims (other than
routine claims for benefits), lawsuits or arbitrations pending or, to Seller’s knowledge, threatened with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan or, to Seller’s
knowledge, against any fiduciary of any Employee Benefit Plan and, to Seller’s knowledge, nothing has occurred (or failed to occur) that could reasonably be
expected to give rise to any such claim, action, lawsuit or arbitration.

(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.18(d), Seller is not providing, and has no obligation to provide, post-termination health benefits or life
insurance coverage to any former personnel of Seller or any of their dependents, former dependents or beneficiaries.

(e) Except as expressly provided herein or as set forth on Schedule 4.18(e), neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the
consummation of the transactions contemplated herein will (i) entitle any personnel of Seller to severance pay, or any similar payment, or (ii) except to the extent
vesting resulting from a partial termination of a qualified plan occurs due to applicable Law, accelerate the time of payment or vesting or increase the amount of
any compensation due under any Employee Benefit Plan.
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4.19 Insurance. Schedule 4.19 sets forth a true, complete and correct list, and a summary description of the coverage provided thereby, of all liability
insurance policies maintained by Seller or any other Person with respect to Seller, the Acquired Assets, the operations of the Business and its personnel. All of
such policies are in full force and effect, and Seller has not received notice of termination or non-renewal of such policies. All premiums due on such insurance
policies have been paid. There are no pending claims with respect to Seller, the Acquired Assets, the Business and its personnel under any such insurance policies,
and there are no claims as to which the insurers have notified Seller that they intend to deny liability. Seller has not failed to pay any premiums when due with
respect to, or otherwise violated the terms of, nor is Seller in default under, any such insurance policy.

4.20 Employment Matters.

(a) Schedule 4.20(a)(i) sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all personnel of Seller (including, wherever applicable, the title, department,
location and hire or retention date) and the total compensation (including salary, bonuses and incentive compensation) received with respect to the immediately
preceding fiscal year of Seller, current compensation and the number of years of continuous service of each such person and the value of vacation time accrued
but not taken by each such individual as of May 31, 2012. None of the personnel of Seller is on a leave-of-absence. Schedule 4.20(a)(ii) sets forth a true, complete
and correct list of all former personnel of Seller currently receiving benefits through COBRA.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(b), Seller does not have any current engagement with any Person as a consultant or independent contractor,
and Seller does not have any written or oral agreement with any such consultant or independent contractor.

(c) Each personnel of Seller is retained or employed on an at-will basis, and Seller does not have any written or oral agreement with any such
personnel that would interfere with (i) Seller’s ability to discharge such personnel without payment of any severance or any other cost or expense or adverse
consequences, or (ii) if such personnel is contemplated to become Transferred Personnel, Buyer’s ability to hire such personnel, Seller has not promised or
represented to any of its personnel that any of such personnel will be employed or engaged by or receive any particular benefits from Buyer or any of its Affiliates
or related entities on or after the Closing Date.

(d) There is no collective bargaining agreement or union contract binding on Seller which covers any personnel of Seller. Seller is under no
obligation to negotiate any such agreement with respect to any such individuals, no labor organization or group of personnel of Seller has made a pending demand
for recognition or certification, and there are and have been no representation or certification proceedings or petitions seeking a representation proceeding, with
the National Labor Relations Board or any other labor relations tribunal or authority, nor have any such demands, proceedings or petitions been brought or filed or
threatened to be brought or filed within the past three (3) years.
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(e) Seller has complied with all Laws relating to the employment of labor to the extent relating to the Business, including provisions thereof relating
to wages, hours, equal opportunity, collective bargaining, workers’ compensation and the payment of social security and other Taxes and unlawful discrimination
and harassment. There are, and during the past three (3) years there have been, no unfair labor practice charges or complaints, minimum wage or overtime or
equal pay charges or complaints, occupational safety and health charges or complaints, wrongful discharge charges or complaints, employee grievances,
discrimination claims or workers’ compensation claims pending against Seller, and, to Seller’s knowledge, none have been threatened. No notice has been
received by Seller within the past three (3) years of the intent of any federal, state, local or foreign agency responsible for the enforcement of labor or
employment laws to conduct an investigation of Seller, and, to Seller’s knowledge, no such investigation is in progress. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.20(e),
Seller has not incurred any liability, and no facts exist that would be likely to give rise to any liability, in connection with the classification by Seller of any
individual as an independent contractor.

(f) There are no outstanding orders or charges against Seller under any occupational health or safety legislation and, to Seller’s knowledge, none
have been threatened. All material levies, assessments and penalties made against Seller related to the Business pursuant to all applicable workers compensation
legislation as of the date hereof have been paid by Seller, and Seller has not been reassessed under any such legislation.

(g) Each individual employed by Seller in the United States has presented legal proof of his or her identity and authorization to work in the United
States for Seller and is either (i) a U.S. citizen or lawful permanent resident or (ii) a nonimmigrant possessing a current, valid authorization issued by U.S.
Citizenship and Immigration Services permitting employment by Seller.

4.21 Taxes.

(a) All Tax Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of Seller have been timely filed with the appropriate taxing authorities, and all such Tax
Returns are complete and accurate. All Taxes due from Seller, whether or not shown on any Tax Return, have been paid in full or an adequate provision has been
made on the Financial Statements for any such Taxes which are not yet due or which are being contested in good faith. Seller is not currently the beneficiary of,
and has not requested, any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return which has not yet been filed. Schedule 4.21 contains a true, complete and correct
list of all jurisdictions in which Seller is required to file any Tax Return, and no claim has ever been made by any Governmental Entity in any jurisdiction where
Seller does not file Tax Returns that Seller is or may be subject to taxation by, or be required to file Tax Returns in, that jurisdiction. Seller has withheld and paid
all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any personnel, creditor, stockholder or other third party.

(b) There is no audit, examination, claim, assessment, deficiency, or refund litigation pending or threatened with respect to any Taxes of or with
respect to Seller. All Taxes due with respect to completed and settled examinations or concluded litigation relating to Seller
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have been paid in full or adequate provision has been made for any such Taxes on the Financial Statements. Seller has not executed an extension or waiver of any
statute of limitations on the assessment or collection of any Tax that is currently in effect. No rulings or agreements in respect of any Tax are pending or have
been issued by or entered into with any relevant Governmental Entity with respect to Seller. Seller is not a party to or bound by any Tax allocation, Tax sharing or
other similar agreement, and Seller has no liability for the Taxes of any other Person as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise. There are no Liens for
Taxes on any of the Acquired Assets, other than Liens for Taxes not yet due.

(c) Seller has delivered to Buyer correct and complete copies of all of the following: (i) U.S. federal income Tax Returns filed by Seller for the years
2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011; (ii) state income Tax Returns filed by Seller for the years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011; (iii) all real and personal property Tax Returns
filed by Seller for the years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011; and (iv) payroll Tax Returns filed by Seller for the years 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

(d) Seller has neither made nor is obligated (or is a party to any agreement under which it could be obligated) to make any payments that are or will
not be deductible under Section 280G of the Code.

(e) Except as set forth on Schedule 4.21(e), Seller has not been a member of an affiliated group filing a consolidated U.S. federal income Tax Return
during the past seven (7) years, and Seller does not have any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than Seller) under Treas. Reg. Section 1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of any Law), as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise.

(f) Seller has not been and is not in violation (or with notice or lapse of time or both, would be in violation) of any applicable law relating to the
withholding, depositing or reporting of Taxes (including withholding of Taxes pursuant to Sections 1441, 1442, 3102, 3401 and 3406 of the Code or similar
provisions under any Law). Seller has duly and timely withheld from salaries, wages and other compensation and reported and deposited with the appropriate
taxing authorities all amounts required to be so withheld, reported and/or deposited for all periods under applicable Law.

4.22 Relationships with Related Persons. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.22, no Affiliate or personnel of Seller, nor any spouse or child or other family
member of any of them, or any Person associated with any of them (each of the foregoing, a “Related Person”), has any interest in any of the Acquired Assets.
Except as set forth on Schedule 4.22 and with respect to employment and compensation arrangements with personnel in the ordinary course of business consistent
with past practice which are otherwise disclosed hereunder, no Related Person is a party to any contract, agreement or arrangement with, or has any claim or right
against, or owes any amounts to, Seller. All loans, payables and other amounts due to or from a Related Person, on the one hand, and Seller and/or its Affiliates,
on the other hand, are listed on Schedule 4.22.

4.23 Permits. Schedule 4.23 sets forth a true, complete and correct list of all material approvals, permits, certificates, qualifications, authorizations,
licenses, franchises, consents, orders and registrations of all Governmental Entities and any other Person which are necessary
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for Seller to conduct the Business (collectively, the “Permits”). Except as set forth on Schedule 4.23, the Permits are valid and in full force and effect, and no
Permits will be terminated as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents. Seller is in compliance with the terms of
the Permits and no material violations are or have been recorded in respect of any Permit. No proceeding is pending or, to Seller’s knowledge, threatened to
revoke, suspend, modify or limit any Permit.

4.24 Illegal Payments. Neither Seller nor, to Seller’s knowledge, any personnel of Seller, or any other Person on behalf of Seller, has made or authorized,
directly or indirectly, any payment of funds of, or relating to, Seller which is prohibited by any Law, including Laws relating to bribes, gratuities, kickbacks,
lobbying expenditures, political contributions and contingent fee payments.

4.25 No Other Representations and Warranties. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges that neither Seller nor the
Stockholders, or any employee or agent acting on their behalf, have made or are making, for the benefit of Buyer, any representations and warranties whatsoever
regarding the subject matter of this Agreement, whether written or oral, expressed or implied, and that Buyer is not relying and has not relied upon any such
representations and warranties regarding the subject matter of this Agreement.

4.26 Brokers and Finders. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.26, no broker or finder has acted for Seller or its Affiliates or personnel of Seller in connection
with this Agreement or any Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder, and no broker or finder retained by Seller or its
Affiliates or personnel of Seller is entitled to any brokerage or finder’s fee with respect to this Agreement or any Transaction Document or such transactions.

4.27 Environmental, Health and Safety Matters. Seller has at all times complied and is in compliance with all Environmental, Health and Safety
Requirements.

4.28 No Separate Arrangement. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.28, neither Seller nor any Stockholder has entered into any Contract or arrangement for
the distribution of, does not intend to distribute, and represents and warrants that it will not distribute, any proceeds from that portion of the Purchase Price
allocated to such Seller or Stockholder or any adjustment thereto, directly or indirectly, to any employees of Seller or Buyer.

4.29 Unauthorized Practice of Law. To Seller’s knowledge, neither Seller nor any Stockholder has engaged in the unauthorized practice of law on Seller’s
behalf (including, as defined in Rule 49 of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, as modified by Opinion 21-12 issued by the DC Court of Appeals
Committee on the Unauthorized Practice of Law on January 12, 2012, the “Unauthorized Practice of Law”).
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ARTICLE V: REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

5.1 Additional Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Stockholders. In furtherance of the covenants and agreements contained herein, each
Stockholder, severally and not jointly, hereby represents and warrants to Buyer that: (a) such Stockholder has all necessary power and authority to execute, deliver
and perform such Stockholder’s obligations hereunder; (b) this Agreement constitutes the legally valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, subject to the
Enforceability Exception; (c) neither the execution and delivery of, or performance under, this Agreement by such Stockholder nor the consummation by such
Stockholder of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the applicable Transaction Documents does or will (i) result in a violation or breach of, or
constitute a default or an event of default under, any mortgage, bond, contract, license, lease, agreement, permit, instrument or other obligation to which such
Stockholder is a party or by which such Stockholder is bound or to which any properties of such Stockholder related to the Business (if any) are bound, which
violation, breach or default would impair the ability of such Stockholder to comply with such Stockholder’s obligations hereunder, or (ii) violate any Law, writ,
judgment, injunction or court decree to which such Stockholder or such Stockholder’s properties related to the Business (if any) are subject, which violation,
breach or default would impair the ability of such Stockholder to comply with such Stockholder’s obligations hereunder; (d) no consent, approval or authorization
of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any Governmental Entity or any other Person is required to be made or obtained by such Stockholder in connection
with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement by such Stockholder, or the consummation by such Stockholder, as applicable, of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, the absence of which would impair the ability of such Stockholder to comply with such Stockholder’s obligations hereunder;
(e) such Stockholder does not personally hold any right, title or interest of any kind in, to or under (i) any Acquired Asset or (ii) Intellectual Property or other
asset of or used in the Business and of a type contemplated under Section 2.1; and (f) Schedule 4.28 sets forth all transaction bonus or payments required or
intended to be made in conjunction with the Closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To the extent such Stockholder has or obtains any right,
title or interest of any kind in, to or under (A) any Acquired Asset or (B) to the extent not otherwise an Acquired Asset hereunder, any Purchased Contract,
Intellectual Property or other asset of or used in the Business and of a type contemplated under Section 2.1, such Stockholder hereby conveys all such right, title
and interest to Buyer, free and clear of all Liens other than Assumed Liabilities, as of the Closing Date, and such Stockholder agrees to take any further action and
execute, deliver, file and record any document as reasonably requested by Buyer or as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to effectuate such conveyance.
For the avoidance of doubt, any such right, title and interest shall be considered an “Acquired Asset” for all purposes under this Agreement. In the event that any
Stockholder fails to take any action or execute, deliver, file or record any document as reasonably requested by Buyer pursuant to this Section 5.1 within ten
(10) days of notice from Buyer, Buyer may take such action or execute, deliver, file or record such document on behalf of such Stockholder, for which purpose
such Stockholder hereby irrevocably appoints Buyer as its attorney-in-fact, which appointment is coupled with an interest. Each Stockholder hereby further
agrees (x) to cause Seller to comply with its covenants under this Agreement and (y) not to take or fail to take any action that could reasonably be expected to
result in the breach of any such covenant.
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ARTICLE VI: REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as of the date hereof and the Closing Date that:

6.1 Organization and Qualification. Buyer is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware.
Buyer has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business as presently conducted and to own and lease its properties and assets. Buyer is qualified to do
business as a foreign entity and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the ownership or lease of property or the conduct of its business requires such
qualification.

6.2 Authorization. Buyer has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a
party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to
which Buyer is a party have been duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agreement and the Transaction
Documents to which Buyer is a party have been or will have been, as the case may be, duly executed and delivered by Buyer and (assuming that this Agreement
and the Transaction Documents to which Seller and each Stockholder is a party have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Seller and each such
Stockholder) constitute or will constitute, as the case may be, legal, valid and binding obligations of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer in accordance with their
terms, subject to the Enforceability Exception.

6.3 No Violations or Conflicts. Neither the execution and delivery of, or performance under, this Agreement or the Transaction Documents by Buyer nor
the consummation by Buyer of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents does or will (a) violate any provision of its
organizational or governing documents, (b) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute a default or an event of default under, any indenture, mortgage, bond,
contract, license, lease, agreement, permit, instrument or other obligation to which it is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its assets is bound or
(c) violate any Law, writ, judgment, injunction or court decree to which it or its properties is subject.

6.4 Consents and Approvals. No consent, approval or authorization of, or declaration, filing or registration with, any Governmental Entity or any other
Person is required to be made or obtained by Buyer in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement or the applicable Transaction
Documents by Seller and the Stockholders or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

6.5 Brokers and Finders. No broker or finder has acted for Buyer or its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement or any Transaction Documents or the
transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder and no broker or finder retained by Buyer or its Affiliates is entitled to any brokerage or finder’s fee with
respect to this Agreement or any Transaction Documents or such transactions.
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ARTICLE VII: COVENANTS

7.1 Conduct of Business. From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article XI, Seller shall
conduct the Business only in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and in accordance with Law, including preserving intact the Acquired Assets,
goodwill and relationships of Seller with all Customers, personnel of Seller and other Persons having business relationships with Seller, and maintaining the
books and records of Seller. Without limiting the foregoing, from the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Article XI, Seller shall not do any of the following, except as required or expressly permitted pursuant to the terms hereof or as Buyer shall have consented to in
writing in advance:

(a) enter into (or terminate or amend, modify or waive any term of) any material transaction, or any Customer contract, subcontract (whether as the
prime contractor or subcontractor), teaming agreement, or any similar contract or arrangement, in each case other than in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice and less than Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000);

(b) renew, terminate, amend, modify or waive any term of the Leases;

(c) mortgage, pledge or subject any of the Acquired Assets, or any part thereof, to any Lien or suffer such to exist other than Permitted Liens;

(d) enter into any new (or terminate or amend, modify or waive the terms of any existing) employment, severance or consulting agreement or any
Employee Benefit Plan, grant any general increase in the compensation or benefits of personnel of Seller (including any such increase pursuant to any Employee
Benefit Plan), grant any increase in the compensation or benefits payable or to become payable to any personnel of Seller, or terminate any personnel of Seller or
hire any new personnel of Seller, in each case other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(e) commit to make any capital expenditure in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) individually, or Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) in the
aggregate;

(f) incur, assume, prepay or guarantee any indebtedness (whether material, immaterial, contingent or otherwise), other than in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice;

(g) pay, lend, or advance any amount to, or sell, transfer or lease any properties or assets to, or enter into any agreement, arrangement or transaction
with, any of Seller’s Affiliates;

(h) fail to keep in full force and effect the insurance policies set forth on Schedule 4.19 or insurance that is comparable in amount, credit quality and
scope of coverage to such policies;
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(i) make any change in any method of accounting or accounting principle, method, estimate or practice;

(j) make or change any Tax election, change any annual Tax accounting period, adopt or change any method of Tax accounting, file any amended
Tax Return, enter into any closing agreement relating to Taxes, settle any Tax claim or assessment, surrender any right to claim a Tax refund, or consent to any
extension or waiver of the limitations period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment, in each case relating to the Business;

(k) settle, compromise, release or forgive any claim, cause of action, litigation or other proceeding, whether administrative, civil or criminal, in law
or in equity, or before any Governmental Entity, or waive any right;

(l) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Acquired Assets;

(m) sell, assign, license or transfer any of the Intellectual Property;

(n) change banking or safe deposit arrangements;

(o) change the methods of management or operation of the Business, including its Customer billing practices;

(p) take any action that would result in, or be reasonably likely to result in, any of the conditions to the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement set forth in Article VIII not being satisfied or any of the representations and warranties in Article IV being untrue;

(q) (i) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, cash equivalents, securities or other property) in
respect of, any of its capital stock, or (ii) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or any securities or obligations convertible into or
exchangeable for any shares of its capital stock or any other of its securities or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities; or

(r) agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.

7.2 Access to Information. From the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article XI, Buyer shall be
entitled, through its personnel and those of its Affiliates, to enter upon and make such reasonable investigation of the assets, properties, business and operations of
Seller and its Affiliates to the extent they relate to the Business or the Acquired Assets, and such examination of the books and records, financial condition and
operations of the Business as Buyer may reasonably request and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Business with the personnel of the Business.
Any such investigation and examination shall be conducted at reasonable times upon reasonable prior notice to Seller. From the date hereof until the earlier of the
Closing and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article XI, Seller shall promptly inform Buyer of any and all matters (except for immaterial matters)
that may arise affecting the business and operations of Seller.
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7.3 Cessation of Business. From and after the Closing, Seller shall cease to conduct the Business.

7.4 Performance of Excluded Liabilities. Seller shall timely pay or perform when due the Excluded Liabilities, including, without limitation, the
management and payment of final payroll for all services rendered prior to the Closing Date (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include amounts owed to
Seller’s employees with respect to deferred compensation, bonuses, earned but unused vacation and other employee benefits which are Excluded Liabilities) and
related tax withholding and payment and performing all other obligations with respect to its personnel in accordance with Section 7.10.

7.5 Receipt of Property Relating to Acquired Assets.

(a) If, after the Closing, Seller or any of its Affiliates or personnel of Seller, or any other Person acting for or in concert with any of the foregoing
Persons, shall receive any money, check, note, draft, instrument, payment or other property relating to or as proceeds of the Acquired Assets or the Assumed
Liabilities or any part thereof, Seller shall cause such Person to receive all such items in trust for, and as the sole and exclusive property of, Buyer and, promptly
upon receipt thereof, Seller shall notify Buyer in writing of such receipt and shall remit the same (or cause the same to be remitted) in kind to Buyer in the manner
specified by Buyer.

(b) If Buyer or any of its Affiliates or personnel of Seller, or any other Person acting for or in concert with any of the foregoing Persons, shall receive
any money, check, note, draft, instrument, payment or other property relating to or as proceeds of the Excluded Assets or the Excluded Liabilities or any part
thereof, Buyer shall cause such Person to receive all such items in trust for, and as the sole and exclusive property of, Seller and, promptly upon receipt thereof,
shall notify Seller in writing of such receipt and shall remit the same (or cause the same to be remitted) in kind to Seller in the manner specified by Seller. For
purposes of implementing this Section 7.5, if any check or other payment is received from a Person that references an invoice or exactly matches the amount
owed under that invoice, the payment will be applied to that invoice. If the payment does not reference or match an invoice, Buyer will contact the payor. If for
any reason the payor does not give direction as to application of the payment, it will be applied to the oldest outstanding invoice first, the next oldest outstanding
invoice second, and so forth.

7.6 WIP and Accounts Receivable.

(a) As soon as practicable following the Closing Date and in any event within five (5) days thereafter, Seller shall deliver to Buyer:

(i) a list of all Accounts Receivable and copies of all invoices related thereto, organized by Customer, reflected on the books and records of
Seller as of the Closing Date with respect to services rendered and billed by Seller as of the Closing Date, and a
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certificate signed by an executive officer of Seller, dated as of the date of delivery of such list, certifying that such list is true, complete and correct as of the
Closing Date and that (A) all Accounts Receivable of Seller reflected on such list were recorded in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice
and Seller is not aware of any claim (or any basis for any claim) for nonpayment of any such Account Receivable, and (B) Seller has sent invoices to each
Customer on the list of Accounts Receivable for the full amount of all Accounts Receivable with respect to such Customer; and

(ii) a list of all WIP, organized by Customer, reflected on the books and records of Seller as of the Closing Date and attributable to
services provided by Seller, and a certificate signed by an executive officer of Seller, dated as of the date of delivery of such list, certifying that such list is true,
complete and correct as of the Closing Date and that all WIP has been performed in accordance with the terms of the relevant engagement.

(b) From and after the Closing, Buyer shall have the sole authority to bill and collect WIP and Accounts Receivable and Seller shall not instigate or
threaten to instigate any claims or litigation in connection with such collection efforts.

7.7 Mutual Cooperation. After the date hereof, Seller will use its reasonable efforts to provide to Buyer, and Buyer will use its reasonable efforts to provide
to Seller (the party providing such records or information or making available such personnel, the “providing party,” and the party or parties requesting such
records, information or personnel, the “requesting party”) such records and information and to make available to the requesting party such personnel, in each case
as may be reasonably requested in writing by the requesting party, for the purpose of reasonably assisting the requesting party in responding to governmental or
professional inquiries, making required governmental filings or defending or prosecuting any action or other proceeding relating to or arising out of the conduct
of the Business prior to or after the Closing Date, involving any Person; provided, however, that (a) the requesting party shall promptly reimburse the providing
party for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the providing party in connection with the provision of any such assistance (including reasonable
legal fees and disbursements), but the requesting party shall not be responsible to reimburse the providing party for such party’s time spent in such cooperation or
the salaries or costs of fringe benefits or other similar expenses paid by the providing party to its Affiliates or related entities or their respective stockholders and
personnel while such Persons are providing any such assistance, and (b) no providing party shall be required to (i) provide information, records or personnel
under circumstances which the providing party believes in its sole reasonable determination may expose it to liability to any Person or may prejudice any
commercial, legal or other interest of the providing party or (ii) take any action that, in the providing party’s sole determination, unreasonably interferes with its
business.

7.8 Insurance Tails. Seller shall, as promptly as practicable, obtain a “tail” of not less than three (3) years, at Buyer’s expense, on Seller’s employment
practices liability insurance policy to cover claims or potential claims arising from acts or omissions occurring prior to the Closing Date. Such coverage shall be
maintained until the third (3rd) anniversary of the Closing Date, on terms reasonably acceptable to Buyer. Seller warrants that it is in compliance with policy
terms and conditions and that there are not impediments to Seller’s ability to exercise the
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extended reporting option under the employment practices liability insurance policy. Seller agrees to use best efforts to add Buyer as an additional insured to its
general liability insurance policy in order to provide coverage thereunder for claims or potential claims arising from acts or omissions occurring prior to the
Closing Date. Seller further agrees to keep its professional and general liability insurance policies in full force and effect, without any lapses in coverage, until the
Closing Date. Seller shall maintain the same terms and conditions with respect to such professional and general liability insurance policies in order to provide
coverage thereunder for claims or potential claims arising from acts or omissions occurring prior to the Closing Date. Seller will immediately notify Buyer of any
attempt by underwriters to modify, cancel or non-review the aforementioned policies prior to the Closing Date.

7.9 Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent. During the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending on the earlier of the Closing Date and
the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article XI, each of the parties hereto shall act in good faith to satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, all the conditions
precedent to each party’s obligation to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and shall not take or fail to take any action that could reasonably be
expected to result in the nonfulfillment of any such condition.

7.10 Employment of Personnel of Seller and Related Matters.

(a) Prior to the Closing Date, Buyer will, or will cause one of its Affiliates to, offer employment to the individuals listed on Schedule 7.10(a) in
accordance with the terms and conditions generally applicable to similarly situated personnel of Buyer and its Affiliates, which offers shall be subject to Buyer’s
satisfaction with the results of pre-employment procedures (including background checks), with such employment commencing the day after the Closing Date.
Buyer’s or such Affiliate’s employment of any such personnel shall be on an “at-will” basis. Such offers of employment to such personnel will be contingent upon
their agreement to restrictive covenants, including with respect to non-solicitation, non-hire and confidentiality, that are consistent with such covenants as are
generally applicable to Buyer’s or such Affiliate’s personnel of a similar level of seniority (“Restrictive Covenants”). Such personnel who accept such offer,
execute all required documents and begin employment with Buyer or one of its Affiliates as of the Closing Date are referred to hereunder as “Transferred
Personnel.” Prior to the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall reasonably cooperate to coordinate the employment of the Transferred Personnel by Buyer or one of
its Affiliates and the termination of any employment or other retention arrangement and any noncompetition or other employment restriction of each Transferred
Personnel with Seller.

(b) With respect to each Transferred Personnel, Seller hereby waives and releases each such individual, for such period (and only such period) as
such individual is employed by Buyer or an Affiliate or permitted assign of Buyer, from any and all contractual, common law or other restrictions enforceable by
Seller on the employment, activities or other conduct of such individuals after the termination of their employment or other retention arrangements, as applicable,
with Seller (other than any obligations arising under or relating to a Purchased Contract and any obligation not to disclose confidential information of Seller and
its Customers to Persons other than Buyer and its Affiliates).
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(c) Seller shall be solely responsible for any and all liabilities in respect of personnel of Seller, including the Transferred Personnel and, in each case,
their beneficiaries and dependents, relating to or arising out of or in connection with (i) the employment or retention or the actual or constructive termination of
employment of or retention arrangement with any personnel by Seller (including in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement), (ii) the participation in or accrual of benefits or compensation under or with respect to, the failure to participate in or to accrue compensation under
or with respect to, any Employee Benefit Plans and all other liabilities under and with respect to the Employee Benefit Plans, and (iii) accrued but unpaid salaries,
wages, bonuses, incentive compensation, commissions, retention payments, vacation or sick pay or other compensation or payroll items (including deferred
compensation) as of the Closing. Seller shall be solely responsible for complying with, and hereby covenants to comply with, and Buyer shall have no liability in
respect of, any obligations with respect to Seller’s personnel under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, if applicable,
and, except to the extent otherwise specifically required by applicable Law, any obligations under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and Section 4980B of
the Code (“COBRA”) in respect of each of Seller’s personnel who incur a “qualifying event” on or before the Closing Date or as a result of the transactions
contemplated hereby. Seller shall provide evidence satisfactory to Buyer that, as of the Closing Date, all obligations to personnel of Seller (including the
Transferred Personnel) for retirement, severance, deferred compensation, incentive, stock option, vacation, bonus, unemployment, partnership and other
payments, distributions and benefits accrued up to and including the Closing Date (in each case as applicable), and all contributions (voluntary or otherwise) to
any payments under any Employee Benefit Plans (including a pro rata contribution for the current fiscal year through the Closing Date under Seller’s 401(k) Plan
and a pro rata matching contribution in respect of contribution made by Seller’s personnel under Seller’s 401(k) Plan through the Closing Date, to the extent such
401(k) Plan provides for matching contributions by Seller), have been duly paid by Seller. Seller shall be solely responsible for any severance costs for personnel
of Seller who do not accept Buyer’s offer of employment or are not otherwise employed by Buyer.

(d) Effective as of the Closing Date, Seller shall cause each of the Transferred Personnel to be fully vested in his or her account and benefits under
all Employee Benefit Plans.

(e) Through the last day of the calendar month in which the Closing occurs, Seller, at Seller’s expense (which amounts shall be reimbursed by Buyer
to the extent that the applicable Employee Benefit Plans do not otherwise provide for coverage through the end of the month in which the participant terminates
employment) (such amounts, if any, the “Reimbursable Amounts”), agrees to continue to provide coverage under any Employee Benefit Plans that are welfare
benefit plans (as defined in section 3(1) of ERISA) to any Transferred Personnel who were covered under the applicable Employee Benefit Plans immediately
prior to the Closing. To the extent that such Employee Benefit Plans do not otherwise provide for coverage through the end of the month in which a participant
terminates employment, Buyer shall reimburse Seller for the actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by Seller with respect to such continued coverages.
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(f) Each of the Transferred Personnel shall be given credit for all service as an employee under all employee benefit plans, programs and policies of
Buyer in which such Transferred Personnel become eligible to participate for purposes of eligibility, vesting, benefit accrual and entitlement (but not for accrual
of benefits under any “defined benefit plan,” as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA) and all other purposes; provided, however, that no Transferred Personnel shall
be given any credit for service under any employee pension benefit plan, including any defined benefit plan or any 401(k) plan. Buyer shall cause each employee
benefit plan in which Transferred Personnel are eligible, to the extent permissible, to participate to (i) waive any preexisting condition limitations, waiting periods
and actively at work requirements under such plans and (ii) honor any deductible, co-payment and other out of pocket expenses incurred by such Transferred
Personnel and their beneficiaries under the applicable medical, health or dental plans of Seller during the portion of such calendar year preceding the hiring of
such Transferred Personnel by Buyer. If any such Transferred Personnel become eligible to participate in a group term life insurance plan maintained by Buyer in
the year in which the Closing Date occurs, Buyer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such plan to waive any medical certification for such
Transferred Personnel.

(g) Nothing in this Section 7.10, expressed or implied, shall confer upon any current or former personnel of Seller or its Affiliates (including the
Transferred Personnel and other personnel of the Business) any rights or remedies (including any right to employment or continued employment for any specified
period) of any nature or kind whatsoever, under or by reason of this Section 7.10. No provision of this Section 7.10 is intended, and shall not be interpreted as, an
amendment of any Employee Benefit Plan or any employee benefit plan program, policy or arrangement of Buyer or any of its Affiliates. It is expressly agreed
that the provisions of this Section 7.10 are not intended to be for the benefit of, or otherwise be enforceable by, any third party, including any Transferred
Personnel or any other personnel of the Business not party to this Agreement.

7.11 Certain Consents. If any consent required hereunder is not obtained, or if an attempted assignment of an Acquired Asset subject to any such consent
would be ineffective or would adversely affect the rights of Seller thereunder so that Buyer would not in fact receive all such rights, then, without limiting any
other rights Buyer may have hereunder in respect of such failure, Seller and Buyer shall cooperate in a mutually agreeable arrangement, to the extent feasible,
under which Buyer would obtain the benefits and assume the obligations thereunder in accordance with this Agreement, including subcontracting, sublicensing,
or sub-leasing to Buyer, or under which Seller would enforce for the benefit of Buyer, with Buyer assuming Seller’s obligations, any and all rights of Seller
against a third party thereto, provided that any liability or obligation that arises from the failure to obtain such required consent shall be an Excluded Liability
hereunder.

7.12 No Affiliation. Seller shall not, and shall not permit any of its Affiliates to, (a) hold itself, himself or herself, as applicable, out as personnel of Buyer
or any of its Affiliates or related entities (except, after the Closing, for any Transferred Personnel who obtain such positions, in each case for so long as such
individual is associated with Buyer or any of its Affiliates in such capacity) or (b) represent to any third party that any partnership, joint venture, fiduciary
relationship or agency relationship exists with Buyer or any of its Affiliates or related entities, including, in each case of the foregoing clauses (a) and (b), in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby.
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7.13 Tax Cooperation; Allocation of Taxes.

(a) Buyer agrees to furnish or cause to be furnished to Seller and the Stockholders, and Seller and the Stockholders agree to furnish or cause to be
furnished to Buyer, in each case upon request, as promptly as practicable, such information and assistance relating to the Business and the Acquired Assets
(including access to books and records) as is reasonably necessary for the filing of all Tax Returns, the making of any election relating to Taxes, the preparation
for any audit by any taxing authority, and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax. Buyer and Seller and / or the
Stockholders (or their successors and assigns) shall retain all books and records with respect to Taxes pertaining to the Acquired Assets for a period of at least six
(6) years following the Closing Date. At the end of such period, each party shall provide the other with at least ten (10) days prior written notice before destroying
any such books and records, during which period the party receiving such notice can elect to take possession, at its own expense, of such books and records.
Seller and the Stockholders shall cooperate with Buyer, and Buyer shall cooperate with Seller and the Stockholders, in the conduct of any audit or other
proceeding relating to Taxes involving the Acquired Assets or the Business.

(b) All real property Taxes, personal property Taxes and similar ad valorem obligations (including the District of Columbia Ballpark Tax) levied with
respect to any Acquired Assets for a taxable period which includes (but does not end on) the Closing Date, whether or not imposed or assessed before or after the
Closing Date, shall be apportioned between Seller and Buyer based on the number of days of such taxable period included in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the
number of days of such taxable period after the Closing Date (with respect to any such taxable period, the “Post-Closing Tax Period”). Seller and / or the
Stockholders shall be liable for the proportionate amount of such Taxes that is attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period, and Buyer shall be liable for the
proportionate amount of such Taxes that is attributable to the Post-Closing Tax Period. Upon receipt of any bill for such Taxes, Buyer or Seller, as applicable,
shall present a statement to the other party setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which it shall be entitled under this Section 7.13(b) upon payment of such
bill, together with such supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement. Payment of such reimbursement amount shall
be made by the party owing it to the party to which it is owed within ten (10) days after delivery of such statement. In the event that Seller or Buyer shall make
any payment for which it is entitled to reimbursement under this Section 7.13(b), the other party shall make such reimbursement promptly, but in no event later
than ten (10) days after the presentation of a statement setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which the presenting party is entitled, along with such
supporting evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement.

(c) All excise, sales, use, value added, registration stamp, recording, documentary, conveyancing, property, transfer, gains and similar Taxes, levies,
charges and fees (collectively, “Transfer Taxes”) incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by Seller. Buyer shall
cooperate with Seller, and Seller shall
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cooperate with Buyer, with respect to the provision of any appropriate resale exemption certifications and other similar documentation. Seller shall make the
filings, reports, or returns with respect to any applicable Transfer Taxes, and Buyer shall cooperate with respect thereto as necessary.

7.14 Additional Purchased Contracts. Between the date hereof and the Closing, Buyer may, in its sole discretion and upon written notice to Seller,
determine to amend Schedule 2.1(a) to add to Schedule 2.1(a) any Customer contract, including any Customer contract entered into by Seller between the date
hereof and the Closing pursuant to (and in accordance with) Section 7.1(a), and any such contract shall be deemed a “Contract” and a “Purchased Contract” for all
purposes under this Agreement. Similarly, between the date hereof and the Closing, Buyer may in its sole discretion and upon written notice to Seller, determine
to amend Schedule 2.2(c) to add to Schedule 2.2(c) any Contract entered into by Seller between the date hereof and the Closing, and any such Contract shall be
deemed an “Excluded Contract” for all purposes under this Agreement.

7.15 Migration. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall cause any Intellectual Property, Business Proprietary Information, the Reviewer Database and any
other electronic data not residing on Acquired Assets or held by any third party to be migrated to such equipment of Buyer as Buyer may reasonably request.

7.16 Further Assurances. At the Closing and from time to time thereafter, Seller and the Stockholders shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and
personnel (as applicable) to, execute, deliver, file and record any and all agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents and take such other actions as
reasonably requested by Buyer or as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to consummate or implement expeditiously the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, Seller shall promptly (a) execute and deliver such document and take such further actions as may be required to
change the Company’s name and, subject to the License Agreement, terminate any and all of the Company’s assumed name filings containing the names “Adams
Grayson” or “LegalSource” or any derivative thereof, and (b) perform all other actions reasonably requested by Buyer to vest, establish and confirm ownership of
the Acquired Assets, including Accounts Receivable, WIP, Purchased Contracts and Intellectual Property, in Buyer (or an Affiliate of Buyer), and enable Buyer,
or an Affiliate of Buyer, as the case may be, to enjoy the benefit of the Acquired Assets, including providing cooperation and assistance in obtaining Patents,
Copyrights and Marks in the United States and in foreign countries in connection with the Intellectual Property. In the event that Seller fails to take any action or
execute, deliver, file or record any document as requested by Buyer pursuant to this Section 7.16 within ten (10) days following notice from Buyer, Buyer may
take such action or execute, deliver, file or record such document on behalf of Seller, for which purpose Seller hereby irrevocably appoints Buyer as its attorney-
in-fact, which appointment is coupled with an interest.

7.17 Distribution of Purchase Price. Seller and the Stockholders agree to complete a certification request sent by Buyer upon receipt and distribution of the
Purchase Price, attesting to the allocation and distribution as contemplated in Section 3.4 and Section 4.28 and shall provide Buyer with reasonable access to any
and all books and records in order to verify such certification.
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ARTICLE VIII: CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

8.1 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations. The respective obligations of each party hereto to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall be
subject to no Law having been enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced by any Governmental Entity prior to the Closing that prohibits or prevents the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

8.2 Conditions to Obligations of Buyer. The obligations of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall be subject to the fulfillment on
or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by Buyer:

(a) Seller and each Stockholder shall have performed and complied with the covenants and obligations required to be performed by Seller or such
Stockholder, as applicable, under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date.

(b) The representations and warranties of Seller and each Stockholder contained in this Agreement and in any Transaction Document which are
qualified by materiality or material adverse effect shall be true in all respects as of the date hereof and at and as of the Closing Date, except for those
representations and warranties that address matters as of a specific date, which shall be true at and as of such date. All other representations and warranties of
Seller and each Stockholder contained in this Agreement shall be true as of the date hereof and in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date, except for
those representations and warranties that address matters as of a specific date, which shall be true in all material respects as of such date.

(c) At the Closing, Seller shall have delivered to Buyer:

(i) a certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, signed by an executive officer of Seller, dated as of the Closing Date,
certifying as to the matters set forth in Sections 8.2(a), 8.2(b), and 8.2(d) as of the Closing Date (the “Seller’s Certificate”);

(ii) a certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Buyer, signed by the Secretary of Seller, dated as of the Closing Date (the
“Secretary’s Certificate”): (1) certifying as to the following: (A) the resolutions (or written consent) of Seller’s board of directors and all of the Stockholders
authorizing and approving this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; (B) the articles of incorporation
of Seller as in effect on the Closing Date; (C) the bylaws of Seller as in effect on the Closing Date; and (D) the signatures and incumbency of the individual(s)
signing this Agreement and the Transaction Documents on behalf of Seller; and (2) signed by an officer of Seller certifying the signature and incumbency of the
Secretary of Seller;
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(iii) a certificate issued by the District of Columbia Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs as to the good standing of Seller as of a
date no earlier than fifteen (15) days prior to the Closing Date;

(iv) the Bills of Sale, executed by Seller;

(v) the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, executed by Seller;

(vi) an affidavit of non-foreign status of Seller that complies with Section 1445 of the Code (the “FIRPTA Affidavit”);

(vii) a domain name assignment agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto (the “Domain Name Assignment Agreement”),
transferring the Domain Names of Seller to Buyer or an Affiliate of Buyer designated by Buyer, executed by Seller;

(viii) a trademark assignment agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit E hereto (the “Trademark Assignment Agreement”), transferring
the Marks of Seller to Buyer or an Affiliate designated by Buyer, executed by Seller;

(ix) a license agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto (the “License Agreement”), permitting Adams Grayson FRS LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company and Adams Grayson Enterprises LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (Affiliates of Seller) to use the
“ADAMSGRAYSON” name and logo in connection with its business operations for a period of three (3) years following the Closing Date;

(x) all other Transaction Documents to which Seller is a party;

(xi) document evidencing the name change of Seller and its Affiliates in accordance with Section 7.16 (to be filed promptly after Closing);

(xii) a certificate of good standing from the Office of Tax and Revenue showing that Seller has no outstanding tax liability with the District
of Columbia;

(xiii) deleted;

(xiv) evidence (which shall be in the form of one or more payoff letters and shall include evidence, in the form of UCC-3 termination
statements or otherwise, that all Liens will, subject to payment in full, be released) that Seller has paid, will pay or will cause to be paid at the Closing, all
amounts required to discharge in full the Bank Debt;

(xv) evidence that Seller’s Affiliates have agreed to vacate the Leased Premises;

(xvi) written acknowledgment by Peter Gronvall in his capacity as a current or former optionholder of Seller that he is not entitled to any
additional amounts, including, without limitation, proceeds from the Purchase Price (except as set forth on Schedule 4.28); and
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(xvii) such other documents or instruments as Buyer may reasonably request to carry out the intent and purposes of this Agreement including
such other deeds, endorsements, assignments and other good and sufficient instruments of conveyance and transfer as Buyer may request to vest in Buyer or an
Affiliate of Buyer all the right, title and interest of Seller, in, to or under any or all of the Acquired Assets.

(d) Since the date hereof, there shall have been no material change in the Business and no occurrence of any events, set of circumstances or
conditions that has had or is reasonably likely to result in a material adverse effect on the properties, assets, liabilities, business, condition or prospects of Seller,
the Business or the Acquired Assets, in each case taken as a whole.

(e) Consent to the assignment of each of the Contracts listed on Schedule 8.2(e) shall have been obtained in form and substance satisfactory to
Buyer, and copies of such consents shall have been delivered by Seller to Buyer.

(f) Consent to the assignment of each of the Leases listed on Schedule 8.2(f) shall have been obtained in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer,
and copies of such consents shall have been delivered by Seller to Buyer.

(g) The individuals listed on Schedule 8.2(g) shall have agreed to the terms of their respective employment with Buyer or its Affiliates and shall have
accepted employment offers made by Buyer in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including by executing and delivering to Buyer the applicable
Restrictive Covenants, and shall not have withdrawn or rescinded such acceptances, and shall have entered into the offer letters and any other written agreements
in connection with such acceptances.

(h) Each employment agreement between Seller and any Transferred Personnel shall have been terminated in accordance with Section 7.10(b). To
the extent any Transferred Personnel is not party to an employment agreement with Seller, such Person shall have been terminated by Seller.

(i) The existence of no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, claim, hearing, investigation or proceedings pending or threatened against Seller
(or any Affiliate or personnel of Seller), in any court, by any Governmental Entity or other Person or before any arbitrator or other tribunal that would affect the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents.

(j) The Customers listed on Schedule 8.2(j) shall have met jointly with Seller and Buyer to discuss Buyer’s acquisition of the Business and such
Customer’s continued relationship with the Business, and such discussion shall have been deemed satisfactory by Buyer in its sole discretion.
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8.3 Conditions to Obligations of Seller. The obligations of Seller to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall be subject to the fulfillment on
or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by Seller:

(a) Buyer shall have performed and complied with the covenants and obligations required to be performed by Buyer under this Agreement on or
prior to the Closing Date.

(b) The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement and in any Transaction Document which are qualified by materiality or
material adverse effect shall be true in all respects as of the date hereof and at and as of the Closing Date, except for those representations and warranties that
address matters as of a specific date, which shall be true at and as of such date. All other representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement
shall be true as of the date hereof and in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date, except for those representations and warranties that address matters as
of a specific date, which shall be true in all material respects as of such date.

(c) At the Closing, Buyer shall have delivered to Seller:

(i) the Closing Date Payment;

(ii) a certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Seller, signed by a partner or principal of Buyer, dated as of the Closing
Date, certifying as to the matters set forth in Sections 8.3(a) and 8.3(b) as of the Closing Date (the “Buyer’s Certificate”);

(iii) the Bills of Sale, executed by Buyer;

(iv) the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, executed by Buyer;

(v) to the extent necessary to effect transfer of the Domain Names of Seller, the Domain Name Assignment Agreement, executed by Buyer;

(vi) the Trademark Assignment Agreement, executed by Buyer;

(vii) The License Agreement, executed by Buyer; and

(viii) all other Transaction Documents to which Buyer is a party.

(d) The existence of no civil, criminal or administrative action, suit, claim, hearing, investigation or proceedings pending or threatened against Buyer
(or any Affiliate or personnel of Buyer), in any court, by any Governmental Entity or other Person or before any arbitrator or other tribunal that would affect the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Transaction Documents.

(e) Consent to the assignment of each of the Leases listed on Schedule 8.2(f) shall have been obtained in form and substance satisfactory to Seller,
and Buyer shall have delivered cash or letters of credit to the landlords under the Leases to replace the security deposits posted thereunder by Seller.
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ARTICLE IX: INDEMNIFICATION

9.1 Survival. All representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement or in any Transaction Document shall survive the
Closing and remain in full force and effect (a) until sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, with respect to matters covered by
Section 4.5 (Consents and Approvals), Section 4.17 (Compliance With Laws), Section 4.19 (Employee Benefit Plans; ERISA), and Section 4.21 (Taxes),
(b) indefinitely, with respect to matters covered by Section 4.1 (Organization and Qualification), Section 4.3 (Authorization), Section 4.4 (No Violations or
Conflicts), Section 4.9 (Assets), Section 4.25 (Illegal Payments), and Section 4.27 (Brokers and Finders) (together with the representations and warranties
referred to in the foregoing clause (a), collectively, the “Special Representations”), (c) for a period of eighteen (18) months following the Closing Date, with
respect to matters covered by each other representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, and (d) with respect to each other covenant or agreement
contained in this Agreement or any Transaction Document, until such covenant or agreement is fully performed. If written notice of a Claim has been given and
received before the expiration of the applicable period described in the preceding sentence, the representation and warranty relevant to such Claim shall survive as
to such Claim until such Claim has been finally resolved. The right to indemnification, payment of damages or other remedy based on such representations,
warranties, covenants, and agreements of Seller or the Stockholders hereunder shall not be affected by any investigation conducted by Buyer or its representatives
with respect to, or any knowledge acquired (or capable of having been acquired) about, the accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with, any such
representation, warranty, covenant or agreement

9.2 Indemnification by Seller and the Stockholders. Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 9.6, Seller and each Stockholder, jointly and severally,
shall indemnify, defend, reimburse and hold harmless Buyer and its Affiliates and their respective successors and assigns, and the personnel of any of them
(collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities, obligations, assessments, penalties and interest,
demands, actions and expenses, whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent (including settlement costs and any reasonable legal,
accounting and other expenses for investigating or defending any actions or threatened actions) (“Loss(es)”) incurred by any Buyer Indemnified Party, arising out
of or in connection with (i) any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by Seller or any Stockholder contained in this Agreement or in any Transaction
Document, (ii) any breach by Seller or any Stockholder of any covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement or in any Transaction Document,
(iii) any Excluded Liability, (iv) any failure by Seller to comply with any “bulk sales,” “bulk transfer” or similar Laws, (v) the Unauthorized Practice of Law;
(vi) lack of full compliance with immigration Law in connection with employees; (vii) any failure by Seller to appropriately file Form 1099 with the Internal
Revenue Service; or (viii) any failure by Seller to deliver tax clearance certificates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to the limitations set forth in
Section 9.6, in no event shall Peter Gronvall be responsible for more than three percent (3%) of all Losses incurred by the Buyer Indemnified Parties.
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9.3 Indemnification by Buyer. Buyer shall indemnify, defend, reimburse and hold harmless Seller, its Affiliates and their respective successors and assigns,
and the personnel and stockholders of any of them (collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all Losses incurred by any Seller
Indemnified Party, arising out of or in connection with (a) any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by Buyer contained in this Agreement or in any
Transaction Document, (b) any breach by Buyer of any covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement or in any Transaction Document, (c) any
Assumed Liability, (d) any claim of any third party arising out of the operation of the Business after the Closing (other than an Excluded Liability) or (e) any
liability to any party on behalf of Buyer in respect of its acting as a broker or finder in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents.

9.4 Indemnification Procedures.

(a) Notice. Whenever any claim, action, suit or proceeding shall arise for which indemnification may be sought under this Article IX (a “Claim”), the
Person entitled to indemnification (the “Indemnitee”) shall promptly give notice to the party obligated to provide indemnification (the “Indemnitor”) with respect
to the Claim after the receipt by the Indemnitee of information as to the facts constituting the basis for the Claim; but the failure to timely give such notice shall
not relieve the Indemnitor from any obligation under this Agreement, except to the extent, if any, that the Indemnitor is materially prejudiced thereby.

(b) Defense by Indemnitor. Upon receipt of notice from the Indemnitee of a Claim by a third party (a “Third Party Claim”), the Indemnitor may elect
to assume the defense of such Claim by providing counsel (such counsel subject to the reasonable approval of the Indemnitee) to defend the Indemnitee against
the matter from which the Third Party Claim arose, at the Indemnitor’s sole cost, risk and expense. The Indemnitee shall cooperate, in all reasonable respects and
at the Indemnitor’s sole cost, risk and expense, with the Indemnitor in the investigation, trial, defense and any appeal arising from the matter from which the
Third Party Claim arose; provided, however, that the Indemnitee may (but shall not be obligated to) participate in (but not control) any such investigation, trial,
defense and any appeal arising in connection with the Third Party Claim at its sole cost, risk and expense. If the Indemnitee elects to so participate, the Indemnitor
shall cooperate with the Indemnitee, and the Indemnitor shall deliver to the Indemnitee or its counsel copies of all pleadings and other information within the
Indemnitor’s knowledge or possession reasonably requested by the Indemnitee or its counsel that is relevant to the defense of such Third Party Claim and that will
not prejudice the Indemnitor’s position, claims or defenses. Any settlement will be subject to the consent of the Indemnitee, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed. The Indemnitor may not admit any liability of the Indemnitee or waive any of the Indemnitee’s rights without the Indemnitee’s prior written
consent. If the subject of any Third Party Claim results in a judgment or settlement consistent with the terms of this Section 9.4(b) for which the Indemnitor is
liable hereunder, the Indemnitor shall promptly pay such judgment or settlement.

(c) Defense by Indemnitee. If the Indemnitor elects not to assume the defense of any Third Party Claim in accordance with the terms of
Section 9.4(b), or if the Indemnitor fails to prosecute such defense diligently, or if the Indemnitor has, in the Indemnitee’s reasonable
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judgment, a conflict of interest which prevents representation as provided in Section 9.4(b), or if the Indemnitor has, in the Indemnitee’s reasonable judgment,
insufficient resources with which to conduct an adequate defense, the Indemnitee may defend against the subject of the Third Party Claim, at the Indemnitor’s
sole cost, risk and expense (but limited to all reasonable fees, costs and expenses of one separate counsel and appropriate local counsel for the Indemnitee (or
multiple Indemnitees)), in such manner and on such terms as the Indemnitee reasonably deems appropriate, including settling the subject of the Third Party Claim
with the consent of the Indemnitor, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Indemnitor shall not be liable for any settlement effected
without its prior consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. If the Indemnitee defends the subject of a Third Party Claim in accordance with
this Section 9.4(c), the Indemnitor shall cooperate with the Indemnitee and its counsel, at the Indemnitor’s sole cost, risk and expense, in all reasonable respects,
and shall deliver to the Indemnitee or its counsel copies of all pleadings and other information within the Indemnitor’s knowledge or possession reasonably
requested by the Indemnitee or its counsel that are relevant to the defense of the subject of any such Third Party Claim and that will not prejudice the
Indemnitor’s position, claims or defenses. The Indemnitee shall maintain confidentiality with respect to all such information consistent with the conduct of a
defense hereunder.

9.5 Payment. All payments owing under this Article IX shall be made promptly as indemnifiable Losses are incurred.

9.6 Limitations on Indemnification by Seller and the Stockholders.

(a) Basket. Subject to Section 9.6(c), a Buyer Indemnified Party shall not be entitled to make a claim for indemnification for any Losses pursuant to
Section 9.2(i) until the aggregate amount of all claims for Losses exceeds Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) (the “Basket Amount”). For purposes of
this Section 9.6, any single Loss that is less than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) shall be disregarded; provided, however, that any series of Losses arising out of
the same occurrence shall be aggregated and treated as a single Loss. For greater certainty, subject to the preceding sentence, a Buyer Indemnified Party shall be
entitled to make a claim for indemnification for amounts less than the Basket Amount. In the event the aggregate amount of such Losses exceeds the Threshold,
then Seller and the Stockholders shall indemnify such Buyer Indemnified Party with respect to the amount of all Losses in excess of the Basket Amount, subject
to the other limitations set forth in this Section 9.6.

(b) Cap. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement or any Transaction Document to the contrary, except as provided in Section 9.6(c), the
aggregate liability of Seller and the Stockholders under this Article IX for all claims arising under Section 9.2(i) shall not exceed Four Million Eight Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($4,800,000).

(c) Exclusions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the limitations set forth in Sections 9.6(a) and 9.6(b) shall not apply to
Losses arising from: (i) the Excluded Liabilities; (ii) the Unauthorized Practice of Law; (iii) lack of full compliance with immigration Law in connection with
employees; (iv) the fraud of Seller; or (v) a breach by Seller of the Special Representations.
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9.7 Additional Limitations. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article IX, following the Closing, the indemnification provisions contained herein
are intended solely for the benefit of the Persons expressly identified in this Article IX (and their permitted successors and assigns), and are in no way intended to,
nor shall they, constitute an agreement for the benefit of, or be enforceable by, any other Person.

9.8 Adjustment to Purchase Price. Any indemnification payment made pursuant to this Article IX shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price for
Tax purposes.

9.9 Indemnification as Exclusive Remedy. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, Seller, Stockholders and Buyer each agree that Article IX
constitutes the exclusive right and remedy for breach or inaccuracy of any of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and will be in lieu of
all other remedies available at law or in equity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement will prevent any party from bringing an action based
upon fraud or willful misconduct by the other party in connection with this Agreement.

ARTICLE X: CERTAIN OTHER COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

10.1 Certain Acknowledgements.

(a) The parties hereto have determined that it is essential to realizing the value of the Acquired Assets, including the Goodwill, acquired pursuant to
this Agreement, that Buyer obtain the agreements of Seller and the Stockholders (together, the “Restricted Persons” and each, a “Restricted Person”) set forth in
this Agreement, including undertakings of each Restricted Person to protect certain Business Proprietary Information and Confidential Records and not to engage
in the solicitation of certain personnel or Customers and of certain Restricted Persons not to engage in certain competitive activities, and as to certain other
matters, all as provided in this Agreement. Accordingly, Buyer has required that the covenants and agreements contained in this Article X be delivered in this
Agreement as a condition to Buyer’s willingness to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and each Restricted Person has agreed to do so.

(b) Each Restricted Person acknowledges and agrees that it is fair, reasonable and necessary, for the protection of the value of the business,
operations, prestige, reputation and goodwill of the Business and of the Acquired Assets to be sold by Seller and purchased by Buyer hereunder, that each
Restricted Person make the agreements and covenants contained in this Agreement applicable to such Restricted Person.

(c) Each Restricted Person acknowledges that Buyer would not consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without the assurance
that each Restricted Person will not engage in any of the activities prohibited by Sections 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 applicable to such Restricted Person for the periods
set forth therein. Each Stockholder understands that the provisions of Sections 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5, as may be applicable, may limit such Stockholder’s ability to
earn a livelihood in a business similar to the Business, but
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nevertheless agrees and hereby acknowledges that the consideration provided under this Agreement is sufficient to justify the restrictions contained in such
provisions. Each Restricted Person agrees to restrict such Restricted Person’s actions as provided for in Sections 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5. Each Restricted Person
further acknowledges that the scope and duration of the restrictions set forth in Sections 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 are reasonable in light of the specific nature and
duration of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the payments made under this Agreement to Seller, of which the Stockholders are the sole
stockholders. In consideration thereof, and in light of each such Stockholder’s education, skills and abilities, each Stockholder agrees not to assert in any forum
that the provisions of Sections 10.3, 10.4 and 10.5 applicable to such Stockholder prevent such Stockholder from earning a living or otherwise are void or
unenforceable or should be held void or unenforceable.

10.2 Business Proprietary Information, Confidential Records, Intellectual Property Rights.

(a) Confidentiality Agreement. The terms of the Confidentiality Agreement shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with its terms until
the Closing, at which time Buyer’s confidentiality obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate to the extent they relate to the Acquired Assets
and the Business that is the subject of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents.

(b) Confidential Information. Each Restricted Person covenants that neither such Restricted Person nor any of its Affiliates shall at any time after the
Closing, directly or indirectly, use for such Restricted Person’s or any of its Affiliates’ own purpose or for the benefit of any Person or disclose, any Business
Proprietary Information to any Person, unless such use or disclosure has been authorized in writing by Buyer.

(c) Confidentiality and Surrender of Records. Each Restricted Person covenants that neither such Restricted Person nor any of such Restricted
Person’s Affiliates shall at any time directly or indirectly publish, make known or in any fashion disclose any Confidential Records to, or permit any inspection or
copying of Confidential Records by, any Person other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates, nor shall any of them retain the same, and each of them will deliver
promptly to Buyer any of the same upon the Closing, except that this Section 10.2(c) shall not prohibit the retention of a copy of such Confidential Records by
any Restricted Person, at such Restricted Person’s own cost and expense, as is reasonably necessary for such Restricted Person’s and his, her or its Affiliates’
financial reporting and accounting matters, including the preparation of Tax Returns and other reports or filings or enforcement of its rights. For purposes hereof,
“Confidential Records” means all correspondence, memoranda, files, manuals, books, lists, financial, operating or marketing records, magnetic tape, or electronic
or other media or equipment of any kind which may be in the possession of any Restricted Person or any of such Restricted Person’s Affiliates or under any of
their control or accessible to any of them which contain or relate to any Business Proprietary Information, the Acquired Assets or the Assumed Liabilities, and
which relate to the Business or belong to Seller or a Stockholder. All Confidential Records shall be and remain the sole property of Buyer from and after the
Closing.
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(d) Certain Permitted Disclosures and Uses. None of Section 10.2(a), 10.2(b) or 10.2(c) above shall prevent any disclosure required by Law or by
order of a Governmental Entity; provided, that prior to any such disclosure, the Restricted Person proposing to make such disclosure shall give Buyer prompt
written notice of any such requirement and shall cooperate with Buyer in preventing such disclosure and/or in obtaining a protective order or other means of
protecting the confidentiality of all Business Proprietary Information and Confidential Records.

10.3 Non-Competition.

(a) Restriction. Except on behalf of Buyer as approved by Buyer in writing, during the Restricted Period, no Restricted Person shall, for himself,
itself or any other Person, directly or indirectly own, manage, operate, join, control, participate in, invest in, fund, advise or otherwise be connected or associated
with, in any manner (including as an Affiliate, stockholder, partner, member, principal, manager, employee, independent contractor, agent, representative, advisor,
proprietor, trustee, owner or investor), any Competing Business located, operating or doing business in the Territory.

The restriction set forth in this Section 10.3(a) shall not prevent a Restricted Person from purchasing or otherwise acquiring less than one percent
(1%) of any class of the securities of any Competing Business (but may not otherwise participate in the activities of such Competing Business) if such securities
are listed on any national or regional securities exchange or have been registered under Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(b) Restricted Period. For purposes hereof, “Restricted Period” means the period beginning on the Closing Date and continuing for a period of five
(5) years thereafter; provided, however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Restricted Persons are not otherwise in breach of any material obligations under
this Agreement beyond any applicable cure period, the Restricted Period shall immediately terminate if Buyer fails to pay any amounts due under Sections 3.2(c)
and 3.2(d) of this Agreement within ten (10) days after written notice of nonpayment from Seller to Buyer.

(c) Competing Business. For purposes hereof, “Competing Business” means any business or venture which is engaged in the Business or which
competes, directly or indirectly, with the Business.

(d) Territory. For purposes hereof, “Territory” means the United States and any other jurisdiction in which the Business has been conducted by
Seller.

10.4 Non-Solicitation, etc. Except on behalf of Buyer as approved by Buyer, for a period ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Closing Date, no
Restricted Person shall, for himself, herself, itself or any other Person, directly or indirectly:

(a) contact, solicit or do business with (i) any Customer or prospective Customer within the immediately two (2) years prior to the Closing,
(ii) Buyer’s and its Affiliates’ customers and (iii) each such customer’s respective Affiliates (each of the foregoing, a “Restricted Customer”), in each case
relating to any Competing Business;
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(b) persuade or seek to persuade any Restricted Customer or any purchaser of services from Seller, Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates to cease to do
business or to reduce the amount of business which it has customarily done with Seller, Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates, as applicable, or contemplates doing
with Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates, whether or not the relationship between Seller, Buyer or any of Buyer’s Affiliates and such Restricted Customer was
originally established in whole or in part through the efforts of Seller;

(c) take any action which is intended, or could reasonably be expected, to harm, disparage, defame, slander, or lead to unwanted or unfavorable
publicity to Buyer or any of its Affiliates, or otherwise take any action which might detrimentally affect the reputation, image, relationships or public view of
Buyer or any of its Affiliates; or

(d) attempt to do or do any of the foregoing, or assist, permit, entice, induce, encourage or allow any of such Restricted Person’s Affiliates, members,
stockholders, or personnel or any other Person to do or attempt to do any activity which, were it done by Seller, would violate any provision of this Section 10.4.

10.5 No Hiring of Transferred Personnel. For a period ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Closing Date, no Restricted Person shall, for himself,
herself, itself or any other Person, and each Restricted Person shall cause his, her or its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, recruit, solicit, or hire any
Transferred Personnel, nor shall such Restricted Person or his, her or its Affiliates encourage any Transferred Personnel to terminate his or her employment or
relationship with Buyer or its Affiliates; provided that this Section 10.5 shall not prohibit such Restricted Person from recruiting, soliciting or hiring any
Transferred Personnel after such Transferred Personnel has been terminated by Buyer or its Affiliates (other than in connection with a transfer of such Transferred
Personnel to Buyer or one of its Affiliates), if such Restricted Person or his, her or its Affiliates did not directly or indirectly have any communications prior to
such termination regarding the prospect of employment after the Closing with a Restricted Person or his, her or its Affiliates with such Transferred Personnel. For
the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of this Section 10.5, “Transferred Personnel” shall include all Persons listed in the Reviewer Database.

10.6 Independence Rules and Regulations. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement or any Transaction Document to the contrary, if performance
of or compliance with any agreement or covenant of Buyer under this Agreement or any Transaction Document is determined in good faith by Buyer or its
Affiliates to be inconsistent with or in violation of Buyer’s or any such Affiliate’s obligations pursuant to the rules and regulations of any Governmental Entity or
professional entity (including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants) that are applicable to Buyer or its Affiliates, then Buyer (upon notice to Seller) shall not be obligated to perform or comply with such
agreement or covenant, and Seller shall not be entitled to receive any benefit in connection with such agreement or covenant. The parties hereto acknowledge and
agree that Buyer shall not incur any liability to Seller as a result of any failure to so perform or comply pursuant to this Section 10.6.
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10.7 Specific Performance. Each Restricted Person acknowledges and agrees that, by virtue of, among other things, the extraordinary value of the Business
Proprietary Information and Confidential Records, his, her or its access to and use of such information and records, and his, her or its unique knowledge of and
contacts relating to the Business, any violation of the undertakings contained in this Article X would cause Buyer immediate, substantial and irreparable injury for
which it has no adequate remedy at Law. Accordingly, in the event of any violation or threatened violation of any undertaking contained in this Article X, without
limiting any other remedy available to Buyer, each Restricted Person agrees and consents to the entry of an injunction or other equitable relief by a court of
competent jurisdiction. Each Restricted Person waives posting by Buyer of any bond or any proof of actual damages otherwise necessary to secure such
injunction or other equitable relief.

ARTICLE XI: TERMINATION

11.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:

(a) by mutual written agreement of Seller and Buyer;

(b) by Seller if Buyer has materially breached its obligations under this Agreement, or by Buyer if Seller or any Stockholder has materially breached
its, his or her obligations under this Agreement, in each case if such breach remains uncured for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof has been
given by the non-breaching party to the breaching party;

(c) by Seller if (i) there shall have been a material breach of any representation or warranty by Buyer set forth in this Agreement or in any
Transaction Document and such breach has not been waived in writing or cured by Buyer within thirty (30) days following receipt of notice of such breach, or
(ii) Seller reasonably determines that there shall have been an event, change, occurrence or circumstance that has had or reasonably would be expected to have a
material adverse effect on the ability of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(d) by Buyer if (i) there shall have been a material breach of any representation or warranty by Seller or any Stockholder set forth in this Agreement
or in any Transaction Document and such breach has not been waived in writing or cured by Seller or such Stockholder within thirty (30) days following receipt
of notice of such breach, or (ii) Buyer reasonably determines that there shall have been an event, change, occurrence or circumstance that has had or reasonably
would be expected to have a material adverse effect on the ability of Seller or any Stockholder to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(e) by either Seller or Buyer if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the date which is ninety (90) days following the date hereof;
provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 11.1(e) shall not be available to either party whose failure to take any action
required hereunder to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement shall have been the cause of, or shall have resulted in, the failure of the Closing to occur prior to
such date. The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 11.1(e) shall give notice of such termination to the other party; or
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(f) by either Buyer or Seller if a Governmental Entity shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action (which order, decree,
ruling or action the parties hereto shall use their best efforts to lift or dissolve), in each case restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the purchase and sale
of the Purchased Assets or attempting to do the same.

11.2 Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated as provided in Section 11.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement shall be abandoned without further action by the parties. In the event this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with
Section 11.1, then each of the parties shall be relieved of their duties and obligations arising under this Agreement after the date of such termination and such
termination shall be without liability to Buyer, Seller or any Stockholder; provided, that nothing in this Agreement shall relieve any party hereto from liability for
breach of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XII: GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.1 Notices. All notices, requests, demands, consents and other communications hereunder among the parties hereto shall be in writing and shall be
deemed given: (i) upon personal delivery; (ii) three (3) days after being mailed by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested; (iii) the
next Business Day after being sent via a nationally recognized overnight courier service; or (iv) upon receipt of electronic or other confirmation of transmission if
sent via facsimile to the parties hereto, their successors in interest or their assignees at the following addresses and facsimile numbers, or at such other addresses
or facsimile numbers as the parties may designate by written notice in accordance with this Section 12.1:

(a) if to Buyer, to:

Huron Consulting Group Inc.
Attention: General Counsel
550 W. Van Buren Street
Chicago, Illinois 60607
Fax: (312) 880-3250

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

McDermott Will & Emery LLP
Attention: Helen R. Friedli, P.C.
227 West Monroe Street
Chicago, IL 60606
Fax: (312) 984-7700

 
43



(b) if to Seller or the Stockholders, to:

Adams Grayson Corporation.
Attn: Paul Jeon
1625 Eye Street, NW, Suite 600
Washington, DC 20006
Fax: (202) 828-1100

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Sack & Harris, P.C.
Attn: Robert A. Harris IV, Esq.
8270 Greensboro Drive, Suite 810
McLean VA 22102
Fax: (703) 883-0108

12.2 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement, the Transaction Documents, and the Confidentiality Agreement, constitutes the
entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among any of the parties, or any of
them, with respect to the subject matter herein and therein. Except for the rights of any Seller Indemnified Parties or Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to
Article IX, no provisions of this Agreement are intended, nor should they be interpreted, to provide or create any third party beneficiary rights or remedies, or any
other rights or remedies, of any kind whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement in any Person, or the legal representatives of such Person, other than the
parties to this Agreement.

12.3 Governing Law.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed, including as to validity, interpretation and effect, by, and construed in accordance with, the internal Laws of
the State of Illinois applicable to agreements made and fully performed within the State of Illinois.

(b) Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the County of
Cook in the State of Illinois, and of the United States of America located in the State of Illinois, for any litigation arising out of or relating to this Agreement and
the transactions contemplated hereby (and agrees not to commence any litigation relating thereto except in such courts). Each of the parties hereto hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any litigation arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated
hereby in the courts of the County of Cook in the State of Illinois, or of the United States of America located in the State of Illinois, and hereby further
irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such litigation brought in any such court has been brought in
an inconvenient forum. The parties agree that a final judgment in any such litigation shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suits on the
judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.
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12.4 Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHTS SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR
COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED UPON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY TRANSACTION
DOCUMENT OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.

12.5 Assignment. Except as expressly provided herein, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests and obligations under this Agreement may be
assigned by Buyer, on the one hand, or Seller or any Stockholder, on the other hand, without the prior written consent of the other party, and any attempt to make
any such assignment without such consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that, without the consent of Seller or any Stockholder, Buyer may (in whole
or in part) transfer, assign or delegate its rights, interests and obligations under this Agreement to any one or more of its Affiliates; provided, further, that, after the
Closing, without the consent of Seller or any Stockholder, Buyer may (in whole or in part) transfer, assign or delegate its rights, interests and obligations under
this Agreement to any Person. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted
assigns. No transfer, assignment or delegation of rights, interests and obligations under this Agreement by Buyer shall operate as a release of Buyer.

12.6 Waiver; Amendment; Remedies Cumulative. No waiver of any term, condition or obligation of this Agreement shall be valid unless in writing and
signed by the waiving party. No failure or delay by any party hereto at any time to require the other parties hereto to perform strictly in accordance with the terms
hereof shall preclude any party hereto from requiring performance by the other parties hereto at any later time. No waiver of any one or several of the terms,
conditions or obligations of this Agreement, and no partial waiver thereof, shall be construed as a waiver of any of the other terms, conditions or obligations of
this Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended, changed or modified in any fashion except by written instrument signed by Buyer, Seller and the
Stockholder Representative, on his own behalf and as representative of the other Stockholders pursuant to Section 12.13. All rights and remedies existing under
this Agreement are cumulative to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies otherwise available.

12.7 Fees and Expenses. All fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution, delivery or performance of this
Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be the responsibility of and paid by the party incurring such
fees, costs or expenses. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 7.13(c), Seller shall bear and pay all U.S. federal, state
and local Taxes that arise out of or as a result of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
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12.8 Public Announcements.

(a) No public announcement or similar publicity with respect to this Agreement, the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby will be issued by any Person, including any party hereto, without the prior written consent of Buyer and Seller; provided, however, that Buyer and
Seller shall each be permitted, upon prior notice to and consultation with the other party, to make such disclosures to the public or Governmental Entities as their
respective counsels shall deem necessary to maintain compliance with, or to prevent violation of, any Laws. Subject to Section 7.2, neither Buyer nor Seller shall
contact the personnel of the other party (other than the personnel of Buyer or Seller working on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) without the
prior consent of the other party.

(b) The Buyer and Seller shall prepare a provisional press release and other publicity materials for use in the event that the process of soliciting the
approval of the Seller’s Customers results in the transactions contemplated hereby becoming publicly known prior to the Closing, or in the event of trade, press or
other media enquiries resulting therefrom. Such materials shall not be used or publicly released without the prior written consent of Buyer and Seller.

12.9 Right of Setoff.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement or any Transaction Document to the contrary, the parties hereto hereby acknowledge and agree
that, in addition to any other right of Buyer or any other Buyer Indemnified Party under this Agreement, under any Transaction Document or otherwise, Buyer
shall be entitled from time to time to setoff against any amounts otherwise required to be paid by Buyer to Seller or its designee pursuant to this Agreement, any
Transaction Document, or otherwise, any amounts owed at such time by Seller or its designee to Buyer or any other Buyer Indemnified Party under this
Agreement or any Transaction Document.

(b) Buyer shall not effect any setoff hereunder unless it shall have given Seller and the Stockholders not less than five (5) Business Days notice that
it intends to effect such setoff, and shall have included in such notice all materially relevant details of the amount claimed by Buyer to be owed to it with respect
to which it claims setoff. Any dispute as to the right of Buyer to such amount shall be resolved pursuant to the provisions of Section 12.3.

(c) In the case of any such setoff by Buyer, Buyer’s obligation to make such payment (or any portion thereof) pursuant to this Agreement shall be
deemed fully satisfied and discharged to the extent of such setoff.

12.10 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, including Article X or any part thereof, or the application of any such provision to any Person or
circumstances shall be determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the remainder of this Agreement, or the
application of such provision to such Person or circumstances other than those to which it is so determined to be invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected
thereby, and each provision hereof shall be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by Law. If any provision of this Agreement, including Article X, or any part
thereof, is held to be invalid or unenforceable because of the scope or duration of or the area covered by such provision, the parties hereto agree that the court
making such determination shall reform the scope, duration and/or area of such provision (and shall substitute appropriate provisions for any
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such invalid or unenforceable provisions) in order to make such provision enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by Law and/or shall delete specific words
and phrases, and such modified provision shall then be enforceable and shall be enforced.

12.11 Representation by Counsel. Each party hereto acknowledges that such party has been advised and represented by counsel in the negotiation,
execution and delivery of this Agreement and accordingly agrees that if an ambiguity exists with respect to any provision of this Agreement, such provision shall
not be construed against any party because such party or such party’s representatives drafted such provision.

12.12 Acquisition Proposals. Prior to the earlier of the Closing Date and the termination or expiration of this Agreement, Seller will not, directly or
indirectly, through any Stockholder, personnel, Affiliate, broker or advisor, or otherwise, (a) seek, solicit, initiate or encourage the submission of inquiries,
proposals or offers from any Person (other than Buyer or its representatives or agents) relating to any acquisition or purchase of the Business or the Acquired
Assets, any other material assets or equity securities of Seller or any tender or exchange offer, merger, reverse merger, consolidation, business combination,
recapitalization, refinancing, spin- off, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction seeking, directly or indirectly, to acquire the Acquired Assets, the Business,
any material assets or Seller’s equity securities (each an “Acquisition Proposal”), (b) enter into, continue or otherwise participate or cooperate in or consider or
pursue, any discussions or negotiations regarding an Acquisition Proposal, (c) furnish to any Person information concerning Seller or the operations of Seller for
any Acquisition Proposal, (d) enter into an agreement, understanding or arrangement with respect to an Acquisition Proposal, or (e) otherwise solicit or cooperate
in any way with, or assist, or participate in, facilitate or encourage any effort or attempt by any Person to make or enter into an Acquisition Proposal. The Seller
shall promptly notify Buyer upon such party or any personnel of Seller receiving or becoming aware of any Acquisition Proposal and shall promptly provide
Buyer with a copy of any such written Acquisition Proposal or a written summary of any such oral Acquisition Proposal.

12.13 Stockholder Representative. By executing this Agreement, each Stockholder hereby agrees that Buyer, Seller and the other Indemnified Parties shall
be entitled (but shall not be required) to deal exclusively with Paul Jeon (the “Stockholder Representative”) as the sole and exclusive representative and agent of
the Stockholders in respect of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents and all matters arising under or pertaining to this Agreement and the Transaction
Documents, including any amendment or waiver of any term or provision hereof or thereof; provided, that if the Stockholder Representative is unavailable for
any reason, any other individual so designated by Seller can act as representative and agent for the Stockholders pursuant to this Section 12.13.

12.14 Facsimile Signature; Counterparts. Facsimile or electronic transmission in portable document format of any signed original document or
retransmission of any signed facsimile or electronic transmission in portable document format will be deemed the same as delivery of an original. This Agreement
may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall constitute but one and the
same agreement.

[Signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party hereto has duly executed this Asset Purchase Agreement as of the date first above written.
 

SELLER:

 ADAMS GRAYSON CORPORATION

 By:  /s/ Paul Jeon
 Name:  
 Title:  

 LEGAL SOURCE, LLC

 By:  Adams Grayson Corporation, its sole member

 By:  /s/ Paul Jeon
 Name:  
 Title:  

 STOCKHOLDERS :

 /s/ Paul Jeon
 Paul Jeon

 /s/ Caleb King
 Caleb King

 /s/ Peter Gronvall
 Peter Gronvall

[Buyer signature page follows]
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BUYER:

 HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

 By:  /s/ James K. Rojas
 Name:  
 Title:  
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Schedule I

Certain Matters of Construction; Definitions

I. Construction of this Agreement and Certain Terms and Phrases.

(a) Unless the context of this Agreement clearly indicates otherwise, (i) words of any gender include each other gender; (ii) words denoting the singular
shall include the plural and vice versa; (iii) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby” and derivate or similar words refer to this entire Agreement and not to any
particular provision of this Agreement; and (iv) the terms “Article,” “Section,” “Schedule” and “Exhibit” without any reference to a specified document refer to
the specified Article, Section, Schedule and Exhibit, respectively, of this Agreement.

(b) The words “including,” “include” and “includes” are not exclusive and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”.

(c) The word “or” shall be construed to mean “and/or” unless the context clearly prohibits that construction.

(d) Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days, such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days are specified.

(e) All accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP.

(f) Any reference to any federal, state, local or foreign statute or law, including any one or more sections thereof, shall be deemed also to refer to, unless the
context requires otherwise, all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including Treasury Regulations.

(g) The headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this
Agreement.

II. Certain Defined Terms.

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Accounts Receivable” means all billed and unbilled accounts receivable of the Business, including all trade accounts receivable, notes receivable from
Customers, vendor credits and rebates, and all other obligations or rights to receive payment from vendors or Customers arising from or relating to the Purchased
Contracts.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, any other Person which controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such specified Person.
For such purposes, the term “control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, each Stockholder shall be deemed to be an
Affiliate of Seller for all purposes hereunder.



“Agreement” means this Asset Purchase Agreement, together with all Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto, as the same may be amended, supplemented or
modified from time to time.

“Assignment and Assumption Agreement” means the Assignment and Assumption Agreement to be executed by Buyer and Seller at the Closing, substantially in
the form of Exhibit B attached hereto.

“Bank Debt” means that certain line of credit from Bank of Georgetown to Seller having an outstanding balance of approximately One Million Two Hundred
Thirty-three Thousand Eight Nine and 87/100 Dollars ($1,233,089.87) (including all obligations in respect of principal, accrued interest, prepayment fees,
breakage fees and any unpaid fees, expenses or other monetary obligations in respect thereof) as of the date of this Agreement.

“Bills of Sale” means the Bill of Sale to be executed by Buyer and Seller at the Closing, substantially in the form of Exhibit C-1 attached hereto and the
Intellectual Property Bill of Sale to be executed by Buyer and Seller at the Closing, substantially in the form of Exhibit C-2 attached hereto.

“Business Day” means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banks in

Chicago, Illinois are required or permitted by Law to close.

“Business Proprietary Information” means confidential or proprietary information of the Business which is either marked as such or given the nature of the
information or circumstances surrounding its disclosure, ought reasonably to be understood to be confidential or proprietary information and shall include: (a) the
name and address of any Customer or vendor of the Business and any information concerning the transactions or relations of any Customer or vendor of the
Business with Seller or any of its Affiliates or personnel; (b) any Intellectual Property, or any information concerning any Intellectual Property employed by
Seller but not generally known to its Customers, vendors or competitors, or under development by or being tested by Seller but not at the time offered generally to
Customers or vendors; (c) any information relating to Software or computer systems used by Seller or Seller’s pricing or marketing methods, margins, capital
structure, operating results, or borrowing arrangements; (d) any information which is generally regarded as confidential or proprietary in any line of business
engaged in by Seller; (e) any business plans, budgets, advertising or marketing plans relating to Seller or the Business; (f) any information contained in any
written or oral policies and procedures or employee manuals of Seller; (g) any information belonging to Customers or vendors of the Business or any other Person
which Seller has agreed to hold in confidence in connection with the Business; (h) the name and address of any employee, whether full time or temporary, who
provides e-discovery or similar services or project management or supervisory services on behalf of Seller; and (i) all written, graphic and other material relating
to any of the foregoing. Information that is not novel or copyrighted or patented may nonetheless be Business Proprietary Information.

“COBRA” means Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.



“Confidentiality Agreement” means the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2012, between Huron Consulting and Seller.

“Copyrights” means all domestic and foreign copyright interests in any original work of authorship, whether registered or unregistered, including all copyright
registrations or foreign equivalent, all applications for registration or foreign equivalent, all moral rights, all common- law rights, and all rights to register and
obtain renewals and extensions of copyright registrations, together with all other copyright interests accruing by reason of international copyright convention.

“Customers” means all Persons who have received services in the operation of the Business or to whom proposals have been made for the provision of services in
the operation of the Business, including, without limitation, the Persons set forth on Schedule 13(a).

“Domain Names” means all domain name registrations.

“Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements” means, to the extent enacted and in effect on or prior to the Closing Date, all federal, state, local and non-U.S.
statutes, regulations, ordinances and similar provisions having the force or effect of law, all judicial and administrative orders and determinations, and all common
law concerning public health and safety, worker health and safety, pollution, or protection of the environment, including, without limitation, all those relating to
the presence, use, production, generation, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release,
threatened release, control, exposure to, or cleanup of any hazardous materials, substances, wastes, chemical substances, mixtures, pesticides, pollutants,
contaminants, toxic chemicals, petroleum products or byproducts, asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, noise, odor, mold or radiation.

“Financial Statements” means (a) the balance sheets of Seller as of December, 31 2009, 2010 and 2011, and (b) the related income statements, statements of cash
flow and stockholders equity of Seller for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

“GAAP” means United States’ generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied. “Governmental Entity” means any nation or government,
supranational body, state or political

subdivision thereof (including the United States or any other country or federal, state, local or municipal subdivision thereof), and any court or administrative
agency or other regulatory body, instrumentality, authority or other entity or official thereof exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative
functions thereof.

“Intellectual Property” means: (a) all works of authorship, methodologies, models, business processes, Software, Marks, Domain Names, Inventions, Know How,
Trade Secrets and other intellectual property (i) that is owned (wholly, jointly or in part) or licensed (as licensor or licensee) by Seller, (ii) that is or has been used
in any product, service, technology or process currently offered by Seller, (iii) that is used in the Business, or (iv) that is under development by or on behalf of
Seller or the Business; and (b) all rights in the foregoing, including Copyrights, Patents, moral rights and associated goodwill.



“Interim Financial Statements” means (i) the balance sheet of Seller as of March 31, 2012, and (ii) the statements of income, cash flow and stockholders equity of
Seller for the period ending March 31, 2012.

“Inventions” means novel devices, processes, compositions of matter, methods, techniques, observations, discoveries, apparatuses, machines, designs,
expressions, theories and ideas, whether or not patentable.

“Know How” means all scientific, engineering, mechanical, electrical, financial, marketing or practical knowledge or experience useful in the operation of Seller.

“Law” means, with respect to any Person, any U.S. federal, state or local, and any foreign national, state or local, law, statute, common law, ordinance, code,
treaty, rule, regulation, order, ordinance, permit, license, writ, injunction, directive, determination, judgment or decree or other requirement of any Governmental
Entity or arbitrator, in each case, applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject.

“Leases” means (i) that certain Sublease dated August 22, 2006 by and between CRA International, Inc., as sublandlord, and Seller, as subtenant, and (ii) that
certain Office Lease dated 2011 by and between 15  and L Street, LLC, as landlord, and Legalsource, LLC, as tenant, together with all extensions, amendments
and/or modifications thereof and all other documents related thereto.

“Leased Premises” means the premises located at (i) 1625 Eye Street, NW, Washington, DC, (ii) 1100 15  Street, NW, Washington, DC, and (iii) 440 Louisiana
Street, Suite 900, Houston, TX 77002.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset of any Person, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, interest, condition, restriction, security interest, debt, Tax, claim,
option, liability, obligation and/or encumbrance of any kind (whether matured or unmatured, contingent or not) in respect of such asset.

“Marks” means all domestic and foreign trademarks, trade dress, service marks, trade names, business names, icons, logos, slogans, and any other indicia of
source or sponsorship of goods and services, designs and logotypes related to the above, in any and all forms, all trademark registrations and applications for
registration related to such trademarks (including intent to use applications), and all goodwill related to the foregoing.

“Net Working Capital Amount” means (a) the current tangible assets of Seller, including Accounts Receivable and WIP but excluding cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities, less (b) the current liabilities of Seller which are Assumed Liabilities, determined in accordance with GAAP applied on a basis
consistent with Seller’s past practices; provided that no Excluded Assets or Excluded Liabilities should be taken into account in the determination of the Net
Working Capital Amount.

“Net Working Capital Threshold” means Four Million Six Hundred Thousand Dollars ($4,600,000.00).
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“Patents” means all domestic and foreign patents (including certificates of invention and other patent equivalents), provisional applications, patent applications
and patents issuing therefrom as well as any division, continuation or continuation in part, reissue, extension, reexamination, certification, revival or renewal of
any patent, all Inventions and subject matter related to such patents, in any and all forms.

“Permitted Lien” means any carrier’s, warehouseman’s, mechanic’s, materialman’s, repairman’s, landlord’s or similar statutory or inchoate Lien incidental to the
ordinary conduct of business which involves an obligation that is not yet due.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization, governmental
body or authority or any other entity.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means (a) any Tax period ending on or before the Closing Date and (b) with respect to a Tax period that commences before but ends
after the Closing Date, the portion of such period up to and including the Closing Date.

“Prime Rate” means, for any day, the rate of interest per annum (over a year of 360 days) announced by Citibank N.A. (or any successor thereto) from time to
time, as its “base rate” in effect on such date.

“Seller’s knowledge” means to the knowledge of each Stockholder assuming reasonable enquiry.

“Software” means (a) any and all computer or software programs (including all software implementations of models, algorithms and methodologies, and all
source code, object code, firmware, programming development and design tools, applets, compilers and assemblers), (b) machine readable databases and
compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, (c) descriptions, flow charts, models, diagrams or other work product used to design, plan,
organize or develop any of the foregoing, (d) the technology supporting, and all content, including audio/video displays, contained on, Internet site(s) and (e) all
documentation, other works of authorship and media, including user manuals and materials relating to or embodying any of the foregoing or on which any of the
foregoing is recorded.

“Taxes” means any and all taxes, however denominated, imposed by Law, which taxes shall include, but not be limited to, the District of Columbia Ballpark Tax,
all net income, gross income, gross receipts, franchise, excise, occupation, estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, premium, windfall profit, profits,
gains, net worth, paid up capital, capital stock, greenmail, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, stamp, natural resources, environmental, real property, personal
property, custom, duty, transfer, recording, escheat, registration, documentation, leasing, insurance, social security, employment, severance, workers’
compensation, impact, hospital, health, unemployment, disability, payroll, license, service, service use, employee or other withholding, or other tax, of any kind
whatsoever, including any interest, penalties, fees, charges, levies, assessments, duties, tariffs, imposts or additions to Tax that may become payable in respect
thereof, and any liability in respect of such amounts arising as a result of being a member of any affiliated, consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group, as a
successor to another person or by Contract or otherwise.



“Tax Return” means any returns, declarations, reports, statements, elections, estimates, claims for refund, information returns or other documents (including any
related or supporting schedules, statements or information, any amendment to the foregoing, and any sales and use and resale certificates) filed or required to be
filed in connection with the determination, assessment or collection of any Taxes of any party or the administration of any laws, regulations or administrative
requirements relating to any Taxes.

“Trade Secrets” means any formula, design, device or compilation, or other information which is used or held for use by a business, which gives the holder
thereof an advantage or opportunity for advantage over competitors which do not have or use the same, and which is not generally known by the public, including
formulas, algorithms, models, market surveys, market research studies, client lists, information contained on drawings, diagrams and other documents,
methodologies, and information relating to research, development or testing.

“Transaction Documents” means the Seller’s Certificate, the Secretary’s Certificate, the Bills of Sale, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Buyer’s
Certificate, the FIRPTA Affidavit, any Domain Name Assignment Agreement(s), the Trademark Assignment Agreement, and any other agreements, instruments,
certificates or other documents delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement or any other such agreement, instrument, certificate or other document.

“WIP” means all work-in-process arising from or attributable to the Purchased Contracts.

III. Other Definitions. The following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Sections or other provisions of the Agreement indicated below:
 

“Acquired Assets”   Section 2.1
“Acquisition Proposal”   Section 12.12
“Actual Net Working Capital Amount   Section 3.3(b)
“Allocation”   Section 3.4
“Assumed Liabilities”   Section 2.3(a)
“Basket Amount”   Section 9.6(a)
“Business”   Recitals
“Buyer”   Preamble
“Buyer Indemnified Parties”   Section 9.2
“Buyer’s Certificate”   Section 8.3(c)(ii)
“Claim”   Section 9.4(a)
“Closing”   Section 3.1
“Closing Adjustment Amount”   Section 3.2(b)
“Closing Date”   Section 3.1
“Closing Date Payment”   Section 3.2(b)
“Closing Statement”   Section 3.3(a)
“Competing Business”   Section 10.3(b)
“Confidential Records”   Section 10.2(c)



“Contracts”   Section 4.13
“Dispute”   Section 12.3(b)
“Dispute Notice”   Section 3.3(c)
“Domain Name Assignment Agreement”   Section 8.2(c)(vii)
“Employee Benefit Plans”   Section 4.18(a)
“Enforceability Exception”   Section 4.2
“ERISA”   Section 4.18(c)
“Estimated Net Working Capital Amount”   Section 3.3 (a)
“Excluded Assets”   Section 2.2
“Excluded Contract”   Section 2.2(c)
“Excluded Liabilities”   Section 2.3(b)
“FAA”   Section 12.3(b)(ii)
“FIRPTA Affidavit”   Section 8.2(c)(vi)
“Goodwill”   Section 2.1(e)
“Indemnitee”   Section 9.4(a)
“Indemnitor”   Section 9.4(a)
“License”   Section 4.15(a)
“License Agreement”   Section 8.2(c)(ix)
“Loss(es)”   Section 9.2
“Negotiating Period”   Section 3.3(c)
“Neutral Firm”   Section 3.3(d)
“Permits”   Section 4.23
“personnel”   Section 2.3(b)(ii)
“Post-Closing Statement   Section 3.3(b)
“Post-Closing Tax Period”   Section 7.13(b)
“providing party”   Section 7.7
“Purchase Price”   Section 3.2(a)
“Purchased Contracts”   Section 2.1(a)
“qualified plan”   Section 4.18(c)
“Reconciliation Payment”   Section 3.3(e)(i)
“Reimbursable Amount”   Section 7.10(e)
“Related Person”   Section 4.22
“requesting party”   Section 7.7
“Restricted Customer”   Section 10.4(a)
“Restricted Person(s)”   Section 10.1(a)
“Restrictive Covenants”   Section 7.10(a)
“Reviewer Database”   Section 2.1(j)
“Rules”   Section 12.3(b)(ii)
“Secretary’s Certificate”   Section 8.2(c)(ii)
“Seller”   Preamble
“Seller Indemnified Parties”   Section 9.3
“Seller’s Certificate”   Section 8.2(c)(i)
“Special Representations”   Section 9.1
“Stockholder(s)”   Preamble
“Stockholder Representative”   Section 12.13
“Territory”   Section 10.3(c)

 



“Third Party Claim”   Section 9.4(b)
“Trademark Assignment Agreement”   Section 8.2(c)(viii)
“Transfer Taxes”   Section 7.13(c)
“Transferred Personnel”   Section 7.10(a)
“Unauthorized Practice of Law”   Section 4.29
“Working Capital Dispute”   Section 3.3(d)



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James H. Roth, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Huron Consulting Group Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date:  July 30, 2012   By: /s/ James H. Roth

    James H. Roth
    President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, C. Mark Hussey, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Huron Consulting Group Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date:  July 30, 2012   By: /s/ C. Mark Hussey

    C. Mark Hussey
    Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James H. Roth, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for

the periods presented therein.
 
Date:  July 30, 2012   By: /s/ James H. Roth

    James H. Roth
    President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER,
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, C. Mark Hussey, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:
 

 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company for

the periods presented therein.
 
Date:  July 30, 2012   By: /s/ C. Mark Hussey

    C. Mark Hussey
    Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer


